
Christopher Karnes, Chair 
Anthony Steele, Vice-Chair 

Morgan Dorner 
Robb Krehbiel 

Brett Marlo 
Matthew Martenson 

Jordan Rash 
Payton Swinford 

(District No. 4 – vacant) 

 
 
 
City of Tacoma 
Planning Commission 

 

 

 

Planning Commission ❚ 747 Market Street, Room 345 ❚ Tacoma, WA 98402 ❚ www.CityofTacoma.org/PlanningCommissionAgendas 

 The City of Tacoma does not discriminate on the basis of disability in any of its programs, activities, or services. To request this information in an alternative format or to request a reasonable 
accommodation, please contact the Planning and Development Services Department at (253) 905-4146 (voice) or 711 (TTY) before 5:00 p.m., on the Monday preceding the meeting. 

¿Necesitas información en español?   Cần thông tin bằng tiếng Việt?   한국어로 정보가 필요하십니까?   ្រត�វ�រព័ត៌�ន���ែខ�រ? 
Нужна информация на усском?   Потрібна інформація українською мовою?    Contact TacomaFIRST 311 at (253) 591-5000. 

 

AGENDA 
 

MEETING: Regular Meeting (Hybrid) 

DATE/TIME: Wednesday, April 2, 2025, 5:00 p.m. 

LOCATION: Council Chambers, 1st Floor of the Tacoma Municipal Building  
747 Market Street, Tacoma, WA 98402 

ZOOM INFO: Link: https://www.zoom.us/j/84416624153 
Dial-in: +1 253 215 8782 
ID: 844 1662 4153 

A. Call to Order 
• Quorum Call 
• Land Acknowledgement 

B. Approval of Agenda  

C. Approval of Minutes 
• September 4, 2024 
• September 18, 2024 

D. Public Comments  
This is the time set aside for public comment on Discussion Items on this agenda. 
• Written comments on Discussion Items must be submitted to Planning@cityoftacoma.org 

by 12:00 noon prior to the meeting. Comments will be compiled, distributed to  
the Commission, and posted on the Planning Commission's meeting webpage at 
www.cityoftacoma.org/PlanningCommissionAgendas.  

• To comment virtually, join the meeting using Zoom and raise your virtual hand. To comment 
in person, sign in at the back of the Council Chambers. Where necessary, the Chair may limit 
the allotted time for comment. 

E. Disclosure of Contacts and Recusals 

F. Discussion Items  

1. Minor Amendments to the Land Use Regulatory Code – Public Hearing Debrief 
• Description: Review public testimony received through the public hearing process and 

consider modifications to the Minor Code Amendments. 
• Action:  Review and Comment. 
• Contact: Carl Metz (CMetz@cityoftacoma.org) 

1

http://www.cityoftacoma.org/PlanningCommissionAgendas
https://www.zoom.us/j/84416624153
mailto:planning@cityoftacoma.org
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/PlanningCommissionAgendas
mailto:CMetz@cityoftacoma.org


Planning Commission Agenda – Wednesday, April 2, 2025 Page 2 
 

2. South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District  
• Description: Review the Best Available Science (BAS) and public comments received 

during the One Tacoma Workshops. 
• Action:  Informational. 
• Contact: Maryam Moeinian (mmoeinian@cityoftacoma.org) 

3. One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan Update – Amendment Review  
• Description:  Provide direction on potential amendments to the Draft One Tacoma Plan 

as introduced by the Commission in response to public comment.  
• Action:  Review and Comment. 
• Contact:  Stephen Atkinson (SAtkinson@cityoftacoma.org) 

G. Upcoming Meetings (Tentative Agendas)  
(1) Agenda for the April 16, 2025, meeting includes: 

• South Tacoma Neighborhood Plan – Recommendation  
• Tideflats Subarea Plan and EIS – Release for Public Review  
• South Tacoma Groundwater District – Release for Public Review  

(2) Tentative Agenda for the April 23, 2025, special meeting includes: 
• One Tacoma Plan Update – Recommendation  
• Minor Amendments – Recommendation  
• Health Impact Assessment - South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District  

H. Communication Items 
(1) Communications from Staff 

(2) Planning Commission Vacancies – The City Council is currently seeking applicants to fill 
three positions on the Planning Commission: the District No. 4 position, the Environmental 
Community position, and the Architecture, Historic Preservation and/or Urban Design 
position. Applicants seeking a district position must reside in that district, and those seeking 
other positions must also reside within the boundaries of Tacoma. The application period will 
end on April 15, 2025. To apply, please visit http://www.cityoftacoma.org/CBC.  

(3) Status Reports by Commissioners – Picture Pac Ave and the TOD Task Force. 

(4) IPS Agenda – The Infrastructure, Planning, and Sustainability Committee’s next meeting is 
scheduled for Wednesday, April 9, 2025, at 4:30 p.m.; the agenda (tentatively) includes 
interviews for the Climate and Sustainable Commission and presentations on the Climate 
Action Plan. (Held at 747 Market Street, Tacoma, WA 98402, Conference Room 248 or 
virtually at http://www.zoom.us/j/87829056704, passcode 614650) 

I. Adjournment 

2

mailto:mmoeinian@cityoftacoma.org
mailto:SAtkinson@cityoftacoma.org
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/CBC
http://www.zoom.us/j/87829056704


Christopher Karnes, Chair
Anthony Steele, Vice-Chair

Morgan Dorner
Robb Krehbiel

Brett Marlo
Matthew Martenson

Jordan Rash
Payton Swinford

(District No. 4 – vacant)

 
 
 
City of Tacoma 
Planning Commission 

 

 

Planning and Development Services Department   ❚    747 Market Street, Room 345   ❚    Tacoma, WA 98402 
(253) 591-5030   ❚   www.CityofTacoma.org/Planning  

MINUTES (draft) 
 

MEETING: Regular Meeting (hybrid) 

DATE/TIME: Wednesday, September 4, 2024, 5:00 p.m.  

PRESENT: Christopher Karnes (Chair), Anthony Steele (Vice-Chair) (arrived at 5:56 p.m.), Morgan 
Dorner, Robb Krehbiel, Brett Marlo, Payton Swinford 

ABSENT: Matthew Martenson, Jordan Rash 

A. Call to Order 

Chair Karnes called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. A quorum was declared.  

Chair Karnes read the Land Acknowledgement. 

B. Approval of Agenda 

Commissioner Swinford moved to approve the agenda as submitted. Commissioner Dorner seconded the 
motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

C. Approval of Minutes 

Commissioner Swinford moved to approve the January 17, February 21, and March 6, 2024, meeting 
minutes as submitted. Commissioner Dorner seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

D. Public Comments  

Mary Crabtree, Administrative Assistant, reported that one written comment was received regarding the 
Parks and Recreation element of the One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan update. 

No individuals addressed the Planning Commission. 

Public comment closed at 5:04 p.m. 

E. Disclosure of Contacts and Recusals 

There were no disclosures of contacts or recusals. 

F. Discussion Item 

1. Election of Commission Officers 

Commissioner Swinford moved to re-elect Chris Karnes as chair of the Planning Commission through 
August 2025. Commissioner Dorner seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  

Commissioner Swinford moved to re-elect Anthony Steele as vice chair of the Planning Commission 
through August 2025. Commissioner Dorner seconded the motion. The nominations passed unanimously. 

2. Health Impact Assessments (HIAs) 

Erin Dilworth, Tacoma-Pierce County Health Department, presented an overview on health impact 
assessments (HIAs), including why they are conducted, phases, screening, scoping, the assessment, 

3



Planning Commission Minutes – Wednesday, September 4, 2024  Page 2 

recommendations, reporting, monitoring and evaluation, current status of HIAs, current scoping efforts, and 
next steps with the Tideflats and South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District (STGPD) HIAs. 

Discussion ensued regarding how HIAs connect with the SEPA review process, guidelines to identify an 
HIA requirement, the capacity of how many HIAs can be done in a year, health disparities, the scoping 
surveys, and the Home In Tacoma HIA. 

3. One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan Update – Parks and Recreation 

Alyssa Torrez, Senior Planner, presented an overview of the One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan update, 
including the timeline, schedule for Commisison presentations, the policy framework of the Parks and 
Recreation element, and anticipated changes in this update.  

Vice-Chair Steele arrived here at 5:56 p.m. 

Discussion ensued regarding integrating service levels with Home In Tacoma policies, park activation, 
artwork, the map around Blueberry Park, park photos, community gardens, partnerships, unique 
ecosystems, South Puget Sound prairies and oaks savannahs, the tree canopy, water features, asset 
mapping, the 15-minute neighborhood concept, distribution of assets/amenities at parks, and access for 
commerce/vendors. 

Alisa O’Hanlon Regala, Metro Parks Tacoma (MPT), presented an overview of the MPT’s System and 
Strategic Plan 2024-2030, including how it connects with other agencies’ plans, the process, heat mapping, 
and key insights and strategic actions for each of the strategic directions. 

Discussion ensued regarding making parks affordable venues for events, partnerships with libraries, more 
protected greenways for walking and biking, conversions of underused or vacant parking lots, salmon 
recovery, spraygrounds, aligning visions of MPT’s strategic plan into the One Tacoma Compehensive Plan, 
regulatory barriers, and other partnerships. 

H. Upcoming Meetings (Tentative Agendas)  

 Agenda for the September 18, 2024, meeting: 

 Planning Commission Annual Report and Work Program 

 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Review - Urban Form, Housing, and Public Facilities and 
Services 

 Agenda for the October 2, 2024, meeting: 

 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Review – Historic Preservation 

 Agenda for the October 16, 2024, meeting: 

 Planning Commission Annual Report and Work Program 

 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Review 

I. Communication Items 

The Commission acknowledged receipt of communication items on the agenda. 

Torrez noted the City Council’s public hearing on Home in Tacoma will be coming soon, along with two 
informational sessions.  

Commissioner Krehbiel noted interest in starting a task force on the STGPD. 

J. Adjournment 

The meeting was adjourned at 7:24 p.m. 

*These minutes are not a direct transcription of the meeting, but rather a brief capture. For full-length audio recording 
of the meeting, please visit: 
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/government/committees_boards_commissions/planning_commission/agendas_and_minutes/ 

4



Christopher Karnes, Chair
Anthony Steele, Vice-Chair

Morgan Dorner
Robb Krehbiel

Brett Marlo
Matthew Martenson

Jordan Rash
Payton Swinford

(District No. 4 – vacant)

 
 
 
City of Tacoma 
Planning Commission 

 

 

Planning and Development Services Department   ❚    747 Market Street, Room 345   ❚    Tacoma, WA 98402 
(253) 591-5030   ❚   www.CityofTacoma.org/Planning  

MINUTES (draft) 
 

MEETING: Regular Meeting (hybrid) 

DATE/TIME: Wednesday, September 18, 2024, 5:00 p.m.  

PRESENT: Christopher Karnes (Chair), Anthony Steele (Vice-Chair) (arrived at 5:56 p.m.), Morgan 
Dorner, Robb Krehbiel, Brett Marlo, Jordan Rash, Payton Swinford 

ABSENT: Matthew Martenson 

A. Call to Order 

Chair Karnes called the meeting to order at 5:14 p.m. A quorum was declared.  

Chair Karnes read the Land Acknowledgement. 

B. Approval of Agenda 

Vice-Chair Steele moved to approve the agenda as submitted. Commissioner Dorner seconded the motion. 
The motion passed unanimously. 

C. Approval of Minutes 

Commissioner Dorner moved to approve the March 20, 2024, meeting minutes. Vice-Chair Steele 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

D. Public Comments  

Mary Crabtree, Administrative Assistant, reported that no written comment was received. 

No individuals addressed the Planning Commission. 

Public comment closed at 5:17 p.m. 

E. Disclosure of Contacts and Recusals 

There were no disclosures of contacts or recusals. 

F. Discussion Item 

1. One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan Update – Public Facilities and Services 

Wesley Rhodes, Senior Planner, presented an overview of the Public Facilities and Services element of 
the One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan update, including the project timeline, the vision, planning context, 
policy audit principles, fulfilling GMA requirements, concurrency with the Tacoma Municipal Code, new 
policies for VISION 2050, services and service providers, priority outcomes and key updates for this 
element, and level of service (LOS) and capital needs. 

Discussion ensued regarding which services are subject to concurrency, revenue constraints and LOS 
standards, the map of public facilities, services provided by libraries and the library network, impact fees, 
prioritization criteria, a geographical component of the LOS, and green infrastructure investments.  

5



Planning Commission Minutes – Wednesday, September 18, 2024  Page 2 

H. Upcoming Meetings (Tentative Agendas)  

 Agenda for the October 2, 2024, meeting: 

 Planning Commission Annual Report and Work Program 

 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Review - Urban Form, Housing 

 Agenda for the October 16, 2024, meeting: 

 Planning Commission Annual Report and Work Program 

 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Review – Historic Preservation 

 Agenda for the November 6, 2024, meeting: 

 Comprehensive Plan Periodic Review – Transportation, Design and Development 

I. Communication Items 

The Commission acknowledged receipt of communication items on the agenda. 

Stephen Atkinson, Principal Planner, noted there are several projects happening and provided updates 
regarding the draft Tideflats Subarea Plan, the STGPD, and Picture Pac Ave. 

J. Adjournment 

The meeting was adjourned at 6:18 p.m. 

*These minutes are not a direct transcription of the meeting, but rather a brief capture. For full-length audio recording 
of the meeting, please visit: 
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/government/committees_boards_commissions/planning_commission/agendas_and_minutes/ 

6



Agenda Item 
F1 

 
 
 
City of Tacoma 
Planning and Development Services 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

To:  Planning Commission 
From: Carl Metz, Long Range Planning  
Subject: 2025 Annual Amendment Package – Public Hearing Debrief 
Memo Date: March 25, 2025 
Meeting Date: April 2, 2025 

Action Requested: 
Provide direction to staff. 

Project Summary: 
In accordance with TMC 13.05.030.D, The Planning Commission may recommend to the 
City Council amendments to the land use regulations in order to implement the goals and 
policies of the Comprehensive Plan. Procedures for amendments or supplements to the 
land use regulations shall be the same as those specified for development regulations in 
subsection 13.05.030.B. 

The proposed amendments are considered to be “minor” in that they do not suggest 
substantive or policy-level changes to the Plan or the Code. They are intended to correct 
minor errors, address inconsistencies, keep information current, and clarify and improve 
provisions that, through implementation of the Plan and the Code, are found to be unclear 
or not fully meeting their intent. 

Discussion: 
The Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on March 5, 2025, to receive oral 
testimony, and kept the hearing record open through March 7, 2025, to accept additional 
written comments, concerning the 2025 Annual Amendment to the One Tacoma 
Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulatory Code (or “2025 Amendment”), which only 
includes a set of Minor Code Amendments. These minor amendments consist of the 
following items:  

(1) Add definition of “development site.” 
(2) Repeal of Residential Infill Pilot Program.  
(3) Conditional Use Permit uses and height Code reference correction.  
(4) Land use permit code enforcement – Replace existing Title 13 enforcement 

provisions with the city’s Uniform Enforcement Code for greater consistency 
citywide. 

(5) Pedestrian Street amendments to reflect changes made with Home in Tacoma 
phase I related to the locations of Mid-Scale Residential land use designations 
and other corrections and clarifications.  

7

https://www.cityoftacoma.org/government/city_departments/planning_and_development_services/planning_services/one_tacoma__comprehensive_plan
https://www.cityoftacoma.org/government/city_departments/planning_and_development_services/planning_services/one_tacoma__comprehensive_plan
https://www.cityoftacoma.org/cms/one.aspx?portalId=169&pageId=2255
https://www.cityoftacoma.org/2023Amendment


Planning Commission 
2025 Minor Amendments – Public Hearing Debrief 
April 2, 2025 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 

 

(6) Add split zoning applicability to development sites consisting of more than one 
parcel of land.  

(7) Tacoma Mall residential use prohibition clarification.  
(8) Mixed-Use Center districts residential use maximum building setback correction. 
(9) Add retail marijuana limit exemption to be consistent with State law.  
(10) Shoreline sign regulation clarification. 
(11) Mass reduction building design standards clarification within Mixed-Use Center 

and Downtown zoning districts. 
(12) Add Commercial districts maximum setbacks exception for conflicts with public 

easements. 
At the next meeting on March 19, 2025, the Commission will review comments received 
from the Planning Commission and the public and consider modifications, specifically to 
items 5, 6, and 9 listed above.  

Home in Tacoma Minor Amendments 
Separately, staff have become aware of a number of corrections and adjustment that 
should be  made to items included in the recently adopted Home in Tacoma code 
amendments (Ordinance No. 28986). Most of these are in response to comments from the 
Washington Dept. of Commerce’s review of the Home in Tacoma code amendments. 
Unfortunately, these were not identified before the Planning Commission’s public release 
of the Minor Amendment package but can still be considered for inclusion. Like the 
amendments outlined above, these are also minor in nature, correcting errors and 
inconstancies and do not reflect policy-level changes. This set of amendments consist of 
the following items and are discussed in greater detail in Attachment 2. 

(1) Correct “Day care center” allowances in the Residential zoning use table 
(2) Address inconsistency between garage setbacks on alleys and parking stall 

sizes 
(3) Modify ADU standards 
(4) Clarification regarding density allowed in the JBLM Airport Compatibility Overlay 

District (ACD) 
(5) Expand Use Limitations in the Port of Tacoma Transition Overlay District to 

Reflect Home in Tacoma 
(6) Adjust the “Major Transit Stop” definition  
(7) Clarify definition for Middle Housing 
(8) Clarify density allowance for pre-existing lots 
(9) Adjust housing type design standards 
(10) Adjust the “Backyard Building” Definition 
(11) Adjust the Backyard Building Access Requirements  
(12) Adjust Backyard Building Setback Requirements 

To facilitate the Commission’s review and discussion, staff has included the following 
materials in the agenda packet: 

• Staff responses to questions from Planning Commission and public 
• Compilation of written comments 

8

https://cityoftacoma.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6904104&GUID=55D701C1-B2F5-4FE0-968C-5AF306484C5F&Options=ID|Text|&Search=28986


Planning Commission 
2025 Minor Amendments – Public Hearing Debrief 
April 2, 2025 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 

 

• Home in Tacoma-related minor amendments 

Staff is seeking comments and direction from the Commission, which will be used to 
prepare draft documents of “Planning Commission’s Letter of Recommendations” and 
“Planning Commission’s Findings of Fact and Recommendations Report” for the 
Commission’s consideration for approval at the meeting on April 23, 2025. 

Next Steps: 
Tentatively, next steps for the 2025 Annual Amendment include the following dates and 
actions: 

• April 2 – Commission debrief & direction 
• April 23 – Commission recommendations to the City Council  
• May 6 – City Council resolution to set the public hearing 
• June 3 – Council conduct a public hearing 
• June 10 – Council debrief and propose amendments 
• June 17 – Council first reading 
• June 24 – Final reading 

Prior Actions: 
• February 5, 2025 – Staff introduced 13 potential minor amendments to the Planning 

Commission. At this meeting, the Commission released 12 of the amendments for 
public review and scheduled a public hearing for March 5, 2025.  

• March 5, 2025 – The Planning Commission conducted a public hearing to receive 
oral and written public comments. Written comments were accepted until 3/07/2025. 

Staff Contacts:  
• Carl Metz, cmetz@cityoftacoma.org 

Attachments:  
• Attachment 1 – Staff Responses to Questions from Planning Commission and Public 

o Exhibit A – Compilation of Written Comments 
• Attachment 2 – Home in Tacoma-related Minor Amendments 

c. Peter Huffman, Director 

9

mailto:cmetz@cityoftacoma.org


10



 

 
2025 ANNUAL AMENDMENT 

TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND LAND USE REGULATORY CODE 

Attachment 1: 2025 Minor Amendments – Response to Questions Page 1 of 7  

 

Staff Response to Question from Planning Commission and Public 

April 2, 2025 

 

At the February 5, 2025, and March 5, 2025, meetings, the Planning Commission raised questions pertaining to a few of 
the minor Code amendment items. Staff also received a question/comment from the public (Exhibit A). The 
amendments in question pertain to the removal of the Pedestrian Street designation along N 26th St (amendment no. 5), 
revisions to split zoning provisions (amendment no. 6), and raising retail marijuana limits (amendment no. 9). These 
questions, along with potential revision options, are discussed below. 

 

(5) Pedestrian Streets  
These amendments would update Pedestrian Street tables to reflect changes made with Home in Tacoma 
phase I related to the locations of Mid-Scale Residential land use designations (see the Pedestrian 
Street/Corridors Map and Future Land Use Map (FLUM) images below) and make other corrections and 
clarifications. Questions regarding two of the Pedestrian Street amendments were raised. 

Proctor MUC: N 21st St / N 26th St / N Proctor St /N Union Ave 

This amendment would do two things: 

 Remove the Pedestrian Street designation of N Union Ave. between N 21st St and N 26th St and N 26th 
St between N Union Ave and N Washington St (the eastern boundary of the Proctor MUC)  

 Add the Pedestrian Street designation of N 21st St between N Union Ave and N Proctor St and N 
Proctor St between N 21st St and N 24th St (the southern boundary of the Proctor MUC).  

 

 
  

11



 

Attachment 1: 2025 Minor Amendments – Response to Questions Page 2 of 7 

Questions from the Public: 
 

 “Will the N Union (UR2) “corridor-main street - pedestrian” current map be changed…to reflect 
moving the “pedestrian” designation over to N 21st St to N Proctor which are now UR3 zoned? 

Staff Response: While a revised map has not been created to reflect the proposed changed, staff expect a 
new map to be created to reflect any adopted changes to the Pedestrian Street designation table. 

 

N 26th St 

This amendment would remove the segment of N 26th St between the Proctor and Westgate Mixed-Use 
Centers from the Pedestrian Streets table (13.06.010.D.1). This change is responsive to the City’s decision to 
designate the lands that previously had a FLUM designation of Single Family Residential along this segment as 
Low-Scale Residential instead of Mid-Scale Residential, which was inconsistent with how these designations 
were generally made elsewhere along Pedestrian Streets.  

 
 
Questions from the Commission: 
 

 What impact does the Pedestrian Street designation have on right-of-way improvements and 
private development? 

 
Staff Response: Per the current right-of-way design manual, a Pedestrian Street designation requires wider 
sidewalks within Mixed-Use Centers and Downtown. However, this is not the case outside of mapped Centers 
and the sidewalk width is determined by the street’s functional classification as either a “residential” or 
“arterial” street. This segment of N 26th St is an Arterial Collector. Planning staff have consulted with Public 
Works staff and it appears no other right-of-way improvement standards are determined by a Pedestrian 
Street designation. 
 
While a Pedestrian Street designation has limited to no impact on public improvements outside of Centers, it 
can have a significant influence on building design - requiring enhanced pedestrian orientation features and 
building massing and articulation. However, similar to sidewalk requirements, these types of requirements 
only apply within mapped Centers (Mixed-Use Center and Downtown zoning) and Commercial zoning districts 
and do not apply within Urban Residential (UR) zones.  
 

12



 

Attachment 1: 2025 Minor Amendments – Response to Questions Page 3 of 7 

One other way the Pedestrian Street designation affects development is by allowing certain non-residential 
uses within mixed-use residential development in the UR-3 zone (13.06.080.U). These non-residential uses 
include craft production, eating and drinking establishments, office, and retail subject to specific limitations. 
 
While the vast majority of zoning adjacent to this street segment is zoned UR-2, it is worth noting there is a 
cluster of C-1 and UR-3 at the intersection of N 26th St and N Stevens St (see below). 
 

 
Current Zoning at N 26th St and N Stevens St 
 
 
Questions from the Commission: 
 

 Clarification of other designations for this segment of N 26th St and how they might inform future 
right-of-way improvements and investments. 

 
Questions from the Public: 
 

 Will the N 26th St Pedestrian Street designation change even though the 16 bus route still runs along 
this segment? 

 
Staff Response: Both of these questions seek clarity to the relationship of the Pedestrian Street designation 
and other existing or envisioned facilities for pedestrians, bicycles, and transit. Generally, these types of 
improvements are determined by the street’s functional classification and any adopted plans related to mode-
specific facilities. As previously mentioned, this segment of N 26th St is classified as an Arterial Collector. It also 
contains the Route 16 bus service.  
 
Further, the draft One Tacoma: Comprehensive Plan update’s Transportation and Mobility Plan (TMP) element 
establishes the city’s vision for future pedestrian, bicycle, and transit networks. How these plans envision this 
segment of N 26th St and how they might guide infrastructure improvements, including mode-specific facilities, 
is outlined below.  
 
High Risk Network 
“High Risk Network corridors and intersections identified in the Vision Zero Action Plan are critical to defining 
TMP needs and prioritizing projects. Tacoma’s Equity Index and High Risk Network mapped together are key 
indicators of where we can invest to build a safe and equitable transportation system.” 

13



 

Attachment 1: 2025 Minor Amendments – Response to Questions Page 4 of 7 

 

 
 
Arterial Pedestrian Network 
Two relevant strategies include: 

1. Build out a safe, connected, equitable, and comfortable pedestrian network—including sidewalks, 
street crossings, and shared-use paths—for all ages and abilities which allows people to meet their 
daily needs by walking and rolling to schools, parks, jobs, businesses, mixed use centers, health care, 
and community destinations. 

2. Prioritize Tacoma’s pedestrian investments based on safety, equity, and connectivity to address 
disparities in safety and access and maximize the impact of City investments. Use a data-driven Vision 
Zero Safe Systems Approach to proactively address the greatest barriers to pedestrian safety and 
accessibility. 

 

 
 
Bicycle Network Vision 
The associated map reflects the existing bike lane. 

14



 

Attachment 1: 2025 Minor Amendments – Response to Questions Page 5 of 7 

 
 
Frequent Transit Network Vision 
The Frequent Transit Network Visions designates this segment of street as having a 15-minute transit 
frequency, which is more frequent than current service levels. However, the draft Plan addresses this as 
follows: 

“The Frequent Transit Network (FTN) is an aspirational vision for a network of high-quality transit 
providing freedom for people moving around the city to travel easily and when needed. “Transit” refers 
to bus transit and light rail transit. Meeting this vision requires substantially more operating resources 
than are available today, yet the FTN can guide City partnerships with Pierce Transit and Sound Transit.” 

 

 
 
This potential amendment would not change this street’s functional classification or bus service and the TMP 
would serve as the primary basis in guiding necessary public infrastructure and investment. 
 

(6) Split zoning  
This amendment would expand the applicability of split zoning provisions for development sites consisting of 
more than one parcel of land so long as more than 50 percent of the development site is located within the 
least restrictive zone. 
 
Questions from the Commission: 
 

 Some general concern was expressed regarding the potential of the proposed amendment to have 
unintended consequences, particularly allowing the expansion of high-intensity use zones adjacent 

15



 

Attachment 1: 2025 Minor Amendments – Response to Questions Page 6 of 7 

to low-intensity use zones (i.e. industrial zones adjacent to residential zones) through property 
acquisition.  

 
Staff Response: Staff identified a few revisions might alleviate some of these concerns or at least minimize the 
risk or mitigate potential impacts.  

 Increase the amount of the development site that must be located within the least restrictive zone 
from more than 50% to a higher amount, such as 90%. 

 
Example development site with 90% - 10% split zoning 

 Require at least some portion of each parcel to be located within the least restrictive zone. 
 Prohibit this provision from applying to Industrial zones. 

 
Example split zoning site with Industrial zoning 

 Require all parcels be contiguous and not separated by alleys and streets. 
 

(9) Retail marijuana limits  
This amendment expands the maximum number of retail marijuana stores to be consistent with the State’s 
Cannabis Social Equity program. 
 
Questions from the Commission: 

16



 

Attachment 1: 2025 Minor Amendments – Response to Questions Page 7 of 7 

 Questions were raised pertaining to how this program considers current retail business license 
holders as it relates to the Social Equity program qualifications and how local location requirements 
apply to Social Equity program licensees.  

 
Staff Response: While staff proposed this amendment with the understanding that it was necessary to comply 
with the State Cannabis Social Equity program, staff has since learned that there actually is not a compliance 
mandate for cities and counties with this program.  
 
In response to Planning Commission questions, additional background on the Cannabis Social Equity program 
is provided here. Prior to a 2023 law that added 52 new retail licenses statewide for the Cannabis Social Equity 
program, the statewide retail license capacity was 471 and Tacoma was allocated a proportional number of 16 
retail licenses based on population. These new Social Equity licenses are reviewed and distributed at the state-
level, where the recipients must then find a suitable location subject to the local regulations, including license 
limitations. Staff have confirmed with Liquor and Cannabis Board staff that there is no requirement for cities 
or counties to increase their maximum retail limitations to accommodate this statewide license expansion. It is 
also worth noting the Tacoma currently has 15 licensed retailers, leaving one available citywide.  

 

17



1

Metz, Carl

Subject: FW: Comprehensive Plan 2025  - question on Minor Amendments

From: Jodi Cook <jodicook.nenc@gmail.com>  
Sent: Monday, March 3, 2025 4:30 PM 
To: Atkinson, Stephen <satkinson@cityoftacoma.org> 
Subject: Comprehensive Plan 2025 - question on Minor Amendments 
 
Hello Steve, 
 
Good to see you last Saturday at Wheelock. 
 
I just listened to the Feb 5th Planning Commission meeting and have a few questions. 
 
Specifically regarding the Minor Amendments, two slides attached. 
 
From a NENC perspective regarding proposed changes within our boundaries as a neighborhood 
council.    
 
Will the N Union (UR2) “corridor-main street - pedestrian” current map be changed and shown at the  
March 5th meeting, to reflect moving the “pedestrian” designation over to N 21st St to N Proctor which 
are now UR3 zoned?     
 
Regarding N 26th from N Proctor to N Pearl, even though it is not UR3 the pedestrian designation  
will remain a “pedestrian” as it’s apart of the Rt 16 bus transit?  Or what? 
 
Best,  
Jodi Cook 
NENC 

18



2

19



3

 
 

20



 

 
2025 ANNUAL AMENDMENT 

TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND LAND USE REGULATORY CODE 

Attachment 2: 2025 Minor Amendments – HIT-related Minor Amendments Page 1 of 8  

 
Home in Tacoma-related Minor Amendments 

April 2, 2025 
 

(13) Correct Day Care Allowances in the Residen�al Use Table 

Issue:  There is an inconsistency within the Residen�al Use Table regarding Day Care Centers, where the use allowances in the UR-3 District does 
not agree with the special notes for Day Care Centers.  The special notes reflect the intent and the use table needs to be corrected to be 
consistent. 

Proposed Code Amendment: 

TMC 13.06.020.E.4 – District Use Table – Residential Districts 
  

Uses (See Footnote 3) UR-1 UR-2 UR-3 R-4 R-5 Additional Regulations (See Footnotes 1, 2) 
Commercial Uses 

Day care center CU CU P/CU P/CU P Subject to additional requirements contained in Section 13.06.080.E. 
For UR-3, day care centers with an enrollment limited to 50 or fewer children 
or adults are permitted, while day care centers for more than 50 children or 
adults may be allowed subject to the approval of a conditional use permit. 

 

(14) Address Inconsistency Between Garage Setbacks on Alleys and Parking Stall Sizes 

Issue:  The Code indicates that the minimum size for standard parking stalls is 8-feet by 16.5-feet (these dimensions were recently reduced as 
part of the Home in Tacoma Ordinance, to ensure consistency with new State law).  However, an inconsistency has been identified between this 
maximum stall size requirement (16.5-feet deep) and the garage setback requirement in the new residential building design standards (20-feet), 
specifically along alleys, where new parking is strongly encouraged (if not required in most cases). 
 
Proposed Code Amendment: 
 
TMC 13.06.100.F. Urban Residential (UR) Minimum Design Standards 
3.b. Housing Type Standards – Backyard Building 

(5) Access and Parking. 

21



Attachment 2: 2025 Minor Amendments – HIT-related Minor Amendments Page 2 of 8  

(D) Pedestrian Access: Sidewalk or pedestrian path required from street. 
(E) Parking: Limited to access from an alley or existing driveway if exists. Prohibited between building and street. Prohibited within front setback. 
Garage doors must be setback 20’ from lot lines abutting streets. Refer to Site Development Standards (TMC 13.06.090.C for vehicle and TMC 
13.06.090.G for bike parking ratios). 
(F) Driveway: Max number: 1 per 12,000 SF of lot area shared with street-facing buildings. Required to be shared with driveways serving street-facing 
buildings, or must occur from alley if one exists. Refer to Site Development Standards TMC 13.06.090.C. 

  
 

(15) Modify ADU Standards to Ensure Consistency with State Law  

Issue:  State Law (HB 1337, RCW 36.70A.681(1)(j)) requires that the City allow for the conversion of existing accessory structures, such as a 
garage, to an ADU even if that existing accessory building doesn’t meet certain basic development standards, such as setbacks and height limits.  
This exception was inadvertently left out of the Home in Tacoma Ordinance. 
 
TMC 13.06.080.A – Special Use Standards - Accessory Dwelling Units 
4. Use Standards, not subject to variance. 
  

i.  Conversion of existing accessory structures to residential use 
Permitted or legally nonconforming accessory structures, existing as of February 1, 2025, in a UR or an R district may be converted to a dwelling unit 
regardless of conformance to setback, location, maximum height, or other development regulation. The building must be brought into compliance with 
current Building Code requirements and required pedestrian access shall be provided. 

 

 

(16) Clarifica�on regarding density allowed in the JBLM Airport Compa�bility Overlay District (ACD) 

Issue:  One of the primary intents of the ACD is to limit any significant increases in density in this area.  While Home in Tacoma did not modify the 
underlying residen�al limita�on in the ACD (only allows single-unit dwellings and accessory dwelling units) the fact that Home in Tacoma 
significantly reduced minimum lot sizes throughout the UR zones could inadvertently allow for a significant increase in density in the ACOD.  This 
proposal would add a provision in the ACD standards to ensure the density is not significantly increased.  The note about the ACD provisions 
superseding the general allowances is already provided in the use table but should be repeated in the development standards table for clarity. 

Proposed Code Amendment: 

13.06.020.F – Urban Residential Districts (UR-1, 2 and 3) Development Standards 
1. Housing types, densities, scale, and lot standards.1 

22



Attachment 2: 2025 Minor Amendments – HIT-related Minor Amendments Page 3 of 8  

 
ZONE NAME Urban Residential 1 (UR-1) Urban Residential 2 (UR-2) Urban Residential 3 (UR-3) 
Footnotes: 

1. Within the JBLM Airport Compatibility Overlay District (ACD), the land use and development standards of this section are modified as specified in TMC 
13.06.070.F, which shall prevail in the case of any conflict.  Bonuses are not available in the ACD. 

 
  
 
  
TMC 13.06.070.F – Overlay Districts – Joint Base Lewis McChord Airport Compatibility Overlay District (ACD) 
4. District development standards. 

a. The following characteristics, when proposed as part of any development, are not allowed in the Overlay District: 
(1) Generation of air pollution, electronic interference, or glare that could negatively affect pilots or aircraft. 
(2) Structures taller than permitted outright in the base zoning districts (i.e., no height variances). 
(3) Manufacturing or processing of apparel, chemicals, petroleum, rubber, or plastic. 

b. The following standards apply to residential development within the Overlay District: 
(1) Density, maximum units per site area, is limited to one dwelling unit per 5,000 square feet of lot area, regardless of zoning district.  For purposes of 
this provision, accessory dwelling units are not counted toward this density limit. 

 
 

(17) Expand Use Limita�ons in the Port of Tacoma Transi�on Overlay District to Reflect Home in Tacoma 

Issue:  The Port of Tacoma Transi�on Overlay District (PTD) is designed to limit residen�al density in this transi�on area.  To meet that goal, one 
thing the overlay does is limit the types of residen�al uses allowed.  However, the exis�ng provision does not reflect the new housing types (and 
terminology) created in Home in Tacoma and needs to be modified to ensure clarity. 

Proposed Code Amendment: 

TMC 13.06.070.G – Overlay Districts – Port of Tacoma Transition Overlay District (PTD) 
 
3. District Development Standards. 

a. Prohibited uses.  Multi-unit dwellings units, including duplex, triplex, cottage housing, and fourplex, townhouse, houseplexes with more than one unit 
(except an ADU), rowhouses, courtyard housing, and multiplexes are prohibited as stand-alone primary uses or as part of a mixed-use development 

 

 

(18) Adjust the Major Transit Stop Defini�on to Ensure Consistency with State Law 

23



Attachment 2: 2025 Minor Amendments – HIT-related Minor Amendments Page 4 of 8  

Issue:  State Law provides two different defini�ons of “major transit stops” (in RCW 36.70A.696(8) and RCW 36.70A.030(25)), which are slightly 
different.  The primary use of this concept in the City’s Code was in the expansion of the Reduce Parking Area (RPA), which was done as part of 
the recent Home in Tacoma Ordinance and applies to an area well beyond either State defini�on.  While this will have no substan�ve effect, to 
ensure consistency between the City’s defini�on and the State’s it is appropriate to expand our defini�ons to the most expansive of the State’s 
defini�ons. 

Proposed Code Amendment: 

TMC 13.01.060.M – Zoning Definitions 
 
“Major transit stop.” 

(a) A stop on a high capacity transportation service system funded or expanded under the provisions of chapter 81.104 RCW; 
(b) Commuter rail stops; 
(c) Stops on rail or fixed guideway systems, including transitways; 
(d) Stops on bus rapid transit routes or routes that run on high occupancy vehicle lanes;  
(e) Stops for a bus or other transit mode providing actual fixed route service at intervals of at least fifteen minutes for at least five hours during the peak 
hours of operation on weekdays; or 
(fe) Stops on Transit Streets designated in TMC 11.05.492. 

 
 
TMC 13.01.120.M – Environmental Code Definitions 
 
“Major transit stop.” 

(a) A stop on a high capacity transportation system funded or expanded under the provisions of chapter 81.104 RCW; 
(b) Commuter rail stops; 
(c) Stops on rail or fixed guideway systems, including trasitways; or, 
(d) Stops on bus rapid transit routes or routes that run on high occupancy vehicle lanes; 
(e) Stops for a bus or other transit mode providing actual fixed route service at intervals of at least fifteen minutes for at least five hours during the peak 
hours of operation on weekdays; or 
(f) Stops on Transit Streets designated in TMC 11.05.492. 

 

(19) Clarify Defini�on for Middle Housing 

Issue:  State Law uses different terminology for certain middle housing types than Tacoma uses in our Code for our housing types.  For example, 
the State uses the term “townhouses” where that same type of development is generally considered a “rowhouse” in Tacoma’s Code.  While this 
will have no substan�ve effect, expanding the defini�on for “middle housing” to include the rela�ve terms in our Code will more clearly 
demonstrate that our Code includes the middle housing types required by State Law. 

24



Attachment 2: 2025 Minor Amendments – HIT-related Minor Amendments Page 5 of 8  

Proposed Code Amendment: 

TMC 13.01.060.M – Zoning Definitions 

“Middle housing.” Buildings that contain two or more attached, stacked, or clustered homes including duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, fiveplexes, sixplexes, 
townhouses, stacked flats, courtyard apartments, and cottage housing. Within Urban Residential Districts, middle housing types also include houseplexes, 
backyard buildings, courtyard housing, rowhouses and multiplexes have been further refined – see TMC 13.06.020.F. 

 

(20) Clarify Density Allowance for Pre-Exis�ng Lots to Ensure Consistency with State Law 

Issue:  State Law (HB 1110, RCW 36.70A.635(1)(b)) requires that the City, at a minimum, allow at least four units on exis�ng lots and six units if 
that lot is near major transit stops or if the development includes at least two affordable units.  The City’s Code addresses this minimum in part 
by exemp�ng pre-exis�ng lots from the standard density limita�ons.  However, while this excep�on allows for the required four units in the UR-1 
District, it inadvertently didn’t include language regarding the addi�onal allowed units required for areas near major transit (the UR-2 and UR-3 
Districts). 

Proposed Code Amendment: 

TMC 13.06.020.F – Residen�al Districts – Urban Residen�al Districts (UR-1, 2 and 3) Development Standards 

1. Housing types, densi�es, scale and lot standards 
 

ZONE NAME Urban Residential 1 (UR-1) Urban Residential 2 (UR-2) Urban Residential 3 (UR-3) 

Density, maximum units per site 
area 1/1500 SF 1/1000 SF 1/750 SF 

Density with Bonus, maximum 
units per site area 

Bonus 1: 1/1000 SF 
Bonus 2: 1/750 SF 

Bonus 1: 1/750 SF 
Bonus 2: 1/500 SF 

Bonus 1: 1/500 SF 
Bonus 2: 1/375 SF 

Density Notes All units on the lot count toward the maximum density or maximum bonus density, including those in separate 
buildings or in any combination of housing types. In no case shall the total number of units on a lot exceed the 
maximums in this table.  
 
Legal lots of record as of February 1, 2025 which do not meet the minimum area, setbacks and/or frontage 
requirements are allowed a minimum of 4 dwellings in the UR-1, 6 dwelling units in the UR-2 and 8 dwelling 
units in the UR-3, along with the ability to provide and 2 additional dwellings through use of the Bonus 1 
program. 

25



Attachment 2: 2025 Minor Amendments – HIT-related Minor Amendments Page 6 of 8  

Critical Areas Density Bonus Critical Areas Protection Ordinance Residential Density Bonus: Per Section 13.11.260, in order to provide 
flexibility to avoid critical area impacts, minimum lot sizes and setbacks may be reduced in association with 
Critical Areas approvals. 

 
 

(21) Adjust Housing Type Design Standards to Ensure Consistency, as required by State Law 

Issue:  State Law (HB 1110, RCW 36.70A.635(6)(b)) requires that development regula�ons for middle housing cannot be more restric�ve than the 
standards for single-family residences.  This is generally addressed in Tacoma’s Code because single-family residences are grouped with many 
other housing types under the umbrella term “houseplex”.  However, one loca�on where the various middle housing types have a slightly 
different standard is in the habitable space requirement – 75% of the street-facing façade for houseplexes and mul�plexes, while it is 100% for 
courtyard housing and rowhouses.  While it will likely not result in much change in effect, making them the same will help ensure consistency 
with the State requirements. 

Proposed Code Amendment: 

TMC 13.06.100.F.3. – Building Design Standards – Urban Residential (UR) Minimum Design Standards – Housing Type Standards 

c. Courtyard Housing 

(5) Access and Parking. 
(D) Pedestrian Access. Entry from common courtyard to each building and/or unit; entry from street ok at front units. 
(E) Parking. Required access from an alley if exists. Prohibited between building and street. Prohibited within front setback. Garages must be setback 
20’ from lot line. Refer to Site Development Standards, TMC 13.06.090.C for vehicle and TMC 13.06.090.G for bike parking ratios. 
(F) Driveway. Max number: 1 per 12,000 SF of lot area. Limited to access from alley if exists. Refer to Site Development Standards, TMC 13.06.090.C. 
(G) Habitable Space*: 10’ deep along 10075% of street-facing facades. 

 

d. Rowhouse 

(5) Access and Parking. 
(D) Pedestrian Access: Individual access via a sidewalk or pedestrian path is required to each Rowhouse from the street. Rowhouses on corner lots may 
select which street to orient to. 
(E) Parking: Required access from an alley if exists. Prohibited between building and street. Prohibited within front setback. Garages prohibited on front 
facades. Garages must be setback 20’ from lot line. Refer to Site Development Standards, TMC 13.06.090.C for vehicle and TMC 13.06.090.G for bike 
parking ratios. 
(F) Driveway: Max number: 1 per 12,000 SF of lot area. Rowhouse Clusters must share a driveway if parking from alley is not available. Limited to 
access from alley if exists. Refer to Site Development Standards, TMC 13.06.090.C. 
(G) Habitable Space*: 10’ deep along 10075% of street-facing facades. 

26



Attachment 2: 2025 Minor Amendments – HIT-related Minor Amendments Page 7 of 8  

 
 

(22) Adjust the Backyard Building Defini�on to Ensure Consistency with State Law 

Issue:  The defini�on for “accessory dwelling unit” 13.01.060.A is consistent with the State Law. However, the addi�on of a defini�on for 
“backyard building” (13.01.060.B), which includes standards for pedestrian access not included in statute, is not consistent. The removal of 
pedestrian access standards would have no substan�ve effect since these are addressed by building design standards in 13.06.100.F.3.b. 
defini�ons. 

Proposed Code Amendment: 

TMC 13.01.060.B – Zoning Definitions 

“Backyard Building.” A Housing Type consisting of a building located behind another structure at the rear of a lot. The building may contain a garage. 
Pedestrian access may be provided from a shared or private path from the front sidewalk or from a secondary street on a corner lot. This housing type includes 
any structure in a backyard containing no more than six units, including detached accessory dwelling units (DADU).  

 
(23) Adjust the Backyard Building Access Requirements to Ensure Consistency with State Law 

Issue:  Some building design standards are imposed on backyard buildings that are more restric�ve than those imposed on principal dwelling 
units, such as the corner lot access requirement in 13.06.100(F)(4)(h)(3). These are inconsistent with State Law. A small typo is also included. 

Proposed Code Amendment: 

TMC 13.06.100.F – Urban Residential Minimum Design Standards 

4. Additional Building Design Standards. 

h. Corner Sites. 

(3) Backyard Buildings and Courtyard Housing on corner lots must may have primary or secondary pedestrian entries accessed from the secondary street. 
Secondary pedestrian entries are also encouraged in other Housing HypesTypes. 

 

(24) Adjust Backyard Building Setback Requirements Along Alleys to Ensure Consistency with State Law 

Issue:  There is not a standard allowing ADUs to be sited at a lot line if the side lot line abuts a public alley, which is inconsistent with State Law.  

Proposed Code Amendment: 

27



Attachment 2: 2025 Minor Amendments – HIT-related Minor Amendments Page 8 of 8  

TMC 13.06.100.F – Urban Residential Minimum Design Standards 

3. Housing Type Standards. 

b. Backyard Building.  

(4) Building Placement.  

(B) Setbacks: 0’ rear and side setback from alley. Refer to District Standards, TMC 13.06.020.F.  

 

 

28



Agenda Item 
F2 

 
 
 
City of Tacoma 
Planning and Development Services 

 

  

  
 
 
 
 

To:  Planning Commission 
From: Maryam Moeinian, Planning and Development Services  
Subject: South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Code Update – 

Best Available Science Review 
Memo Date: March 24, 2025 
Meeting Date: April 2, 2025 

Action Requested:  
Review the Best Available Science (BAS) and public comments received during the One 
Tacoma Workshops.  

Discussion:  
At its April 2, 2025, meeting, the Planning Commission will receive an update from Planning 
and Development Services (PDS) staff, along with the consultant team, HDR Inc, on the 
progress of the South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District (STGPD) Code Update. The 
presentation will cover: 

• An overview of the Best Available Science (BAS) used to assess the STGPD code. 
• A benchmarking analysis that includes a review of relevant codes from neighboring 

jurisdictions and those identified by the Department of Ecology’s Critical Aquifer 
Recharge Areas Guidance document as best practices. 

• A briefing on recent community engagement efforts and the next steps in the code 
update process.  

Project Summary and Background: 
The Growth Management Act (GMA) requires the designation and protection of “Critical 
Areas” to prevent harm to the community from natural hazards and to safeguard natural 
resources. There are five types of critical areas defined by the GMA: 

• Wetlands 
• Areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable water 
• Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas 
• Frequently flooded areas 
• Geologically hazardous areas 

One such area is the South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District (STGPD), which is 
designated as a Critical Aquifer Recharge Area (CARA). The City of Tacoma is currently 
reviewing and updating Tacoma Municipal Code Section 13.06.070 (South Tacoma 
Groundwater Protection District) and Section 13.11.800 (Aquifer Recharge Areas). This effort 

29



Planning Commission  
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Code Update – Best Available Science Review 
April 2, 2025 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 

 

aligns with the Work Plan adopted by Substitute Resolution No. 40985, which was later 
updated by the Planning Commission on December 20, 2023. 

The STGPD was established in 1988 through adoption of City of Tacoma Ordinance 24083. 
This ordinance recognized the South Tacoma area (approximately nine square miles in 
extent) to be environmentally sensitive due to the high potential for contamination of the 
underlying aquifer system. The ordinance, which has been updated over time, put into place 
the following: 

• Regulations regarding land uses and the handling, storage, and disposal of hazardous 
substances 

• Technical standards outlining best management practices and design requirements 
• Identification of prohibited uses 
• Regulations pertaining to stormwater infiltration 
• Permitting framework for new or substantially modified facilities 
• Regulations regarding storage tanks 
• Inspection, testing, and enforcement processes 

It is important to note that the STGPD was established prior to development of State 
requirements and guidance related to critical aquifer recharge areas (CARAs) in the Growth 
Management Act context and wellhead protection programs (WHPPs) as administered by 
the State Department of Health (DOH). 

Prior Actions:  
• 2021-2022: The Commission reviewed and recommended an overall work plan for the 

South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District. 
• 2022-2023: The Commission and then City Council considered and adopted a 

moratorium on certain uses within the South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District.  
• June 21, 2023: Staff provided an update to the Commission on the overall scope of 

work, as amended following the adoption of the moratorium.   
• October 4, 2023: Staff presented an initial comparison of critical aquifer recharge 

standards for Pierce County jurisdictions that have jurisdiction within the South 
Tacoma Aquifer with a focus on Impervious Surface Standards, Landscaping 
Standards, and High-Risk/High-Impact Uses. 

• August 7, 2024: Staff presented information on landscaping and tree canopy 
standards for the Tacoma Mall Subarea and South Tacoma Manufacturing Industrial 
Center (STMIC).  

Background Documents: 
• STGPD Updated Work Plan 
• STGPD Moratorium 
• Critical Areas Best Available Science Review Draft 

Staff Contacts:  
• Stephen Atkinson, Principal Planner, satkinson@cityoftacoma.org 
• Maryam Moeinian, Senior Planner, mmoeinian@cityoftacoma.org 

30

https://www.cityoftacoma.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_6/File/cms/Planning/STGPD/STGPD%20Work%20Plan%20(Updated%2012-20-23).pdf
https://www.cityoftacoma.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_6/File/cms/Planning/STGPD/Ordinance%20No.%2029020%20-%20Signed.pdf
https://www.cityoftacoma.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_6/File/cms/Planning/Comprehensive%20Plan/2024%20Update/Environment%20and%20Watershed%20Health%20BAS%20Review_Public%20Draft%202025.pdf
mailto:satkinson@cityoftacoma.org
mailto:mmoeinian@cityoftacoma.org


Planning Commission  
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Code Update – Best Available Science Review 
April 2, 2025 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 

 

• Adam Nolan, Senior Planner, anolan@cityoftacoma.org  

Attachments: 
• Attachment 1 – State regulations 
• Attachment 2 – Recent outreach and engagement 
• Attachment 3 – Next steps 
• Attachment 4 – Technical memo 

cc. Peter Huffman, Director 

31

mailto:anolan@cityoftacoma.org


32



Agenda Item 
F2 - Attachment 1 

 

 
 
 
 

                      Planning Commission Meeting - April 2, 2025 

 
State Regulations 

 
There are several state regulations, including those for Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas (CARAs) and the 
Wellhead Protection Program (WHPP), that aim to protect groundwater used for potable purposes.   
 
The Growth Management Act requires counties and cities to designate and protect critical areas to 
prevent ecological degradation and ensure no net loss of their functions and values. The following statute 
outlines key requirements for incorporating the best available science, coordinating regional protection 
efforts, and using a combination of maps and performance standards to guide land use decisions. 

 
1. No Net Loss: Counties and cities must prepare development regulations that protect all functions 

and values of critical areas to ensure no net loss of ecological functions and values. 
2. Best Available Science: Counties and cities must use the best available science when designating 

critical areas and developing protective policies and regulations. Special consideration should be 
given to preserving anadromous fisheries, and both surface and groundwater protection is 
encouraged. 

3. Coordinated Regional Protection: Encourage the development of regional critical areas 
protection programs combining interjurisdictional cooperation, public education, incentives to 
promote voluntary protective measures, and regulatory standards to protect critical areas. 

4. Designate Critical Areas by Maps and Performance Standards: Maps raise public awareness but 
may not be precise for regulatory use. Primary reliance should be on performance standards for 
land use decisions. 

 
Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas (CARA) are defined in WAC 365-190-030(3) as “areas with a critical 
recharging effect on aquifers used for potable water, including areas where an aquifer that is a source of 
drinking water is vulnerable to contamination that would affect the potability of the water or is 
susceptible to reduced recharge.”  
Local governments are guided by WAC 365-190-100 in determining CARA classification and designation, 
emphasizing the use of best available science (BAS) to inform regulatory decisions.  
 
Key Points from WAC 365-190-100  

1. Potable water is essential for life. Much of Washington's drinking water comes from 
groundwater. Once groundwater is contaminated, it is difficult and costly to clean up. Preventing 
contamination is crucial to avoid significant costs and potential harm to people and ecosystems. 

2. Link Between Groundwater and Recharge Areas: The quality and quantity of groundwater in an 
aquifer are inextricably linked to its recharge area. Where aquifers and their recharge areas have 
been studied, counties and cities should use this information as the basis for classifying and 
designating these areas. Where no specific studies have been done, counties and cities may use 
existing soil and geological information to determine where recharge areas exist.  Existing land 
use activities that may threaten groundwater quality should be evaluated. 

33

https://app.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=365-190-030#:%7E:text=(3)%20%22Critical%20aquifer%20recharge,is%20susceptible%20to%20reduced%20recharge.
https://app.leg.wa.gov/WAC/default.aspx?cite=365-190-100
https://app.leg.wa.gov/WAC/default.aspx?cite=365-190-100


Agenda Item 
F2 - Attachment 1 

 

 
 
 
 

                      Planning Commission Meeting - April 2, 2025 

3. Classification Based on Vulnerability: Counties and cities must classify recharge areas based on 
aquifer vulnerability, which combines hydrogeological susceptibility to contamination and 
contamination loading potential.  
• High vulnerability: This may be indicated by hydrogeological conditions that facilitate 

degradation, particularly when combined with land uses that contribute or may potentially 
contribute to contamination. 

• Low Vulnerability: This may be indicated by hydrogeological conditions that do not facilitate 
degradation and land uses that do not contribute or are not likely to contribute contaminants 
that will degrade groundwater. Factors that support low vulnerability include effective 
natural filtration systems, distance from potential contaminant sources, and the presence of 
protective geological formations. 

4. Classification strategy for Aquifer Recharge Area: Classification strategies should focus on 
maintaining groundwater quality and quantity, particularly in highly susceptible recharge areas. 
In these areas, studies should be initiated to assess groundwater contamination. Classification of 
these areas should include consideration of: 
• The degree to which the aquifer is used as a potable water source. 
• The feasibility of protective measures to prevent further degradation. 
• The availability of treatment measures to maintain potability. 
• The availability of alternative potable water sources. 

5. Examples of Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas:  
• Recharge areas for sole source aquifers designated under the Federal Safe Drinking Water 

Act 
• Areas established for special protection under groundwater management programs 
• Areas designated for wellhead protection under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act 
• Areas near marine waters vulnerable to saltwater intrusion 
• Other areas meeting the definition of "areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used 

for potable water." 

WHPP regulations also apply within the South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District. Under WAC 246-
290-135, water systems using groundwater sources must develop and implement a WHPP as part of their 
water system plan. This program must include a completed susceptibility assessment and a Wellhead 
Protection Areas (WHPA) delineation for each well, wellfield, or spring, marking the 6-month, 1- year, 5-
year, and 10-year time of travel boundaries. Additionally, this code requires an inventory of all potential 
groundwater contamination sources with documentation of the water system purveyor’s notification to 
all owners/operators of these known or potential sources of contamination. Regulatory agencies must 
also be informed of WHPA boundaries. The WHPP must include a contingency plan for groundwater 
supply loss due to contamination and documentation of coordination with local emergency responders. 
 

34

https://app.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=246-290-135
https://app.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=246-290-135


Agenda Item 
F2 - Attachment 2 

 

 
 
 
 

                      Planning Commission Meeting - April 2, 2025 
 

Recent Outreach and Engagement 
 
The following outreach and engagement efforts were conducted to gather input and inform the 
community: 
 

• Spotlight on South Tacoma (January, February, March 2024) 
• Sustainability Expo (April 13, 2024) 
• Dia de los Ninos/Eastside Mini-Olympic Games Family Event (May 4, 2024) 
• Nine One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan Update Visioning Workshops (May-June 2024) 
• Ocean Fest (August 2024) 
• South Tacoma Neighborhood Plan Steering Committee (August 22, 2024) 
• Tacoma Permit Advisory Group (September 18, 2024) 
• South Tacoma Business District Association (September 19, 2024) 
• Four One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan Update Workshops (February 20- March 1, 2025) 
• South Tacoma Neighborhood Council  
• Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Public Advisory Committee 
• STGPD Health Impact Assessment Advisory Group 

 

35



36



Agenda Item 
F2 - Attachment 3 

 

 
 
 
 

                      Planning Commission Meeting - April 2, 2025 
 

Next Steps and Tentative Schedule 
 
 

Date  Body  Action  
April 16, 2025 Planning Commission  

 
Draft Code Release 
Public Comment Period 

April 23, 2025 
 

Planning Commission  
 

HIA Recommendations  

May 21, 2025 
 

Planning Commission Public Hearing  

June 4, 2025 Planning Commission Public Hearing Debrief & Direction 

June 18, 2025 Planning Commission Planning Commission Recommendation 

July 1, 2025 City Council  Resolution to Set Public Hearing 

August 5, 2025 City Council Study Session Public Hearing Preparation 

August 5, 2025 City Council Public Hearing 

August 12, 2025 City Council Public Hearing Debrief   
Introduce Amendments 

August 19, 2025 City Council 
 

First Reading of Ordinance 

August 26, 2025 
 

City Council 
 

Final Reading of Ordinance 

September 20, 2025 — STGPD Moratorium Expires 
 

 

37



38



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 1 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

Technical Memorandum   

To: Maryam Moeinian (City of Tacoma) 

From: HDR and Terraphase 

Project: Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 

Date: 3/27/2025 

Subject: South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

  

1.0 Introduction 
The City of Tacoma (City) has contracted the HDR/Terraphase team to complete updates to Tacoma 
Water’s Integrated Resource Plan (IRP), which examines future water supply and demand in the 
context of climate change and regional growth. As part of the update to the IRP, the City requested 
that the HDR/Terraphase team assess existing groundwater protection and stormwater management 
codes and regulations to identify recommended changes to bolster protection and sustainability of 
this resource. This assessment will be informed by results from the broader IRP effort which is 
evaluating the role groundwater resources will play in meeting future water demands and buffering 
against climate change impacts on surface water supply.  

This groundwater protection code assessment centers on a review of the South Tacoma 
Groundwater Protection District (STGPD) ordinance (Tacoma Municipal Code [TMC] 13.06.070.D) 
and related regulations, with the purpose of identifying potential gaps in how existing regulations 
address redevelopment and stormwater-related impacts to groundwater. This work is part of the 
STGPD Proposed Work Plan1, which the City created in response to an application the South 
Tacoma Neighborhood Council submitted to the Planning Commission in 2021. This application was 
aimed at updating the One Tacoma Plan and the TMC applicable to the STGPD, in addition to 
transforming the South Tacoma Manufacturing/Industrial Center into an Economic Green Zone. The 
work plan and this effort focus on the former objective. As part of this effort, a review has been 
conducted of groundwater protection regulations and practices of other jurisdictions that are known 
to be highly protective and/or have specifically addressed questions/concerns related to 
redevelopment.  

This technical memorandum provides a brief summary of the STGPD, how it relates to multiple State 
groundwater protection regulations, observations regarding potential gaps, and recommendations for 
potential updates or modifications.  

 
1 City of Tacoma, South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Proposed Work Plan Update (Dec 
2023). 

39



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 2 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

2.0 Background 
The STGPD was formally established by the City in 1988 through adoption of City of Tacoma 
Ordinance 24083. This ordinance declared the South Tacoma area (approximately nine square 
miles in extent) to be environmentally sensitive due to the high potential for contamination of the 
underlying aquifer system. The ordinance, which has been updated over time, put into place the 
following: 

• Regulations regarding land uses and the handling, storage, and disposal of hazardous 
substances 

• Establishment of technical standards that prescribe best management practices and design 
requirements (i.e., the document entitled “General Guidance and Performance Standards for 
the South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District”) 

• Identification of prohibited uses 

• Regulations pertaining to stormwater infiltration 

• Permitting framework for new or substantially modified facilities 

• Regulations regarding storage tanks 

• Inspection, testing, and enforcement processes 

The STGPD was established prior to development of State requirements and guidance related to 
critical aquifer recharge areas (CARAs) in the Growth Management Act context and Wellhead 
Protection Programs (WHPPs) as administered by the Washington State Department of Health, 
(DOH). While the STGPD served as the foundation of Tacoma Water’s approach to protection of its 
groundwater resources, additional activities have taken place since its inception to maintain 
compliance with DOH WHPP requirements, including: 

• Completion of susceptibility assessments for all Tacoma Water wells, including those located 
outside of the South Tacoma area 

• Coordination between Tacoma Water and the Tacoma-Pierce County Health Department 
(TPCHD) in implementing wellhead protection activities such as an annual review of potential 
contaminant sources 

• Periodic updates to the City’s wellhead protection area time of travel zones 

• Preparation of the Tacoma Wellhead Protection Program (originally developed in 2002, 
updated in 2015) 

The spatial extent of Tacoma-area groundwater resources, as well as the land areas that impact 
their quantity and quality, is complex. Figure 1 shows the relationship of the STGPD to the South 
Tacoma wellfield, City of Tacoma municipal boundaries, and the Central Pierce County Sole-Source 
Aquifer (SSA) that includes the STGPD and other parts of the City of Tacoma. Also depicted are 
Wellhead Protection Areas (WHPA) mapped by time of travel zones obtained from DOH, some of 
which are known to not be fully accurate and are currently under review by Tacoma Water. WHPAs 
mapped include those for the City of Tacoma wells, along with wells in other jurisdictions intersecting 
with City of Tacoma and/or STGPD boundaries.  

40



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 3 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

Key observations regarding the features depicted in Figure 1 include: 

• Tacoma Water’s WHPAs for wells located within the City of Tacoma’s boundaries extend 
beyond the STGPD boundary into unincorporated Pierce County and the Cities of Lakewood, 
University Place, and Fircrest. Tacoma Water wells located outside of the STGPD but still 
within the City of Tacoma also have WHPAs that extend into the City of Fife. Tacoma wells 
that were formerly part of the SE Tacoma Mutual Water System are located outside the City 
of Tacoma boundaries, but these have WHPAs that abut Tacoma municipal boundaries. 

• The City of Fircrest’s WHPAs extend into the STGPD. 

Figures 2 and 3 illustrate other pertinent features in and near the STGPD, including zoning and 
contamination site locations. Figure 4 provides mapping of the surficial geology throughout the 
extent of the SSA. 

Recommendation: Tacoma should coordinate with neighboring jurisdictions regarding the 
development of policies and regulations protecting groundwater resources because of the overlap 
between land use jurisdictions and mapped WHPAs. This is a common theme reflected in many of 
the other recommendations presented throughout this document.  

3.0 Comparison of STGPD to CARA and WHPP 
Regulations 

There are a number of CARA and WHPP regulations that aim to protect groundwater used for 
potable uses. The Growth Management Act requires planning jurisdictions to designate critical 
areas, including CARAs. Best available science (BAS) must be used to designate critical areas as 
established in RCW 36.70A.172 and to develop policies and development regulations according to 
WAC 365-195-915. RCW 36.70A.030 defines CARAs as “areas with a critical recharging effect on 
aquifers used for potable water”. WAC 365-190-100 requires cities and counties to use information 
on aquifers and their recharge areas as the basis for classifying and designating these areas. 
Existing land use activities and their potential to contaminate the aquifer must also be examined, and 
recharge areas must be classified according to aquifer vulnerability, defined as the combined effect 
of hydrogeological susceptibility to contamination and the contamination loading potential. 
Additionally, this code requires that a classification strategy for aquifer recharge areas maintain the 
quality and, if needed, quantity of the groundwater and lists data sources which may be used to 
define an area with a critical recharging effect on the aquifer.  

WHPP regulations also apply to areas within the STGPD. WAC 246-290-135 requires that water 
systems using groundwater sources develop and implement a WHPP. This must be part of the water 
system plan and is required to include a completed susceptibility assessment and a WHPA 
delineation for each well, wellfield, or spring with the 6-month and 1-, 5-, and 10-year time of travel 
boundaries marked. Additionally, this code requires an inventory of all potential groundwater 
contamination sources with documentation of the water system purveyor’s notification to all 
owners/operators of these known or potential sources of contamination, a notification to regulatory 
agencies of the boundaries of the WHPAs, a contingency plan in the event of contamination that 
results in a loss of groundwater supply, and documentation of coordination with local emergency 
incident responders.  

41



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 4 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

The Washington State Department of Commerce (Commerce) has published a voluntary Critical 
Areas Checklist that jurisdictions can use to verify that local codes address comprehensive plan 
requirements for critical areas. The checklist covers the wide range of elements required within a 
local jurisdiction’s critical areas regulations, with CARA being one component.  

Table 3-1 summarizes a comparison between CARA checklist items and the current STGPD code. 

Table 3-1. Commerce CARA checklist comparison 

Checklist item1 Addressed 
in code? Location in code Notes 

If groundwater is used for potable 
water, do regulations protect the 
quality and quantity of 
groundwater? 

[Referenced regulations include 
RCW 36.70A.172(1), RCW 
36.70A.070(1), and WAC 365-
196-485(1)(d)] 

Yes TMC 13.06.070D (5) 

TMC 13.06.070D (6) 

Stormwater element is 
tied to STGPD 
Infiltration Policy, 
which in turn 
references the City’s 
Stormwater 
Management Manual. 

Are the critical aquifer recharge 
regulations consistent with current 
mapping of these critical areas? 
[Referenced regulation: WAC 
365-190-100] 

Partially TMC 13.06.070D (1-c) The STGPD boundary 
is not fully in 
alignment with WHPA 
and SSA boundaries. 

Consider limiting impervious 
surfaces to reduce stormwater 
runoff, as required under Phase I 
and II municipal permits. 

Partially TMC 12.08D.150.D Impervious surfaces 
are not strictly limited, 
but “effective 
impervious surfaces” 
are limited through the 
use of low impact 
development and 
stormwater infiltration 
BMPs as required in 
the City’s Stormwater 
Management Manual. 

1. Source: Washington State Department of Commerce, Critical Areas Checklist (May 2024). 

While several of the items from the Commerce checklist are addressed in the City’s code, there are 
opportunities for further alignment. Groundwater quality and pollution prevention is currently 
addressed in detail in the STGPD code, but groundwater quantity is primarily addressed through the 
Stormwater Management Manual rather than within the STGPD code. The boundaries of the 
STGPD are currently not in alignment with WAC 365-190-100, which requires classification of 

42



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 5 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

CARAs based on recharge areas for SSAs and areas designated for wellhead protection in 
alignment with the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act, among other mapping sources as available. 
Along these lines, there are some wells (i.e., in the Tideflats) whose WHPAs are outside of, and 
therefore not subject to, the STGPD. Additionally, the Commerce checklist recommends considering 
impervious surfaces limitations to reduce stormwater runoff. While impervious surfaces are not 
strictly limited in the STGPD code, “effective impervious surfaces” are limited through the use of low 
impact development and stormwater infiltration Best Management Practices (BMPs) as required in 
the City’s Stormwater Management Manual. Tacoma’s STGPD overlay zone designating the 
protected aquifer recharge area is also unique compared to other nearby jurisdictions, which instead 
address these CARA requirements within the critical areas code and apply this to all CARAs within 
the jurisdictions’ boundaries. These topics are discussed in more detail in Section 4.0. 

Recommendation: We recommend using the recently produced USGS Southeast Sound 
groundwater model of the aquifers in the SSA, in conjunction with utility-prepared WHPAs, to better 
quantity the risks to the aquifers, thereby determining in greater detail which areas should be 
afforded more or less protection. With that information in hand, work with neighboring jurisdictions to 
identify the best path to coordinate protections. Seek ways of using common terminology and 
language in code, which may result in the use of overlay districts, WHPAs, CARAs, and/or other 
terminology that is found to be most effective at communicating with the broader communities. 

4.0 Key Technical Topics 
Several elements of the STGPD were examined to identify gaps in meeting their intent and to 
compare the STGPD approach with that of other local jurisdictions.  

4.1 Protection District Boundary 
As noted in Section 3.0, the current STGPD boundary is not fully in alignment with WAC 365-190-
100. This code requires a classification strategy for aquifer recharge areas and lists examples of 
areas with critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable water. These example data sources 
are listed in Table 4-1 with corresponding notes on the applicability of this data to Tacoma. 

Table 4-1. Critical recharge areas data sources 

Data source Applicable to Tacoma? Notes 

Recharge areas for SSAs 
designated pursuant to the 
Federal Safe Drinking Water 
Act 

Yes Central Pierce County Aquifer 
Area SSA 

Areas established for special 
protection pursuant to a 
groundwater management 
program 

Yes South Tacoma Groundwater 
Protection District zoning 
overlay 

43



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 6 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

Areas designated for wellhead 
protection pursuant to the 
Federal Safe Drinking Water 
Act 

Yes Washington Department of 
Health Source Water 
Assessment Program Mapping 

Areas near marine waters 
where aquifers may be subject 
to saltwater intrusion 

No  

Changing the protection district boundaries to include the SSA would expand the STGPD area to 
encompass a larger area, impacting future developments in the City and changing regulations 
around developments which are already in place.  

Recommendation: Revising the City’s CARA regulations to apply to the SSA boundaries, while also 
maintaining the current STGPD overlay, will allow for the CARA to be in better alignment with 
Washington State rules while maintaining the integrity of current STGPD protections. The basis for 
this segregation is the surficial geology of the area occupied by the STGPD compared to the 
remainder of the SSA located within the City of Tacoma boundary depicted in the attached Figure 4. 

4.2 Code Location 
Theoretically, all elements of the municipal code are equally important and development restrictions 
or requirements placed anywhere in the code apply in full force. In practice, different chapters of the 
code are used by different members of the community.  

Many developers will review the zoning code as they create a vision for a planned development 
project. The zoning code is a place where the community’s vision is amplified. If the community’s 
priority is to attain a certain look and feel for the community, the zoning code reflects that. 
Engineering and environmental protection requirements tend to be elsewhere in the code and may 
not have the attention of developers during that important feasibility stage. The engineers and 
scientists tasked with implementing those engineering and environmental protections often find a 
tension between that early developer vision and the more detailed design requirements.  

Low impact development standards that came into effect in the early 2000s are a great example of 
how the location of requirements in code impacts their successful implementation. Zoning codes 
typically define lot coverage. Low impact development standards are most often placed within 
stormwater engineering sections of code. This has the effect that a developer may make decisions 
about where to place buildings on a piece of property and how much of the property to cover with 
buildings, without regard to low impact development principles that try to mimic natural hydrologic 
conditions. The outcome of this approach is frequently that developers determine that low impact 
development is infeasible. 

The current zoning code overlay puts the issue of aquifer protection front and center for developers. 
This unusual placement of these requirements demonstrates a community vision of aquifer 
protection. Developers see these requirements early in their feasibility process, thanks to code 
placement. Scientists and engineers hired by developers to implement their vision look for 
environmental protections and engineering standards in other parts of the code. This is accounted 

44



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 7 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

for in the STGPD by reference to: 1) the STGPD Performance Standards, enforced by the TPCHD, 
that pertain to requirements for facilities handling hazardous substances; and, 2) the City’s 
Stormwater Management Manual and STGPD Infiltration Policy, which collectively pertain to 
stormwater infiltration requirements/practices.  

Another consideration when determining where development requirements should be placed in code 
is the process for updating that code. Zoning codes tend to be updated through a process that may 
include additional public involvement or commissions. Engineering standards and codes tend to be 
updated through a simpler process. For example, when groundwater protections are within the 
CARA, anytime additional groundwater resources are discovered, the maps and related restrictions 
are updated. However, when restrictions are within an overlay, the City needs to go through an 
additional process to expand the overlay boundaries or create a new zoning classification.  

If the STGPD overlay is retained as being separate from the broader CARA code, tThe CARA 
regulations could be written to call out that the STGPD overlay is applicable only to the higher risk 
area proximal to the South Tacoma Channel Wells, thereby requiring additional protections. .   

Recommendation: The STGPD code as currently located is an effective way of addressing aquifer 
protection in this area. It is recommended that the overlay continue. However, as noted in Section 
4.1, there is value in expanding the City’s CARA regulations to apply to the entire SSA. Additional 
technical analysis or modeling of surficial geology, well use, and groundwater flow patterns, 
coordinated between the neighboring jurisdictions, would result in a better understanding of land use 
risk to the aquifers, which could then be used to inform protective measures within the SSA but 
outside the STGPD.  

4.3 High Impact Uses 
WAC 365-190-100 requires that water system surveyors examine existing land use activities and 
their potential to contaminate the aquifer. The Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology) 
Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas Guidance further suggests that cities can minimize the risk of 
groundwater contamination by prohibiting high risk uses in critical areas. The STGPD code lists nine 
high-impact uses which are currently prohibited within the boundaries of STGPD (13.06.070.D(5)). 
These high-impact uses are: 

• Chemical manufacture and reprocessing 

• Creosote/asphalt manufacture or treatment 

• Electroplating activities 

• Manufacture of Class 1A or 1B flammable liquids as defined in the Fire Code 

• Petroleum and petroleum products refinery, including reprocessing 

• Wood products preserving 

• Hazardous waste treatment, storage, or disposal facilities 

• Underground storage tanks (temporary moratorium) 

• Metal recycling/auto wrecking facilities (temporary moratorium) 

45



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 8 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

Regarding the last two items on the list, a moratorium on new underground storage tanks and metal 
recycling/auto wrecking facilities is in place by Ordinance No. 28872, passed in March 2023 and 
currently set to expire in March 2025. This list is intended to adapt over time to changing technology, 
pollution control, and management, as determined by City Planning and Development Services and 
the TPCHD. Planning and Development Services, in consultation with TPCHD, may make 
exceptions to the prohibited uses list when it is conclusively demonstrated that the high-impact use 
will not threaten the groundwater resource more than a compliant nonprohibited use would. . These 
prohibited uses are compared against the prohibited uses in ten other nearby jurisdictions in 
Attachment 1 (see separate Excel file). These jurisdictions were selected for their proximity to 
Tacoma and for the robustness of their groundwater protection programs, as noted in state 
regulatory guidance documents. Five of these ten jurisdictions differentiated restrictions in subareas 
within the recharge area based on the risk of contaminating drinking water. In these cases, the more 
restrictive designations aligned with WHPP mapping based on time of travel for contaminants. Many 
of these jurisdictions also distinguish between land uses which are fully prohibited and ones which 
are permitted with restrictions, such as a mandatory hydrogeological assessment or a permit 
process.  

It is noted that Pierce County recently amended its critical areas code, including its CARA elements, 
effective February 1, 2025. The approach taken by the County in its proposed CARA updates, as 
currently reflected in draft documents, is based upon wellhead protection related recommendations 
made to all local jurisdictions by the Pierce County Water Utility Coordinating Committee (WUCC) in 
the 2021 Update to the Pierce County Coordinated Water System Plan and Regional Supplement 
(2021 CWSP). 

These prohibited land uses build off any underlying zoning restrictions addressed in other portions of 
the jurisdictions’ codes. These underlying land use codes specify requirements for permitting based 
on land uses, but CARA codes tend to prohibit more specific land uses due to the risk of 
groundwater contamination. 

Key observations from this comparison which could help inform updates to the prohibited uses 
specified in Tacoma’s STGPD code are: 

• Tacoma’s restrictions on chemical manufacture and reprocessing, hazardous waste 
treatment and storage, and underground storage tanks were broadly mirrored in the other 
jurisdictions’ WHPP restrictions. Tacoma’s restrictions on wood and wood products 
preserving, petroleum refining, and metal recycling were also common in the WHPP-based 
codes included in the comparison. 

• The STGPD code allows aboveground and underground storage tanks but subjects them to 
design, installation, and operational requirements that meet, or exceed current Washington 
State and Federal criteria. 

• Some of Tacoma’s restrictions were less common in other high-impact use lists. Class 1A 
and 1B flammable liquids were restricted in no other jurisdictions, while creosote and asphalt 
manufacture and electroplating activities were each prohibited in two WHPP-based codes 
out of the five included in the comparison. 

• Wastewater treatment, landfills, mining, and water reuse and infiltration were additionally 
prohibited or restricted in all five WHPP-based codes. 

46



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 9 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

• Metal processing, golf courses, funeral facilities, dry cleaning, and vehicle maintenance were 
all prohibited or restricted in four of the five included WHPP-based codes. 

• Three of the WHPP-based codes had blanket restrictions on any additional land uses not 
listed that pose a risk to groundwater quality in their high-impact uses list. 

Guidance for underground injection control from Ecology2 was also included as part of this 
comparison. This guidance recommends prohibitions on the following land uses in alignment with 
Tacoma’s code: 

• Hazardous waste treatment, storage, or disposal facilities 

• Storage of treated lumber 

• Asphalt recycling facilities 

This guidance additionally recommends prohibiting: 

• Solid waste handling facilities 

• Concrete recycling facilities 

• Industrial or commercial areas that have outdoor processing, handling, or storage of raw 
materials or finished products unless the facility has specific management plans for proper 
storage and spill prevention, control, and containment 

• Vehicle maintenance, repair, and service 

• Process water from the production area of an animal feeding operation 

• Fire fighter training facilities 

While these land uses are not explicitly prohibited in the STGPD, they are subject to other 
restrictions, such as permitting, waste handling, and stormwater treatment requirements. 

Given that the majority of the STGPD is comprised of WHPAs, the list of prohibited uses in the 
STGPD is fairly consistent with what is observed in other jurisdictions’ codes. Pathways forward for 
potential modification to this part of the STGPD, and associated pros and cons, include: 

1. No change. 

a. Pros: No shift in current practice. 

b. Cons: Potential for misalignment with codes of nearby land use jurisdictions whose 
boundaries intersect with Tacoma Water WHPAs. 

2. Follow recommendations of the 2021 CWSP, tying prohibitions/restrictions of certain land 
uses to WHPA time of travel zones and incorporate the surficial geology of the area. 

a. Pros: Alignment with WUCC guidance and Pierce County approach. The inclusion of 
geologic information adds additional information for evaluating the vulnerability of 
locations with respect to impacting groundwater quality. 

 
2 WAC 173-218, and the 2024 Ecology Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington 

47



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 10 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

b. Cons: Potential for varied level of prohibition/restriction within STGPD boundary, 
based on varying time of travel spatial extents. Technically challenging to 
define/refine time of travel associated with various wells, due to their interactions. 
Would require additional technical work to refine. The addition of surficial geology 
into the determination of protective areas can offset some of the issues with time of 
travel-based restrictions. 

3. Conduct additional technical analysis on specific uses to determine if they should be 
included in list of prohibited uses. 

a. Pros: There are two pathways that such analysis can follow. The first pathway is to 
use the results of additional analysis to expand the list of prohibited uses. The 
second pathway is to use the results to manage allowed uses, including new or 
previously/temporarily prohibited by modifying the STGPD Performance Standards to 
be appropriately protective of groundwater. While these pathways are not unrelated, 
the City Council will need to determine its political will on the direction any application 
of results will take.  

b. Cons: Requires additional time and effort to conduct. Decisions on the application of 
results will likely divide public comments into opposing groups, and significant 
education and outreach may be needed to achieve consensus or at least 
acceptance. 

Recommendation: We recommend that for CARA regulations that would apply throughout the SSA, 
surficial geology be used as a primary determinant of risk of impact to groundwater and that the 
special protections afforded by the STGPD ordinances and its performance standards be 
maintained. Additionally, some areas of the STGPD with underlying geology indicating lower risk of 
impact to groundwater (such as the Tacoma Mall area) could be allowed additional uses or less 
restriction if desired. The same mapping could also be used to establish additional 
prohibitions/restrictions/performance standards in areas where it is necessary. Existing geologic 
mapping such as that outlined in the attached Figure 4 are likely sufficient for policy determinations 
although any implementation may warrant site-specific assessment on a project basis.. For  example 
areas mapped with glacial till as the first surficial layer may, subject to site verification, be considered 
lower risk. 

4.4 Stormwater Infiltration 
The STGPD Infiltration Policy regulates the use of stormwater infiltration facilities within the STGPD. 
Infiltration of stormwater runoff from non-pollution-generating surfaces is not regulated by this policy. 
Infiltration of stormwater runoff from pollution-generating surfaces is subject to several specific 
requirements at the time of construction and through the life cycle of the facilities. 

The STGPD Infiltration Policy provides protection of the groundwater resource through six key 
elements:  

1. Protection Area 
2. Permitting 
3. Stormwater Runoff Treatment 
4. Operation & Maintenance 
5. Inspection 

48



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 11 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

6. Public Education 

4.4.1 Protection Area 
The most important element of a groundwater aquifer protection strategy is to understand the 
location of the municipal wells and their relationship to areas nearby where pollutants may migrate 
from through stormwater runoff. As discussed above, there is substantial overlap in regulations from 
Ecology, Pierce County, City of Tacoma, and the STGPD Policy. The wells operating in STGPD 
have the potential to alter groundwater flow patterns and potential contaminant migration from the 
City of University Place, City of Lakewood, or City of Fircrest, so seeking uniformity in approach to 
regulations from each of these agencies is important. 

4.4.2 Permitting 
Stormwater infiltration from pollution-generating surfaces is only allowed through a permitting 
process. This gives the City of Tacoma the ability to impose design requirements. These permits 
also require granting the City of Tacoma the right to inspect facilities to ensure their appropriate 
maintenance and continued function. That permitting is limited to facilities within the City of Tacoma, 
so again seeking uniformity in approach with neighboring jurisdictions is important. The STGPD 
regulations require coordination between the TPCHD and City of Tacoma Environmental services to 
ensure that infiltration is implemented meeting the site conditions and permitting regulations set forth 
in both the STGPD Performance Standards and the City of Tacoma Stormwater Management 
Manual. 

4.4.3 Stormwater Runoff Treatment 
Stormwater runoff treatment is a primary method for protecting the groundwater resource from 
contaminants carried in stormwater runoff. Table 4-2 compares the stormwater runoff treatment 
requirements from comparable jurisdictions with groundwater protection areas. Generally speaking, 
the Ecology Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington and the Ecology 
Underground Injection Control Guidelines provide standards that are broadly used by jurisdictions 
across western Washington.  

In evaluating an individual site, the project proponent and the regulatory agency evaluate both the 
planned land use and the receiving waters to evaluate the risk of the project impacting water quality. 
Some receiving waters are known to be impacted for certain pollutants and may have special 
requirements. Some land uses are known to have a high risk of generating certain pollutants and 
may have special requirements.  

For most sites, stormwater runoff treatment BMPs are categorized by Ecology into one of five 
different levels, with different goals that are generally applicable to sites based upon their land use 
and receiving water: 

• Pretreatment: Remove larger particles and floatables to protect long term performance of runoff 
treatment or infiltration BMPs. 

• Basic Treatment: Remove 80% of the total suspended solids from stormwater. Many pollutants 
adhere to those suspended solids, so are removed through this treatment process. This is the 
baseline level of stormwater runoff treatment for all sites and land uses. 

49



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 12 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

• Enhanced Treatment: Provide a higher rate of removal of dissolved metals than basic treatment. 
Generally targeting removal of 30% of dissolved copper and 60% of dissolved zinc. These BMPs 
are typically for removal of very low concentrations of dissolved metals that are harmful to fish, 
but may not be harmful to humans. This is typically only required for sites that discharge into 
streams or infiltrate close to streams. 

• Phosphorous Treatment: Remove phosphorous from stormwater to protect sensitive lakes that 
have been identified as impacted by phosphorous loading. 

• Oil Control: Remove floatable oil found in land uses that typically generate high concentrations of 
oil due to high traffic turnover or the frequent transfer of oil. These may include commercial or 
industrial sites with large numbers of vehicles or oil activities, and also high traffic intersections. 

Table 4-2. Stormwater runoff treatment requirements for infiltration in 5 year time of 
travel of municipal drinking water wells by land use type 

Jurisdiction/ 
guidance 

Non-pollution-
generating 
surfaces 

Residential Commercial/ 
multifamily 

Industrial/high 
vehicle traffic 

area 

Ecology 
Stormwater 
Manual & UIC 
Guidance 

Pretreatment 

Ecology also 
requires that 
local codes be 
followed  

Basic treatment 

Ecology also 
requires that 
local codes be 
followed 

Basic treatment 

Ecology also 
requires that 
local codes be 
followed. 

Basic & oil 
control 

Pierce County Same as Ecology 

Fircrest Same as Ecology 

Lakewood Same as Ecology 

University Place Adopted the King County Surface Water Design Manual which is equivalent to 
the Ecology Stormwater Manual.  

Tacoma SWMM 
Outside STGPD, same as Ecology 

If in STGPD, follow STGPD Infiltration Policy 

STGPD 
Infiltration Policy 

No treatment 
required Basic treatment Enhanced 

treatment 
Enhanced and oil 
control 

50



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 13 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

Jurisdiction/ 
guidance 

Non-pollution-
generating 
surfaces 

Residential Commercial/ 
multifamily 

Industrial/high 
vehicle traffic 

area 

Redmond Pretreatment Basic treatment 

Infiltration 
prohibited 
(except in 
Marymoor – then 
enhanced) 

Infiltration 
prohibited 
(except in 
Marymoor – then 
enhanced and oil 
control) 

Renton 
Renton’s aquifer is unconfined and as shallow as 23 feet in places. Infiltration 
is prohibited in Zone 1. The prohibition also requires BMPs like detention 
ponds to be lined to prevent incidental infiltration. 

There are minor variations between the STGPD policy and adjacent jurisdictions, as well as broader 
City of Tacoma requirements that should be coordinated. 

4.4.4 Operation and Maintenance 
TMC 13.06.070.D includes enforcement mechanisms to ensure proper maintenance of stormwater 
BMPs, as a requirement of its NPDES permit. Pierce County and the other nearby cities have similar 
mechanisms in place to ensure proper maintenance.  

4.4.5 Inspection 
Covenant and easement agreements with the City of Tacoma are required for all new stormwater 
BMPs within the STGPD.  

4.4.6 Public Education 
The policy calls for a public education program. The inspection program is a primary source of this 
public education. Each jurisdiction has public education requirements through their NPDES 
stormwater permit. Coordination of these efforts makes for more effective messaging.  

4.4.7 Potential Areas for Modification 
A common theme in the sections above is that there are multiple jurisdictions with independent 
stormwater infiltration requirements. Pathways for potential modification to this part of the STGPD, 
and associated pros and cons, are summarized in Table 4-3. 

51



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 14 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

Table 4-3. Stormwater infiltration requirements coordination 

Topic Action Pros Cons 

No change  No shift in current 
practice. 

Some areas are 
more restrictive than 
others. Higher 
restrictions limit 
development and 
create cost. Lower 
restrictions create 
higher risk to the 
drinking water 
resource. 

Protection 
areas 

Evaluate WHPAs. Perform 
updated modeling to better 
define the flow of groundwater 
during various operating 
conditions for the existing 
municipal supply wells. Use 
that updated modeling to better 
define WHPAs. Evaluate the 
appropriate level of risk 
reduction through operational 
and structural BMPs for those 
WHPAs. Coordinate consistent 
application of those risk 
reduction strategies for all 
areas within the WHPAs. 

Uniform application of 
requirements without 
regard to municipal 
boundaries reduces risk, 
optimizes investments, 
and simplifies 
communication to the 
public. 

Updating 
groundwater models 
is time-consuming 
and expensive. 

Permitting 
Seek opportunities to align 
permit requirements among 
neighboring jurisdictions. 

  

Stormwater 
runoff 
treatment 

Note the difference in levels of 
protection between adjacent 
jurisdictional areas, such as 
using enhanced treatment vs 
basic treatment. Evaluate the 
cost/benefit of that approach 
and adopt a uniform approach 
across the jurisdictions. 

Clarity of requirements 
for developers.  

There may be 
differences of 
opinion in the 
cost/benefit of 
various levels of 
treatment between 
the jurisdictions. 

52



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 15 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

Topic Action Pros Cons 

Operation & 
maintenance 

Seek opportunities to 
coordinate policies and record 
keeping related to operation 
and maintenance 
requirements. 

  

Inspection 

Coordinate inspection 
programs across the 
jurisdictions to improve 
consistency and messaging to 
businesses and performance of 
stormwater BMPs. 

There may be a grant 
opportunity for 
developing a 
coordinated approach 
and also for funding 
inspectors. 

Each agency has 
different resources 
available and 
priorities identified 
for this work. 

Public 
education Align public education efforts. There may be grant 

opportunities.  

Recommendation: We recommend that stormwater regulations between the neighboring 
jurisdictions should be coordinated for consistent application and protection. 

4.5 Impervious Surfaces Standards and Aquifer Recharge 
Planning policies frequently define the amount of impervious surfaces that should be included in a 
new development proposal. This parameter in planning policy is selected for many reasons. Some 
jurisdictions are seeking a certain look and feel for a development. Others are limiting impervious 
surfaces to support flood protection or protect farmland. Another driver for impervious surface policy 
may be a desire to support groundwater recharge. This section discusses how impervious surface is 
addressed in policy and code. 

4.5.1 Impervious Surfaces 
Impervious surface means a hard surface which either prevents or retards the entry of water into the 
soil mantle as under natural conditions prior to development, and/or a hard surface area which 
causes water to run off the surface in greater quantities or at an increased rate of flow than the flow 
present under natural conditions prior to development. When stormwater runoff lands on impervious 
surfaces, the stormwater normally runs off of the hard surface, preventing that water from recharging 
the groundwater below. The stormwater runoff continues to streams where it may contribute to 
erosion, flooding, and transport of contaminants. 

4.5.2 Effective Impervious Surfaces 
The presence of an impervious surface does not necessarily result in reduction of groundwater 
recharge or in negative stormwater flow impacts to streams. It is possible to design a development 
site so that hard surfaces do not “prevent or retard the entry of water into the soil mantle”. In this 

53



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 16 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

case, the hard surface would not be “effective impervious”. An example of this would be a parking lot 
that is surrounded by a forest. If the forest is large enough, then stormwater runoff flowing off of the 
parking lot into the forest will infiltrate into the soils of the forest. In that case the forest is acting like 
an engineered BMP to collect and infiltrate the stormwater. A more engineered example would be 
that same parking including a collection system that collects all of the water and directs it to an 
underground chamber designed to infiltrate stormwater.  

4.5.3 Code Requirements 
The TMC requires new development and redevelopment to comply with the requirements within the 
Tacoma Stormwater Management Manual. These standards derive from the NPDES Municipal 
Stormwater Permit and so are generally consistent across large and medium sized cities and 
counties in western Washington. The permit requires application of minimum stormwater 
requirements. Stormwater management requirements vary based upon the proposed development. 
The primary driver in determining which stormwater requirements will apply is the amount of new 
and replaced hard surfaces. Projects with more hard surfaces have more stormwater requirements.  

What is significant to this conversation is the extent that stormwater infiltration may be required. 
When projects exceed 2,000 square feet (SF) of new and replaced hard surfaces, they are required 
to apply low impact development techniques (also known as on-site stormwater management or 
green stormwater infrastructure). These techniques are intended to keep stormwater onsite by letting 
it soak into the ground so that it does become concentrated stormwater that may cause erosion or 
flooding offsite. BMPs like pervious pavement, bioretention, or other infiltration practices meet this 
goal. In addition to meeting the intent of stream protection, they also perform the function of aquifer 
recharge. 

When projects exceed 5,000 SF of new and replaced hard surfaces, they are required to meet flow 
control standards that try to hold back stormwater flow from larger storms to provide even better 
stream protection. If soils are highly infiltrative, the standards and economics push projects toward 
infiltrating stormwater onsite.  

As projects trigger those thresholds and develop infiltration BMPs, they are also required to provide 
protection of surface receiving waters and groundwater from pollution. That requirement means that 
infiltration system design considers the land uses, the proximity to drinking water wells, and the soil 
characteristics at the site. They may be required to provide treatment prior to infiltration or may not 
be allowed to infiltrate based on potential risk to the aquifer of contributing pollution or causing the 
migration of existing pollution within aquifers. 

The TMC also applies stormwater utility rates based on the amount of impervious area on property. 
Properties with a higher percentage of impervious area pay higher utility rates than less densely 
developed property. This is intended to more fairly apply utility rates to properties that contribute to 
stormwater runoff and the costs of managing that stormwater. This also has the effect of providing 
some incentive to reduce the amount of impervious area on a property. 

4.5.4 Code Alternatives 
Pierce County is currently considering new aquifer recharge and WHPA standards. That proposed 
code defines “maximum impervious surface coverage” by various land use designations as a way to 
“ensure sufficient groundwater recharge”. An alternative to meeting the impervious area limits that is 

54



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 17 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

included in the proposed code is to demonstrate that engineered infiltration facilities will result in 
infiltration “the same or greater for post-development as the pre-development volume”. “The 
maximum impervious surface coverage is calculated for the total amount of impervious surface per 
each individual site. The percentage for maximum total impervious surface per lot or site may be 
exceeded if the applicant can demonstrate that the effective impervious surface on the site is less 
than or equal to what is allowed for the total impervious surface.” 

The City of Redmond addresses this issue through their SEPA authority, routinely requiring 
development projects to provide stormwater infiltration at least equal to the amount of infiltration on 
the site prior to a redevelopment project. They also require that proposed development projects 
identify feasible locations for stormwater infiltration on their properties during the land use 
entitlement phase of development (RMC 21.17.010.E.1). 

Recommendations: 

• In consideration of standards designed to encourage aquifer recharge through reduction of 
impervious area, such standards should consider both the benefits of aquifer recharge and 
the risk to the aquifer that may be presented by stormwater infiltration. The benefits of 
aquifer recharge from a specific project will depend on the soil characteristics of the site and 
the path of groundwater flowing from the site and from the larger area serving the aquifer. 
The risk from stormwater infiltration will also depend on land uses and the potential presence 
of groundwater or soil contamination at the site and in its vicinity.  

• The community should identify where its priorities lie. Code language can be crafted to 
require developers, during feasibility, to evaluate infiltration potential as a primary variable 
before selecting the final form of a proposed development. Such language must balance the 
drivers of growth management with protections of critical resources. 

• The community should align aquifer protections with neighboring jurisdictions, applying the 
watershed approach that is common in river management to protections placed for the 
underground rivers that make up the drinking water aquifers. 

5.0 Summary of Recommendations 
Recommendations identified in previous sections of this document are summarized below. 

1. Tacoma should coordinate with neighboring jurisdictions regarding the development of 
policies and regulations protecting groundwater resources because of the overlap between 
land use jurisdictions and mapped WHPAs. 

2. We recommend using the recently produced USGS Southeast Sound groundwater model of 
the aquifers in the SSA, in conjunction with utility-prepared WHPAs, to better quantify the 
risks to the aquifers, thereby determining in greater detail which areas should be afforded 
more or less protection. With that information in hand, work with neighboring jurisdictions to 
identify the best path to coordinate protections. Seek ways of using common terminology and 
language in code, which may result in the use of overlay districts, WHPAs, CARAs, and/or 
other terminology that is found to be most effective at communicating with the broader 
communities. 

3. Revising the City’s CARA regulations to apply to the SSA boundaries, while also maintaining 
the current STGPD overlay, will allow for the CARA to be in better alignment with 

55



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 18 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

Washington State rules while maintaining the integrity of current STGPD protections. The 
basis for this segregation is the surficial geology of the area occupied by the STGPD 
compared to the remainder of the SSA located within the City of Tacoma boundary. 

4. The STGPD code as currently located is an effective way of addressing aquifer protection in 
this area. It is recommended that the overlay continue. However, there is value in expanding 
the City’s CARA regulations to apply to the entire SSA. Additional technical analysis or 
modeling of surficial geology, well use, and groundwater flow patterns, coordinated between 
the neighboring jurisdictions, would result in a better understanding of land use risk to the 
aquifers, which could then be used to inform protective measures within the SSA but outside 
the STGPD. 

5. We recommend that for CARA regulations that would apply throughout the SSA, surficial 
geology be used as a primary determinant of risk of impact to groundwater and that the 
special protections afforded by the STGPD ordinances and its performance standards be 
maintained. Additionally, some areas of the STGPD with underlying geology indicating lower 
risk of impact to groundwater (such as the Tacoma Mall area) could be allowed additional 
uses or less restriction if desired. The same mapping could also be used to establish 
additional prohibitions/ restrictions/performance standards in areas where it is necessary. 
Existing geologic mapping are likely sufficient for policy determinations, although any 
implementation may warrant site-specific assessment on a project basis. 

6. We recommend that stormwater regulations between the neighboring jurisdictions be 
coordinated for consistent application and protection. 

7. In consideration of standards designed to encourage aquifer recharge through reduction of 
impervious area, such standards should consider both the benefits of aquifer recharge and 
the risk to the aquifer that may be presented by stormwater infiltration. The benefits of 
aquifer recharge from a specific project will depend on the soil characteristics of the site and 
the path of groundwater flowing from the site and from the larger area serving the aquifer. 
The risk from stormwater infiltration will also depend on land uses and the potential presence 
of groundwater or soil contamination at the site and in its vicinity. 

8. The community should identify where its priorities lie. Code language can be crafted to 
require developers, during feasibility, to evaluate infiltration potential as a primary variable 
before selecting the final form of a proposed development. Such language must balance the 
drivers of growth management with protections of critical resources. 

9. The community should align aquifer protections with neighboring jurisdictions, applying the 
watershed approach that is common in river management to protections placed for the 
underground rivers that make up the drinking water aquifers. 

Additional general observations and recommendations regarding the STGPD and related 
groundwater and stormwater management regulations are: 

1. Monitoring network. Given the potential vulnerability of the drinking water resource, the 
feasibility of the creation of a comprehensive groundwater monitoring program should be 
explored. The benefits of a monitoring program include the ability to gauge the effectiveness 
of the City’s protection measures, establish a data set to evaluate the need for modifying 
those measures, and the evaluation of potential impacts from upgradient sources of impact 
in jurisdictions that are beyond the control of the City. It should be noted that the TPCHD, 

56



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 19 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

from 1992-1995, proposed an extensive groundwater monitoring program as part of the 
Groundwater Management Plan for the Chambers Clover Creek Basin. The City and TPCHD 
could revisit this as part of coordination efforts with the County on protecting the SSA. Some 
jurisdictions, such as the City of Issaquah, do not have a formal program of sentinel wells, 
but do keep track of data from cleanup sites and projects that come to their attention, 
creating an informal way of monitoring for contaminants. 

2. Jurisdictional alignment of groundwater protection measures. Ultimately, a single, uniform 
groundwater management and protection program for the SSA should be enacted. Such a 
program would ensure uniform land-use controls, protective measures and controls across 
all jurisdictions within and utilizing the SSA. This would require coordination between the City 
of Tacoma, Pierce County, and the smaller cities and towns within the SSA boundaries. 
There is some precedent in underground storage tank and Food/Community Safety 
regulations administered by TPCHD under concurrent rules codified in City of Tacoma and 
Pierce County Ordinances and TPCHD Health Codes.  

3. Alignment of City land use codes with stormwater management requirements is important. 
Seek strategies to encourage or require stormwater infiltration where feasible and 
appropriate early in the development process. Seek strategies to help developers 
understand these requirements early so they can plan around them instead of being 
surprised late in their project. 

 

6.0 Attachments 
1. Table of jurisdictional comparison of high impact use regulations (separate file, Excel) 

2. Figures (appended to this TM file) 

57



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 20 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

 

58



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 21 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

 

59



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 22 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

 

60



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 23 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

 

61



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 24 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

 

62



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 25 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

 

63



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 26 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

 

64



DRAFT (For Discussion Purposes) 

Tacoma Water Integrated Resource Plan Update 27 
South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District Review 

 

65



66



Agenda Item 
F3 

 
 
 
City of Tacoma 
Planning and Development Services 

 

  

  
 
 
 
 

To:  Planning Commission 
From: Stephen Atkinson, Planning and Development Services  
Subject: One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan Update – Amendment Review  
Memo Date: March 27, 2025 
Meeting Date: April 2, 2025 

Action Requested:  
Provide direction on potential amendments to the Draft One Tacoma Plan as introduced by 
the Commission in response to public comment.  

Discussion:  
On April 2, 2025, the Planning Commission will review proposed amendments to the draft 
One Tacoma Plan and provide guidance to staff on the Commission’s concurrence with the 
proposed amendments. Following the Commission’s direction, staff will begin the process of 
incorporating the approved amendments into the draft One Tacoma Plan. Staff is requesting 
Commission consideration of a special meeting on April 23, 2025, at 5:00 PM to make a final 
recommendation to the City Council. In addition, the Planning Commission will receive an 
overview of the Transportation Commission’s recommendation on the Transportation and 
Mobility Plan and the final amendments approved by the Transportation Commission. The 
Transportation Commission’s letter of recommendation is attached, along with a summary of 
the final amendments.  

Project Summary and Background: 
Tacoma’s Comprehensive Plan, One Tacoma, is the City’s official statement concerning its 
vision for future growth and development. It identifies goals, policies, and strategies for 
maintaining the health, welfare, and quality of life of Tacoma’s residents. The Comprehensive 
Plan comprises numerous individual elements, including elements addressing such important 
issues as urban form, design and development, environment and watershed health, parks 
and recreation, housing, economic development, and transportation and infrastructure. 

The City of Tacoma amends its Comprehensive Plan on an annual basis as permitted by state 
law. In addition to these regular amendments, the Growth Management Act (GMA) requires 
counties and cities to periodically conduct a thorough review of their plans and regulations 
to bring them in line with any relevant changes in the GMA, and to accommodate updated 
growth targets. RCW 36.70A.130 establishes the review procedures and schedule for 
Comprehensive Plan amendments and periodic review. Tacoma last completed such a 
“periodic update” in 2015 and is mandated to undertake and complete another “periodic 
update”. 

In addition, the City of Tacoma is the designated “Metropolitan City” for Pierce County and 

67

https://www.cityoftacoma.org/onetacoma
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.130


Planning Commission  
One Tacoma Comprehensive Plan Update  
April 2, 2025 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 

 

is allocated, through Vision 2050 and the Countywide Planning Policies, to accommodate a 
significant share of the region’s population and employment growth. The Puget Sound 
Regional Council evaluates and certifies local comprehensive plans for consistency with the 
multi-county planning policies (see the Plan Review Manual, page 27). The Comprehensive 
Plan update will include a review and update to ensure consistency with the goals and 
policies of Vision 2050. 

Prior Actions:  
• March 19, 2025: Debrief of public comment on the Draft Plan; consideration and 

approval of staff recommended amendments.  
• March 5, 2025: Public hearing on the Draft One Tacoma Plan.  
• February 5, 2025: Set a public hearing date and released the Draft One Tacoma Plan 

for public review and comment.  
• December 18, 2024: Reviewed the Pierce Transit Long Range Plan and the proposed 

High Frequency Transit network of the Transportation and Mobility Plan.  
• December 4, 2024: Reviewed the planning requirements for the Environment Element 

(part 2) and the Engagement Element.  
• November 20, 2024: Reviewed planning requirements for the Economic Development 

and Environment Elements  
• November 6, 2024: Reviewed planning requirements for the Transportation Element 

and Design and Development Element. 
• October 16, 2024: Reviewed planning requirements for the Historic Preservation 

Element.  
• October 4, 2024: Reviewed planning requirements for the Urban Form Element. 
• September 18, 2024: Reviewed planning requirements for the Public Facilities + 

Services Element including opportunities to better align goals and policies with level 
of service standards and project prioritization criteria. 

• September 4, 2024: Reviewed planning requirements for the Parks + Recreation 
Element including opportunities to better align goals and policies with the Metro Parks 
Tacoma System and Strategic Plan. 

• June 21, 2023: Reviewed planning requirements for the Periodic Update and recent 
legislative updates pertaining to housing and climate policy. 

• December 20, 2023: Recommended scope of work and engagement strategy.  

Staff Contacts:  
• Stephen Atkinson, Principal Planner, satkinson@cityoftacoma.org 
• Maryam Moeinian, Senior Planner, mmoeinian@cityoftacoma.org 
• Alyssa Torrez, Senior Planner, atorrez@cityoftacoma.org  
• Carrie Wilhelme, Principal Transportation Planner, cwilhelme@cityoftacoma.org  

Attachments: 
• Attachment 1 – Transportation Commission Letter of Recommendation  
• Attachment 2 – Planning Commission Proposed Amendments  

c. Peter Huffman, Director 

68

https://www.psrc.org/planning-2050/vision-2050
https://www.piercecountywa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/92170/Countywide-Planning-Policies-adopted-by-2022-29?bidId=
https://www.psrc.org/media/3565
mailto:satkinson@cityoftacoma.org
mailto:mmoeinian@cityoftacoma.org
mailto:atorrez@cityoftacoma.org
mailto:cwilhelme@cityoftacoma.org


 
City of Tacoma 
Transporta�on Commission  
 
 

March 1, 2025 

Re: Dra� 2025 Transporta�on and Mobility Plan 

Dear Chair Karnes and the Members of the Planning Commission: 

The Transporta�on Commission (TC) has provided extensive feedback on the direc�on and content of the 2025 
Transporta�on and Mobility Plan (TMP) over the past six months through its regular and special mee�ngs and directly to 
city staff. Upon release of the dra� document, TC members carefully reviewed the final document, and discussed their 
findings at their mee�ng on February 19. The TC fully supports the vision of the TMP to create and sustain a 
transforma�onal mul�modal transporta�on system that connects people to place and people to people.  

As the Planning Commission considers the document, we want to highlight several themes that are present throughout 
the document that we think exemplify the future transporta�on system for the city of Tacoma. 

1.Shi� Away from Past Focus on Single-Occupancy Vehicles 

Tacoma has designed its transporta�on system around single-occupancy vehicles (SOVs), which is reflected in many 
features of the City. From excessively wide streets to the general expecta�on of availability of parking, driving has been 
the most favored method of transporta�on for a long �me.  The City’s plans and funding priori�es have both reflected 
and reinforced this approach.  

The 2025 Transporta�on and Mobility fully breaks with this approach, shi�ing the residents of the city to provide more 
op�ons for alterna�ve modes to enjoy and travel within the city. We understand that many Tacomans will con�nue to 
drive, at least some of the �me. However, par�cularly where mode priori�es overlap, and spa�al needs exceed the 
available right-of-way, the TC has strongly advocated for eleva�ng walking, rolling, bicycling and par�cularly transit at 
the expense of single occupancy vehicles. The most important benefit of this approach is that it is the only method the 
TC believes can meet Tacoma’s transporta�on needs arising from Tacoma’s projected growth in housing and 
employment. 

2.Repair of Past Harms in Transporta�on Policy and Funding 

The goal of transporta�on should be to support and connect our community. But we acknowledge that in the past, it has 
been used as a method to divide and segregate por�ons of our community. Furthermore, past funding prac�ces has 
resulted in dispari�es of transporta�on facili�es, access and ameni�es across the City. This is intolerable and must be 
reversed. The data analysis of Vision Zero showed that this disparate funding and investment has created undue harm in 
our low- and very low opportunity neighborhoods.  

This plan aims to repair past harms by transparently priori�zing transporta�on funding to areas of Tacoma which are 
underserved and experience elevated levels of traffic violence. Transporta�on projects all over Tacoma will be built. 
However, following the project priori�za�on criteria uses Tacoma’s Equity Index to push projects in underserved areas 
to the top of the priori�zed list. We are proud to endorse a plan that will start to right some of the wrongs of the past.   

3.Support 15-Minute Neighborhoods to Build Connec�ons 

During the community engagement process and during our outreach to the community, we repeatedly heard our 
community members strongly support increased access to ameni�es within a short distance of where they live. They 
desire the sense of neighborhood, connec�on and place that result from a focus on the street as part of the public realm 
and not only a place to move or store vehicles. The 2025 Transporta�on and Mobility Plan provides this support through 
many goals and policies that will create a right-of-way to safely allows people to connect to people and places. 

 

 

69



4. A Thriving Economy  

Many aspects of our transporta�on system support successful economic ac�vi�es: space on the curb for delivery 
vehicles, employment opportuni�es in proximity to housing, sidewalks that promote access to local businesses, well-
maintained roads for transit and freight. The TC agreed with expanding the defini�on of business-suppor�ve 
transporta�on to reflect new technologies and commercial innova�ons, which are discussed throughout the TPM. At the 
same �me, the TMP’s emphasis on walking, rolling, bicycling and transit must be viewed as fully suppor�ve of business 
ac�vity. Fi�een-minute neighborhoods thrive precisely because they enhance the opportunity to play, work, and shop 
locally. 

5. Community Involvement and Transparency 

The TC feels strongly that Tacomans want to know how decisions about the transporta�on system are being made and 
what kind of progress we’re making towards the goals that we set. Residents and business owners also want to 
contribute to plans for their neighborhood and their City. New language in the TMP emphasizes community 
involvement, transparency, and performance monitoring. Data to demonstrate performance may not always be in place 
yet. The TMP commits the city to produce clear, meaningful informa�on about progress, so that we can beter target 
resources over �me to meet our goals. 

Modifica�ons 

The TC has suggested numerous minor edits to enhance clarity and improve adherence to the themes above that will be 
integrated into the revised plan. The one area where the TC sees the need for major revision is to the concept of 
transit level of service which will support performance monitoring. This is a new concept in the TMP, and it requires a 
bit more work to get it right. Transit LOS should include more than just how we get to a transit stop or sta�on and the 
frequency of trips. It should also include a measure of travel �me performance, so we can improve intersec�ons that 
cause delay to transit users. A LOS standard will ensure that our city has a successful transit system as we con�nue to 
grow.  A re-writen version of this sec�on will be provided in the revised dra�.  

To conclude, the Transporta�on Commission thanks the Planning Commission for the opportunity to explain its vision, as 
expressed in the Transporta�on and Mobility Plan, and provide minor comments on the already well-cra�ed document. 
We strongly support the commitment presented in the Plan, to create and sustain for Tacoma a transforma�onal 
mul�modal transporta�on system that connects people to place and people to people, and we urge the Planning 
Commission to adopt the TMP. 

Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Bruce Morris     Mat Stevens 
Co-Chair, Transporta�on Commission  Co-Chair, Transporta�on Commission 
 
 
 
Cc: 
Tacoma Infrastructure, Planning, and Sustainability Commitee 
Tacoma City Manager Elizabeth Pauli 
Public Works Director Ramiro A. Chavez, P.E. PgMP 
Sustainable Tacoma Commission 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Technical Advisory Group 
Parking Technical Advisory Group 
 
 

70



No. Commissioner Topic/Element Page 
1.  Karnes Growth Strategy (Commercial Zoning Update) 3 
2.  Karnes Complete Neighborhoods (Visual Clutter) 5 
3.  Karnes Public Facilities & Services (Electrification)  7 
4.  Karnes Growth Strategy (Neighborhood Centers) 9 
5.  Karnes Growth Strategy (Parking lots) 12 
6.  Karnes Public Facilities & Services (Telecommunication Infrastructure)  15 
7.  Karnes Transportation (Multiple) 19 
8.  Karnes Housing (Tenant Protections, Social Housing) 24 
9.  Karnes  Economic Development (Freighthouse Square)  27 
10.  Krehbiel/Swinford Economic Development (Economic Green Zone) 29 
11.  Krehbiel/Swinford Economic Development (Freight)  31 
12.  Krehbiel/Rash/Marlo Environment & Watershed Health (Litter)  32 
13.  Krehbiel/Rash/Marlo Environment & Watershed Health (Stormwater Runoff) 33 
14.  Krehbiel/Rash/Marlo Environment & Watershed Health (Pollution) 34 
15.  Krehbiel Environment & Watershed Health (Polluters pay principle) 35 
16.  Krehbiel Environment & Watershed Health (Urban Heat Island)  36 
17.  Krehbiel Environment & Watershed Health (Sea Level Rise Adaptation) 37 
18.  Krehbiel/Marlo Environment & Watershed Health (Environmental Justice)  38 
19.  Krehbiel/Marlo Growth Strategy (Trees) 39 
20.  Krehbiel Growth Strategy (Green Space in Regional Growth Center) 40 
21.  Krehbiel  Economic Development (Fossil Fuels in MICs)  41 
22.  Krehbiel Housing (Homelessness)  42 
23.  Krehbiel/Marlo Economic Development (Small Business Tenant Protections)  43 
24.  Marlo/Krehbiel Housing (Social Housing) 44 
25.  Marlo Growth Strategy (Integration of Small Businesses)   47 
26.  Marlo Complete Neighborhoods (Protected Bike Lanes)  51 
27.  Marlo Public Facilities & Services (Climate Adaptation)   53 
28.  Martenson Transportation (Activation Strategies)  55 
29.  Martenson Transportation (Map-State St.) 56 
30.  Martenson Transportation (Map- Streetcar extension) 57 
31.  Martenson Transportation (Map- Pedestrian Network) 58 
32.  Martenson Environment & Watershed Health (Stormwater Infiltration)  59 
33.  Martenson Environment & Watershed Health (Priority Habitats) 61 
34.  Rash Housing (Affordable Housing) 63 
35.  Rash  Environment & Watershed Health (Flett Creek) 65 
36.  Rash Environment & Watershed Health (Wildfire Risk)  66 
37.  Rash Environment & Watershed Health (Prairies) 67 
38.  Rash Economic Development (Solar) 68 

 

Page 1 of 68

71



Page 2 of 68

72



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Chair Karnes     Date: 2025-03-24 

Element/Topic: Improving definitions and focus areas in the Commercial Zoning Update  

      Vision      Housing       Parks + Recreation  

 X    Growth Strategy        Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

The plan programs a commercial zoning update that includes updates to design and development 
standards. Commercial areas may be considered for new and expanded mixed use centers. Current 
language does not provide bounds for changed mixed use center geographies. Minimum height, lot 
coverage, Floor Area Ratio, and other density standards may be considered.  

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

The amendment would update Action GS-2.3 regarding the Commercial Zoning Update. Design and 
development standards would emphasize per capita vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and greenhouse gas 
(GHG) reductions.  It would add criteria to describe areas appropriate for incorporation into existing 
centers, and target new mixed use centers (in this action) in neighborhood council districts without a 
mixed use center (i.e. NE Tacoma). It would also enable potential consolidation of commercial zones 
into mixed use zones in the code. 

TEXT: 

Amendment - Revised Action GS-2.3: Conduct commercial zoning update,  including the following: 

• Update design and development standards for General and Neighborhood Commercial Zones 
to implement the goals and policies of the One Tacoma Plan, emphasizing per capita VMT and 
GHG reductions. 

• Identify commercial (and adjacent residential) areas appropriate for consideration as new 
Mixed-Use Centers or for incorporation into existing centers. Areas appropriate for 

Page 3 of 68

73



One Tacoma Page 2 

incorporation into existing centers should be contiguous with the existing center and generally 
within 1/8th  mile of a pedestrian street and within a 15 minute walk shed of the center of the 
Mixed-Use Center being expanded.  New Mixed-Use Centers should be considered only for 
areas in Neighborhood Council Districts that do not contain a Mixed-Use Center. 

• Consider minimum height, lot coverage, Floor Area Ratio, or other density standards for new 
development 

• Consider consolidation of General and Neighborhood Commercial Zones into mixed-use zones 
(e.g. NCX, CCX, UR-3, etc.) 

Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? Yes, references Sustainable Tacoma Commission to 
strengthen actions to reduce climate impacts. 
 

• What policies would this support? RCW 36.70A Urban Form Element (3): Transportation. 
Encourage efficient multimodal transportation systems that will reduce greenhouse gas 
emission and per capita vehicle miles traveled, and are based on regional priorities and 
coordinated with county and city comprehensive plans. Responds to HB 1181 regarding the 
importance of climate-friendly zoning actions, which may be required by the time that the 
Commercial Zoning Update is completed. 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Pro:  

1. Would emphasize State-mandated policy considerations for climate and transportation for 
future planning actions.   

2. Would potentially leverage existing mixed use code and enable code simplification to reduce 
burden on planning staff in the long term.   

3. Would allow the addition of adjacent residential areas within limits, versus being limited to 
commercial-only, supporting growth targets and 15-minute neighborhoods.   

4. Would set guidelines to govern the addition of new mixed use centers in this action and 
support continuity with existing mixed use centers and their surrounding neighborhoods.   

5. Would allow staff to focus public engagement with NE Tacoma about a potential new mixed use 
center, versus being spread across more areas of the city. 

Con:  

1. May reduce the number of new mixed use centers created as a part of this action and their 
related benefits.   

2. May expand mixed use centers in areas near pedestrian streets identified as Low Scale 
Residential, which would have impacts that need to be identified and potentially mitigated. 

 

Page 4 of 68

74



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner: Chair Karnes     Date: 2025-03-24 

Element/Topic: Minimizing visual impacts of elevated railways 

      Vision      Housing       Parks + Recreation  

     Growth Strategy       Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

The Complete Neighborhoods chapter identifies history, character of neighborhoods and general 
methods to support evolution of Tacoma to broaden the accessibility of walkable 15-minute 
neighborhoods.  The current draft policy 3.2 seeks to “reduce and minimize visual clutter related to 
billboards, signs, utility infrastructure and other similar elements”, but is not fully reflective of recent 
findings by the joint Planning and Transportation Commission session on the Sound Transit Tacoma 
Dome Link Extension (TDLE) project about the impacts of elevated guideway within public right of 
way. 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

This substitute policy aims to reduce visual clutter and negative impacts from infrastructure – like 
signs, utilities, and transit structures – by prioritizing undergrounding, context-sensitive design, and 
minimizing their overall visual and physical footprint, especially in key areas. 

Amendment: Replace Policy CN-3.2: Minimize visual clutter and negative impacts related to 
billboards, signs, utility infrastructure, and elevated transportation structures, especially on narrow 
streets. Prioritize undergrounding utilities in designated centers, scenic areas, and along high-
capacity transit corridors. High capacity transit system design should minimize visual impact while 
sustaining high capacity, through options like undergrounding or at-grade operations, and where 
elevated guideways are unavoidable, designs should utilize narrow guideway construction and 
incorporate context-sensitive design that mitigates shadows, minimizes noise, provides visual 

Page 5 of 68

75



One Tacoma Page 2 

screening, and enhances pedestrian comfort and safety. Overhead catenary wires for transit power 
are exempt from this policy. 

 

Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? Yes, previously discussed with the Transportation 
Commission the importance of minimizing impacts due to elevated rail guide ways, especially 
on narrow streets. 
 

• What policies would this support? Broadly supported by VISION 2050: MPP-RGS-8-11 
(Focusing growth near high capacity transit station areas), MPP-RGS-6, DP-1, DP-3 (Support 
development of compact urban communities and central places with densities that support 
the Regional Growth Strategy, transit and walking), MPP-DP-4, DP-Action-7 (Promote infill in 
centers), MPP-DP-12-15, DP-17 (Support design of transportation infrastructure that 
improves communities), MPP-DP-22, DP-Action-8 (Maximizing benefits of transit 
investments). 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Pro:  

• Enhanced Aesthetics: Creates a more visually appealing environment, improving the overall 
quality of life and potentially boosting property values. 

• Improved Pedestrian Experience: Prioritizing pedestrian comfort and safety makes walking 
more enjoyable and encourages active transportation. 

• Preserved Views & Character: Protects scenic areas and maintains the unique character of 
neighborhoods. 

Con:  

• Potentially Increased Costs: Undergrounding utilities and constructing visually-sensitive 
transit infrastructure is significantly more expensive than traditional methods or exclusive 
use of city right of way. 

• Construction Disruption: Extensive underground work and complex construction can cause 
significant disruption to residents and businesses. 

• Potential for Compromises: Achieving both functionality and minimal visual impact may re-
quire compromises in transit capacity or efficiency. 

 

Page 6 of 68

76



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner: Chair Karnes     Date: 2025-03-24 

Element/Topic: Support expanding electric buses and trains in Tacoma through utility rate and 
incentive programs 

      Vision      Housing       Parks + Recreation  

     Growth Strategy      Transportation  X    Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

The Plan includes a chapter on Public Facilities and Services, including facilities, level of service 
standards, goals and policies.  The plan identifies both power and transportation as vital public 
investments to meet required level of service standards to support growth.  However, the PFS chapter 
is very light on connections to support climate policy or transportation electrification, which is a key 
strategy for meeting the city’s goal of net-zero emissions by 2050.  The chapter does include some 
reference to PSRC policies that support mitigation of risks and use of fossil fuels more generally. 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

• Prioritizes Electric Transportation: The city will actively favor expanding options like electric 
buses, light rail, and other electric vehicles as a core strategy for reducing pollution and improv-
ing the transportation system. 

• Supports a Long-Term Plan: Tacoma Public Utilities will develop an updated plan by 2039 to in-
tegrate electric transportation infrastructure into its offering of conservation and efficiency 
programs available to ratepayers. 

• Financial Support & Ratepayer Protection: These policies create special rates, incentive pro-
grams, financing and large investments, but keep costs reasonable for utility customers within 
state limits. 

TEXT: 

Amendment - New Policy PFS-X.X: Prioritize the expansion of electrified transportation options, 

Page 7 of 68

77



One Tacoma Page 2 

including both grid-tied and battery-operated transit systems, as a key strategy for reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions, improving air quality, and enhancing the transportation system. 

Amendment - New Policy PFS-X.X: Support Tacoma Public Utilities’ development of an updated 
Transportation Electrification Plan by 2039, as authorized by RCW 35.92.450, to facilitate the cost-
effective integration of both grid-tied and battery-operated electrified transit infrastructure into the 
transportation network, through rates, incentive programs, financing and large capital investments, 
while ensuring minimal impact on ratepayers. 

Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? Yes, Sustainable Tacoma Commission requests that greater 
action be taken to support and implement the Climate Action Plan to mitigate community-
produced greenhouse gas emissions and advance walkable and transit-friendly environments. 
 

• What policies would this support?  MPP-PS-13-15, PS-20-21 (Consider potential impacts of 
climate change on public facilities and support the necessary investments to move to low-
carbon energy sources), MPP-PS-3-4, PS-8-9, PS-13-14, PS-23-25 (Promote coordinate planning 
for services and facilities that support the Regional Growth Strategy [i.e. transit-oriented 
development]) 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Pro:  

• Supports Climate Goals: Directly advances the city’s net-zero emissions goal by prioritizing 
electric transportation, which represents over 40% of all community-attributable emissions. 

• Addresses Public Feedback: Responds to requests from the Sustainable Tacoma Commission 
and demonstrates responsiveness to community concerns. 

• Aligns with Existing Policies: Supports and strengthens existing policies related to climate 
change, regional growth, and sustainable development. 

• Promotes Innovation: Encourages investment in and development of electric transportation in-
frastructure and programs. 

• Potential for Long-Term Cost Savings: While initial investment is required, electric transporta-
tion can potentially reduce long-term energy costs and improve air quality. 

Con:  

• Financial Investment: Requires upfront investment in infrastructure, programs, and incentives. 
• Dependence on Grid Capacity: Increased demand for electricity from electric vehicles may re-

quire upgrades to the power grid and investment in new generating capacity by TPU. 

 

Page 8 of 68

78



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form

Planning Commissioner: Chair Karnes Date: 2025-03-24 

Element/Topic: Reflect the compact development pattern of neighborhood centers, expand public 
space in crossroads centers, and enable strategic connections to high capacity transit system 

 Vision   Housing  Parks + Recreation  

 X    Growth Strategy   Transportation  Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

 Economic Development  Historic Preservation  

 Engagement + Administration 

 

What the current draft does on this topic: 

The Plan describes Neighborhood Centers and Crossroads Centers.  The description of neighborhood 
centers could do a better job of recognizing how those centers developed historically as compact 
mixed use areas served by frequent rail transit that connected to Downtown satisfying conditions of 
transit-oriented development. In some ways the description is not well connected with Goal GS-10. 

 The Plan under Goal GS-9 (Crossroads Centers) is generally silent about the need for public space in 
Crossroads Centers that could take the form of design standards, instead opting to focus on the 
creation of parks and public squares that are provided. Without city ownership of right of way or land 
within crossroads centers, it’s difficult to see how new parks or public squares would take shape.  
Some language does encourage these features in Transit Oriented Areas, which may not be all 
Crossroads Centers. 

The current draft identifies Crossroads Centers as centers that are linked to the region’s high capacity 
transit system.  However, crossroads centers are a very diverse geography, including Point Ruston, 
Westgate, 72nd and Portland among others not located on Tier-1 transit corridors, potentially creating 
an inconsistency in the Plan.  Conversely, neighborhood centers are not identified for any connections 
to the regional transit system in the Growth Strategy, which differs from defined Tier-1 transit 
corridors in the Transportation and Mobility Plan. 

☒Text change   ☐Map change

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

The amendment would modify the description of Neighborhood Centers to reflect their compact, 

Page 9 of 68

79



One Tacoma Page 2 

transit-oriented nature, would emphasize the importance of integrating public space into Crossroads 
Centers through design standards (regardless of whether they are on the regional transit network or 
not) and recognize that not all crossroads centers need to be connected to the Regional Transit 
System.  The amendment would also support connections to the regional transit system for 
neighborhood centers, especially those on the Tier-1 transit corridor map, such as Lincoln, South 
Tacoma, and 6th Avenue. 

TEXT: 

Amendment - Replace Neighborhood Center Description: Neighborhood Centers are compact, 
walkable, and transit-oriented mixed-use areas that serve as central focal points for daily needs, public 
events, community discourse and programming. Many such centers were rooted in Tacoma’s historic 
streetcar era (1888-1938), see Chapter 3 – Complete Neighborhoods. These centers prioritize 
pedestrian and bicycle access and are well-served by local and regional transit. Development focuses 
on a mix of residential and commercial uses, with a strong emphasis on space-efficient transportation 
solutions. Unlike some commercial areas, neighborhood centers minimize off-street surface parking, 
relying on sustainable modes of transportation, managed on-street parking, and structured parking to 
support compact economic development. Buildings are generally up to six stories along commercial 
corridors, transitioning to up to three stories at the periphery near low-scale residential districts, and 
up to four stories in areas between the core and the periphery. 

Amendment - New Policy GS–10.5: Prioritize frequent and accessible local transit service to 
Neighborhood Centers, recognizing their historical role as transit-oriented communities. Explore 
potential connections to the regional high-capacity transit system with Sound Transit and Pierce 
Transit, including the siting of maintenance and operations facilities for light rail in centers on Tier-1 
corridors on the Frequent Transit Network to enhance access and connectivity to compact, walkable 
Tacoma neighborhoods from the regional transit system and to advance the goals and policies of the 
Transit Element. 

Amendment - Revised Policy GS-9.2: Improve Crossroads Centers as multimodal transportation hubs 
that optimize access from the broad area of the city they serve and are linked to the region’s high-
capacity transit system.  with ample and prominent public spaces through design standards, which 
optimize access to areas they serve and are linked to the region’s transportation network. While 
connection to the region’s high-capacity transit system is encouraged where feasible, it is recognized 
that not all Crossroads Centers can or will benefit from, or require such a connection. 
 

Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? Yes, Transportation Commission requests in their vision that 
high capacity transit be advanced across four different corridors: S 19th, 6th Avenue, Pacific 
Avenue, and South Tacoma Way.  Public comment encouraged development of transit on South 
Tacoma Way, 6th Avenue, and areas that serve alcohol to reduce drinking and driving, and 

Page 10 of 68

80



One Tacoma Page 3 

support for a more comprehensive train and bus system. 
 

• What policies would this support? Broadly supported by VISION 2050: MPP-RGS-8-11 (Focusing 
growth near high capacity transit station areas), MPP-RGS-6, DP-1, DP-3 (Support development 
of compact urban communities and central places with densities that support the Regional 
Growth Strategy, transit and walking), MPP-DP-4, DP-Action-7 (Promote infill in centers), MPP-
DP-12-15, DP-17 (Support design of transportation infrastructure that improves communities), 
MPP-DP-22, DP-Action-8 (Maximizing benefits of transit investments). 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Pro:  

1. Reflects the history of neighborhood centers as transit-oriented development outside of 
Downtown (e.g. Lincoln District, South Tacoma, McKinley, 6th Avenue). 

2. Amplifies the policy intent to expand public spaces in areas where commercial uses and surface 
parking are dominant, leaving little room for discourse, place making, or pleasant environments 
for pedestrians (such as outdoor seating, water features, green spaces, etc.) 

3. Enables the city to strategically request alignment changes from Sound Transit for rail and rail 
supporting facilities to be located in areas where future rail expansion is supported in the Plan 

4. Supports cohesion of the Plan by actively referencing transportation plan elements in the 
growth strategy 

Con:  

1. May require some private investment or public-private partnerships within Crossroads Centers 
for public access and amenities 

2. Siting transit facilities outside of regional growth centers could affect community character and 
would prompt discussion with neighborhoods about how to apply Design Review and right of 
way standards that benefit neighborhood safety, access and mobility and offsets impacts. 

 

Page 11 of 68

81



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner: Chair Karnes     Date: 2025-03-24 

Element/Topic: Surface parking development incentives, planning for public investments in 
transportation 

      Vision      Housing       Parks + Recreation  

 X    Growth Strategy        Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

The plan identifies 10% of Tacoma’s land area as parking or vacant (Exhibit 3), some of which exists 
nearby existing light rail stations in the Downtown Regional Growth Center.  In the Growth Strategy 
Chapter, the Downtown Regional Growth Center description notes, “Parking is found along the street 
and within structures.” The Plan does not identify that parking in Downtown is in surface lots.  Policy 
GS-2.5: “Encourage regulatory changes like parking quantity reductions or incentives to reduce parking 
to make smaller scale retail viable. Policy GS-6.9: Partner with employers within centers to reduce 
dependence on automobile use. Several references to parking in curb-management strategies in the 
Transportation Chapter, such as “promote efficient land use by ‘right-sizing’ parking to support smart 
growth.” 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

The amendment would add new policies to encourage more walkability and active uses in transit-
oriented areas near frequent transit by encouraging development incentives for surface parking lots 
and enabling the creation of parking maximums that prevent oversaturation of surface parking where 
it is not supported by the policies and goals of the Comprehensive Plan. Also encourages the city to 
prioritize transportation options over investing in new publicly-funded parking structures. 

TEXT: 

Amendment - New Policy GS-3.6: Surface parking lots represent significant potential for 
redevelopment or reintroduction of green space and permeable surface and are considered 

Page 12 of 68

82



One Tacoma Page 2 

“underutilized land” for the purposes of zoning regulations, density bonuses, and economic 
development incentives.  Care should be taken to not affect parking areas required by the Americans 
with Disabilities Act. 

Amendment - New Policy GS–12.10: Within walking distance of major transit stops as defined in 
municipal code, limit new or expanded surface parking lots, encourage the redevelopment of existing 
surface parking lots into housing and mixed uses through zoning regulations, density bonuses, 
economic development incentives and assessments allowed by State law. Develop parking maximums 
in transit-oriented areas to prevent oversaturation of parking as a land use. 

Amendment – New Policy GS-13.9: Public investment will prioritize pedestrian, bicycle, and transit 
infrastructure over new parking garage construction, requiring demonstrated need and alternative 
analysis for any new proposed publicly-funded parking facility. 

Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? Yes, from David Seaman. Paraphrasing: “Minimizing parking 
and potentially requiring permits near downtown and the hospital to make permits safer and 
more comfortable to navigate.” From Sustainable Tacoma Commission.  Requesting 
sustainability and climate action be integrated into public procurement decisions. 
 

• What policies would this support? Broadly supported by VISION 2050: MPP-RGS-8-11 (Focusing 
growth near high capacity transit station areas), MPP-RGS-6, DP-1, DP-3 (Support development 
of compact urban communities and central places with densities that support the Regional 
Growth Strategy, transit and walking), MPP-DP-4, DP-Action-7 (Promote infill in centers), MPP-
DP-12-15, DP-17 (Support design of transportation infrastructure that improves communities), 
MPP-DP-22, DP-Action-8 (Maximizing benefits of transit investments). 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Pro:  

1. Would improve long term access to housing, services, and retail within walking distance of 
major transit stops throughout the city. 

2. Would increase potential job opportunities accessible via convenient transit. 
3. Would encourage development of structures (or green space) where surface lots exist, 

contributing to increased tree canopy and permeable surface per development standards. 

Con:  

1. May require private investment in structured parking to replace surface lots for employees 
2. May require emphasis on Commute Trip Reduction and transportation demand management 

for larger institutions or employers 

Page 13 of 68

83



One Tacoma Page 3 

3. May require collaboration and funding to increase active transportation alternatives. 

 

Page 14 of 68

84



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner: Chair Karnes     Date: 2025-03-24 

Element/Topic: Prioritizing equitable access to essential services – including internet 

      Vision      Housing       Parks + Recreation  

     Growth Strategy      Transportation  X    Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

The Public Facilities and Services chapter details physical plants, service standards, goals, and policies, 
but lacks information about the City’s telecommunications infrastructure, in direct contrast with PSRC 
policy MPP-PS-2 and MPP-PS-16, which call for equitable access to telecommunication infrastructure.   

To be clear about the policies in VISION 2050 that the PFS chapter references, which the City must be 
compliant with as a part of the Growth Management Act, they are restated here for the Commission: 

• MPP-PS-2: Promote affordability and equitable access of public services to all communities, 
especially the historically underserved. Prioritize investments to address disparities. 

• MPP-PS-16: Plan for the provision of telecommunication infrastructure to provide access to 
residents and businesses in all communities, especially underserved areas. 

The City’s fiber optic network – including the hundreds of millions of public dollars invested, its extent, 
capabilities, reliability, and capacity are not found anywhere in the document. While the chapter 
mentions the Click! Network and its 2020 transfer to Rainier Connect (later absorbed by a 
multinational corporation), it does not address the principles behind that public-private partnership, 
such as continued public ownership, net neutrality, competition, closing the digital divide, financial 
stability, or consumer privacy. 

The chapter also does not acknowledge the public debate surrounding that decision, the growth in 
demand or need for Internet services as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and related trends.  Nor 
does it document that the 20-year contract expires in the year 2040, which is within the timeframe of 
the One Tacoma Plan. The Internet is mentioned only in relation to Tacoma Public Libraries a total of 
two times. A policy emphasizing the City’s duty to follow Charter section 4.6 regarding the sale or long-
term lease of utility assets (e.g. Click!) was added as PFS-1.11 at the Chair’s request. 

Page 15 of 68

85



One Tacoma Page 2 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

Overall Goal: These policies aim to improve access to essential services – particularly internet – and 
create more connected, equitable communities within Tacoma.  

Key Actions & Policies:  

• Recognize Internet as Essential: Officially designates internet access as an essential service, vi-
tal for modern life. 

• Ensure Equitable Access: Actively works to bridge the digital divide and provide affordable, re-
liable, high-speed internet to all residents, regardless of location, income, or background. 

• Public Ownership & Control: Emphasizes the importance of public ownership, operation, and 
governance of essential services like internet. 

• Dedicated Funding: Directs that an action of the city to be consistent with the Growth Man-
agement Act, include that a fund be created, capitalized by revenue from leasing city-owned fi-
ber optic infrastructure. 

• Transparency & Accountability: Requires annual public reporting on the city’s broadband read-
iness, including infrastructure condition, funding levels, and staffing capabilities. 

TEXT: 

Amendment - New Policy PFS-1.XX Advance equitable access to opportunities and daily needs by 
prioritizing investments to public service and facilities that complement 15-minute neighborhoods; 
linking Tacomans together with a citywide system of public transit, active transportation, and 
telecommunications infrastructure. 

Amendment - New Policy PFS-1.12: Internet is an essential service, vital for modern communication, 
social inclusion, democratic participation, education, economic development, and quality of life. 

Amendment - New Policy PFS-1.13: Equitable access to affordable, reliable, and high-speed internet is 
actively advanced for all residents, businesses, and institutions, emphasizing digital inclusion and 
bridging gaps in access based on neighborhood, income, race, or housing situation. 

Amendment - New Policy PFS-1.14: To achieve the objectives of providing essential internet services, 
this Chapter emphasizes the importance of developing, preserving, and sustaining public ownership, 
operation, and governance of essential services identified in this Plan as public utilities. 

Amendment - New Policy PFS-1.15: A portion of proceeds from leasing public infrastructure to private 
entities should be dedicated to invest in future development and public capabilities to oversee, 

Page 16 of 68

86



One Tacoma Page 3 

operate that infrastructure. 

Amendment - New Action PFS-X.XX By January 1, 2028, create a designated fund, capitalized with a 
portion of annual revenue generated from leasing capacity on city-owned fiber optic infrastructure, 
sufficient and dedicated to spin up operations of retail internet services managed by a department of 
the City or other public entity in Washington State with the capability to operate such a network, prior 
to the scheduled expiration of the Indefeasible Right of Use. (Entity responsible: Finance dept) 

Amendment - New Action PFS-X.XX By January 1, 2029, begin publishing a public annual report on 
municipal broadband readiness to the City Council identifying the extent, capabilities and condition of 
city-owned telecommunications infrastructure including physical plant, technology, bandwidth and 
reliability measures, funds available in the designated fund for retail internet services, as well as city 
staffing capabilities in support of telecommunications infrastructure. (Entity responsible: Tacoma 
Public Utilities) 

 

Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? Yes, public comment from Peter Jung spoke to his desire to 
have the city recognize the impact of leasing off Click! Network, advocating for its return to 
public service, especially to support digital equity in the post-Covid era. 
 

• What policies would this support? PSRC VISION 2050 MPP-PS-2 and MPP-PS-16 (“Promote 
affordable and equitable access of public services, including drinking water and 
telecommunication infrastructure, to provide access to all communities, especially underserved 
communities”), legislative findings from WA Legislature (2SSB 5383, 2021 session), final report 
2024 Charter Review Committee.  Supplemental findings by Washington State Superior Court in 
Case No. 51695-1-II, regarding the City’s authority to use utility funds for telecommunications 
infrastructure. Previous City findings that recognize a digital divide for BIPOC communities. 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Pro:  

• Improved Access: Directly addresses the digital divide, aiming for affordable, reliable internet 
for all residents. 

• Local Control: Re-emphasizes public ownership and control of essential infrastructure, poten-
tially leading to services better tailored to community needs, which is the expressed mission of 
Tacoma Public Utilities. 

• Community Benefit: Aligns with broader goals of equitable access to essential services and 
supports community resilience. 

• Transparency & Accountability: Annual reporting increases public awareness and ensures re-
sponsible management of infrastructure and funds, regardless of operations. 

Page 17 of 68

87



One Tacoma Page 4 

• Dependence on Lease Revenue, not taxes or ratepayer funds: Funding relies on continued se-
cured revenue from leasing the City’s fiber optic infrastructure to a private entity. 

• Legal Support: Backed by court rulings, state legislation supporting the city’s authority, recom-
mendations of the Charter Review Committee, and previous findings of a digital divide for un-
derserved residents. 

Con: 

• Financial investment: Re-establishing public operation of internet services may require signifi-
cant investment following the end of the private contract. 

• Utility and Budget: City Council and Public Utility Board will be ultimate decision makers re-
garding recommendations for policy and action requiring budget approval and risk analysis. 

 

Page 18 of 68

88



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner: Chair Karnes     Date: 2025-03-24 

Element/Topic: General transportation amendment to reflect public comment, feedback from other 
commissions, and planning commissioner feedback 

      Vision      Housing       Parks + Recreation  

     Growth Strategy   X    Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

The Plan includes a chapter on future transportation facilities, strategies, corridors, goals and policies.  
The plan is growth-oriented, but financially constrained.  It does not include several wide-ranging 
changes that were suggested by public comment and are consistent with the overall plan.  Nor does it 
speak directly to requests that should be made to Sound Transit or Pierce Transit when performing 
system or project design within the City. 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

• Increased Funding Focus: The core of these changes is actively seeking new funding sources – 
through ballot measures, taxes, and grants – specifically dedicated to transit and active trans-
portation (walking/biking). 

• Transit Expansion & Connectivity: There's a strong emphasis on expanding regional light rail 
(Sound Transit’s 1-Line & T-Line) into and within the city, improving frequency and connections 
to key areas like the downtown core and regional growth centers. Defines some objectives in 
policy related to planned future high-capacity transit corridors. 

• Prioritizing Sustainable Modes: The amendments prioritize walking, biking, and transit over 
single-occupancy vehicles. This includes preferring physically separated bike lanes and giving 
preference to projects that build on existing Complete Streets infrastructure. 

• Preserving Future Options: The city aims to preserve existing rail right-of-way for potential fu-
ture use and explore innovative transit solutions. 

• Addressing Existing Needs: There's also a focus on addressing existing infrastructure needs, like 

Page 19 of 68

89



One Tacoma Page 2 

sidewalk repair, with potential financing programs for homeowners. 

TEXT: 

Note: Contingent upon amendments by the Transportation Commission considered prior to 3/25/2025. 
 
Amendment New Policy TMP-X.X: First and foremost, prioritize municipal ballot measures to generate 
dedicated funding that enables the city, through transit and active transportation investments, to meet 
growth, VMT, and greenhouse gas reduction goals, and supports transportation equity and 
comprehensive housing affordability for underserved populations. 

Amendment New Action TMP-X.X: Evaluate potential revenue measures to support supplemental 
transit and active transportation funding, including (but not limited to): 

1. Sound Transit Enhanced Service Zone (MVET, others) 
2. Pierce Transit sales tax 0.3% (RCW 36.57A) 
3. City Transportation Authority (RCW 35.95A) 
4. Transportation Benefit District sales tax 0.1%, Vehicle License Fee (RCW 36.73) 
5. Commercial Parking Tax (RCW 82.80.030) 
6. Utility tax (RCW 82.16) 
7. Business and Occupation tax (RCW 82.04) 

Amendment - New Action TMP-X.X: Develop, in coordination with Pierce Transit, Sound Transit and 
Parks Tacoma, an investment plan to accelerate the development of transit and active transportation 
infrastructure and systems to meet Comprehensive Plan objectives by 2050. This plan should support 
the achievement of growth targets, and vehicle miles traveled and greenhouse gas reduction 
requirements outlined in Washington HB 1181. (Entity responsible: Public Works) 

Supporting efficient transit operations with exclusive right of way for high capacity services 

Amendment - New Policy TMP-X.X:  Support priority or exclusive use of city right-of-way for at-grade, 
elevated, or underground rail transit operations with a planned service frequency of ten minutes or 
less, where feasible and does not unduly constrain existing emergency vehicle access. These 
investments will be prioritized above other roadway uses for their mobility and environmental 
benefits, subject to comprehensive planning review. 

Explicit requests to Sound Transit for future planning (i.e. future ST4) 

Amendment - New Policy TMP-X.X: Encourage Sound Transit to explore options for improving 
connectivity for 1-Line and the Downtown Tacoma central business district (CBD), including increasing 
the operating frequency, span, and reliability of the T-Line to match projected 1-Line service at Tacoma 
Dome, and potential extension of 1-Line into the Downtown Tacoma CBD reflective of the Frequent 

Page 20 of 68

90



One Tacoma Page 3 

Transit Network map. 

Amendment - New Policy TMP-X.X: Encourage Sound Transit to explore options for improving regional 
connectivity between Tacoma Dome, Tacoma Mall and nearby mixed use centers as a part of the 
programmed ST3 high capacity transit study, including potential extension of 1-Line (or T-Line) from 
Tacoma Dome to the Tacoma Mall Regional Growth Center via an alignment that includes the Lincoln 
District Mixed Use Center, South Tacoma Mixed Use Center as a terminus. Interim regional express bus 
service to connect Tacoma Mall to the regional transit system is also supported. 

Amendment - New Action TMP-X.X: When Tacoma’s population reaches 275,000 residents (as 
estimated by the Washington Office of Financial Management), initiate a study to identify high-
capacity transit corridors to connect Tacoma neighborhoods, attractions, and growth centers not 
served by fixed-guideway regional transit systems. This study, conducted in accordance with RCW 
35.95A (which encourages innovative transit solutions with elevated guideway), will evaluate the 
feasibility of various options to increase transit mode share, improve access, reduce traffic congestion, 
and improve air quality. (Entity responsible: Public Works) 

Amendment - New Action TMP-X.X: Submit identified high capacity transit corridors (Tier-1) to 
regional transportation plan at Puget Sound Regional Council for inclusion and consideration for future 
development and funding. (Entity responsible: Public Works) 

Preserve city-owned rail right of way within city limits, per public comment 

Amendment - New Policy TMP-X.X: Preserve all city-owned rail right-of-way within city limits as a 
publicly-owned asset, prioritizing its continued availability for future rail uses, and specifically ensure 
its preservation during the installation of any adjacent trails or public access improvements. 

Sidewalk repair assistance, per public comment 

Amendment - New Action TMP-X.X: Explore the implementation of a program, as part of future 
transportation measures, allowing homeowners to finance necessary sidewalk repairs or replacements 
through low-interest loans or a lien on their property, payable upon property sale or transfer. (Entity 
responsible: Public Works) 

Build on past decisions for Complete Streets, per public comment (re: N 21st Street) 

Amendment - New Policy TMP-X.X: Prioritization of transportation projects will include a criterion 
rating of prior city actions taken to advance Complete Streets, with preference given to projects that 
build upon existing investments and partially completed infrastructure, such as previously migrated 
utilities and partially complete sidewalks. 

Prefer bike lane designs that include physical barriers with traffic, per public comment 

Page 21 of 68

91



One Tacoma Page 4 

Amendment - New Policy TMP-X.X: When designing and implementing bicycle and pedestrian safety 
improvements, preference will be given to project designs incorporating physical barriers for bike lanes 
separating from general purpose traffic. 

Full time transit coordinator and development of a transit improvement program 

Amendment – New Action TMP-X.X: Hire a full time  transit coordinator and develop a transit 
improvement program within Public Works comparable to peer cities, to coordinate projects with the 
transit agencies and to advocate for goals and policies in the Plan to those agencies for issues that 
affect the residents of Tacoma within the city directly or indirectly in the greater region. (Entity 
responsible: Public Works) 

Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? Yes, several comments asking for separated bike lanes, 
consideration of the continuation of Complete Streets activity on N 21st Street, preservation of 
right of way of city-owned rail, development of sustained revenue sources for sustainable  
transportation projects. Transportation Commission requests in their vision that high capacity 
transit be advanced.  Sustainable Tacoma Commission requests that a transit coordinator be 
hired.  Public comment encouraged support for a more comprehensive train and bus system. 
 

• What policies would this support? Broadly supported by VISION 2050: MPP-RGS-8-11 (Focusing 
growth near high capacity transit station areas), MPP-RGS-6, DP-1, DP-3 (Support development 
of compact urban communities and central places with densities that support the Regional 
Growth Strategy, transit and walking), MPP-DP-4, DP-Action-7 (Promote infill in centers), MPP-
DP-12-15, DP-17 (Support design of transportation infrastructure that improves communities), 
MPP-DP-22, DP-Action-8 (Maximizing benefits of transit investments). 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Pro:  

1. Reflects oral and written public comment related to improving public transportation and active 
transportation uses in the  transportation plan 

2. More specific requests for Sound Transit are outlined to further the goals of the plan 
3. Makes a concrete action to submit planned HCT corridors to PSRC for project funding 
4. Concretely advances actions to identify and acquire ongoing dedicated resources for local 

transit and active transportation projects 
5. Reflects Tacoma’s authority granted by State law when it reaches a defined population to utilize 

new funding capacity for transit purposes 
6. Specifically identifies equity for mobility and housing as a consideration for new municipal 

funding measures that require voter approval 

Page 22 of 68

92



One Tacoma Page 5 

Con:  

1. Several transportation requests are unfunded 
2. One amendment does reference HB 1181, which does not come into full effect until 2029, but 

may affect future city planning actions that occur within the timeframe of the Plan 

 

Page 23 of 68

93



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form

Planning Commissioner: Chair Karnes Date: 2025-03-26 

Element/Topic: Minimizing visual impacts of elevated railways 

   Vision      Housing  Parks + Recreation  

  Growth Strategy    Transportation  Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

 Economic Development  Historic Preservation  

 Engagement + Administration 

 

What the current draft does on this topic: 

Goal 1 of the Housing chapter calls for housing to be available in Tacoma broadly meeting the needs, 
preferences, life stages and financial capabilities of all residents. The goal continues by stating that City 
policies, programs and incentives encourage the production of housing types and affordability levels 
that are not being produced in the private market. 

Goal 2 pertains to improving access to housing so that it may be more fair and equitable, with a focus 
on removing disparities for vulnerable communities and individuals. 

Goal 3 focuses on anti-displacement policies to ensure coordination to reduce the risk of displacement 
for at-risk households and mitigate impacts for households that face displacement. 

☒Text change   ☐Map change

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

The City has done an excellent job of laying out the goals for Tacoma for housing and providing 
supporting information.  What these amendments do is respond to public comment made repeatedly 
and forcefully for the City to do more to supplement a housing market that cannot produce enough 
housing at enough price points with the private sector alone.  These text amendments would revise 
one policy to strengthen and delineate both future tenant protections and retention of existing ones, 
would create two new polices, one expressing support in principle of the creation of a social housing 
developer  to fill affordability gaps in the housing market and another policy to support equitable 
access to housing for persons with disabilities in complete neighborhoods, and finally an action to 
explore the benefits of dedicating revenue from expiring housing tax incentives to the housing trust 

X

Page 24 of 68

94



One Tacoma Page 2 

fund. 

Addressing public comment in support of tenant protections 

Amendment – Revised Policy H-2.6: Expand tenant protection by providing resources for households 
experiencing a crisis, increasing community organizing capacity, and supporting existing code requiring 
residential landlords to provide sufficient notice of rent increases, informing tenants of their rights 
under the law, and providing relocation assistance if rent increases exceed a defined limit. 

Addressing public comment in support of exploring social housing to address gaps in housing 
affordability at a range of income levels 

Amendment - New Policy H-1.11: Support in principle and in good faith, the development of a 
community-led, mixed-income social housing developer, to address identified gaps in housing 
production and ensure a range of affordability options. This entity should prioritize the creation of 
permanently affordable housing for households earning less than 80% of the Area Median Income 
(AMI), with a particular focus on serving marginalized communities. To ensure long-term viability, the 
entity should pursue financial sustainability through a mix of unit types and price points, including 
market-rate units. City staff and decision makers should engage in an effort to exchange knowledge 
with successful social housing initiatives through presentations, expert consultation and/or site visits to 
better understand best practices. 

Supporting affordability of housing in complete neighborhoods for people with disabilities 

Amendment - New Policy H-2.7: Promote equitable access to opportunity for persons with disabilities 
by prioritizing supplemental housing assistance for accessible units in centers and complete 
neighborhoods with frequent transit. 

Exploring the benefits and impacts of dedicating revenue from expiring housing incentives 

Amendment - New Action H-3.12: Explore the benefits and impacts of dedicating revenue from 
expiring affordable housing incentives to support the long-term sustainability of the Housing Trust 
Fund. (Entity responsible: Office of Management and Budget) 

Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? Yes, much of the public comment received in both oral and 
written testimony identified the need to support both residential tenant protections and to 
explore the concept of a social housing developer to meet the requirements of HB 1220.  
Following public feedback, the Commission also heard from staff about the likely gap in housing 
production in the 30%-60% AMI range, indicating a need for both more long term resources for 
housing and the need for a housing entity that can leverage revenues from market rate units to 
help support affordable units and maintain those structures in the long term. Both staff and 

Page 25 of 68

95



One Tacoma Page 3 

public comment provided information about how social housing initiatives that has been and is 
being pursued to help address the housing supply and affordability crises. 
 

• What policies would this support? Several policies in VISION 2050, including, but not limited to : 
MPP-H-2-6, H-9 (Expand diversity of housing types for all income levels), MPP-H-12, H-Action-6 
(Identify potential displacement of low income households and work with communities to 
develop anti-displacement strategies), MPP-H-8, H-Action-1 (Create and preserve affordable 
housing near high-capacity transit) 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Pro: 

• H-2.6: Provides immediate support to vulnerable tenants, reinforces existing legal protections 
• H-1.11: Leverages prior experiences of other communities to increase affordable housing sup-

ply. May be a method to leverage market rate units for affordable housing without discouraging 
other housing development. 

• H-2.7: Addresses specific need for accessible housing, promotes inclusivity 
• H-3.12: Provides another dedicated funding source for the Housing Trust Fund, adding to a 0.1% 

sales tax, fee-in lieu for affordable housing 

Con: 

• H-2.6: May yield an impact on existing code enforcement for anti-displacement actions 
• H-1.11: May require buy-in from other housing development stakeholders 
• H-2.7: Would need a funding source 
• H-3.12: Relies on expiring incentives which are time-deferred 

 

Page 26 of 68

96



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Karnes     Date: 2025-03-24 

Element/Topic: Exploring the creation of a public development authority for Freighthouse Square 

      Vision      Housing       Parks + Recreation  

     Growth Strategy        Transportation  X    Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

 X    Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

The Economic Development chapter does not address Freighthouse Square  as a TOD focal point for 
the Dome District adjacent to the planned extension of regional light rail to Sea-Tac Airport and 
beyond. 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

The amendment would add an action to the Economic Development chapter to explore creating a 
Public Development Authority (PDA) for the purpose of redeveloping Freighthouse Square as a vibrant, 
financially-sustainable community asset. 

TEXT: 

• Amendment – New Action: Support the redevelopment of Freighthouse Square as a vibrant, 
community-centered public market and gathering space in anticipation of regional light rail 
service to the Tacoma Dome area in 2035. The City will pursue the creation of a Public 
Development Authority, informed by robust public engagement, to acquire and redevelop the 
structure in collaboration and partnership with existing tenants, such as Amtrak and Sound 
Transit, and also the private vendors. This redevelopment will prioritize maintaining and 
updating retail and restaurant spaces, public facilities, supporting active transportation, the 
arts, celebrating the site’s cultural and historical significance, engage and recognize the 
Puyallup Tribe of Indians, and foster a welcoming community environment. The City will 
actively seek public and private funding sources, including community fundraising initiatives, to 

Page 27 of 68

97



One Tacoma Page 2 

envision and execute upgrades that establish Freighthouse Square as a long-term economic 
asset for the Tacoma community. This effort will leverage findings from the Tacoma TOD Toolkit 
to support placemaking, economic development, and multimodal connectivity and integration. 
(Entity responsible: Community and Economic Development) 
 

Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? No, not specifically.  This is a carry-over from the TODAG 
Progress Report No. 3 (10/29/2021), calling for evaluation and consideration of a Public 
Development Authority to redevelop Freighthouse Square. 
 

• What policies would this support? VISION 2050 MPP-PS-18, PS-20, PS-29, DP-11 (Locate 
community facilities and services, including civic places like parks, schools, and other public 
places, in centers and near transit, with consideration for climate change, economic, social and 
health impacts), MPP-Ec-1, Ec-3, Ec-4, Ec-9, Ec-16 (Focus retention and recruitment efforts to 
foster positive business climate and diversify employment opportunities to provide living wage 
jobs that support women and minority-owned small businesses and startup companies), MPP-
Ec-12 (Address and prevent potential physical, economic, and cultural displacement of existing 
businesses that may result from redevelopment and market pressure (MPP-Ec-12) 

 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Pro:  

Freighthouse Square is the first structure that a visitor or commuter will encounter after disembarking 
from regional light rail in Tacoma in 2035. It deserves to be a point of civic pride and an economic 
engine for this transit-oriented district. Creation of a public development authority secures the City’s 
ability to guide redevelopment of the structure and surrounding area, while engaging the businesses 
and service providers currently occupying it, enabling better protection of vulnerable businesses from 
potential displacement.  Some business impacts are inevitable as a result of Sound Transit’s TDLE 
project; this may allow the City to get ahead of those issues, and to potentially leverage street closures 
for improvements.  This action ensures appropriate public engagement and carrying forward of a prior 
recommendation of the TOD Advisory Group, composed of representatives from the Dome District, 
Planning and Transportation Commissions, and more broadly. 

Con:  

Creation of a public development authority may require some upfront resources and the outcome is 
not guaranteed.  However, the structure dates back to the period of the historic Milwuakee Road and 
may require infrastructure investments that may grow in cost over time. 

 

Page 28 of 68

98



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel and Swinford    Date: 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
South Tacoma Economic Green Zone. 

What the current draft does on this topic 
Many of the policies in the Economic and Environmental chapter advance and 
encourage the green economy in Tacoma and on reducing the impact of MICs on the 
environment and neighborhoods. This amendment would explicitly state the goal of 
transforming the South Tacoma MIC into an Economic Green Zone (EGZ). This 
amendment would broadly define the goals of EGZ and reference it more throughout 
the Economic Chapter.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 

1. Throughout the Economic Development Chapter make sure that each section 
referencing what we heard from the community specifically references the South 
Tacoma Neighborhood Council's request for the South Tacoma Economic Green 
Zone. 

2. On page 46 of that chapter (where it describes South Tacoma's interest in seeing 
green businesses there), we can add a section describing the city's desired vision 
for an Economic Green Zone, which includes a mix of policies, incentives, and 
zoning requirements that:  

o Attract and retain low- and non-polluting industries, particularly those that are 
part of the emerging green economy. 

o Support local workforce development that expands Tacoma's competitive 
advantage in attracting and retaining green employers.  

o Reduce the impact of buildings and infrastructure in the EGZ on the 
environment and neighboring communities.  

o Reduce the impact of business operations in the EGZ on the environment and 
neighboring communities (align with current Green Economy plan). 

3. Add a new policy under the "Environment and Climate" section to state: Develop 
appropriate zoning requirements, incentives, and policies to transition the 
South Tacoma MIC into an Economic Green Zone, reducing the impact of the 
MIC on the environment, surrounding neighborhoods, and workers.  

4. Lastly, this would also amend two existing policies to specifically mention the EGZ 
for South Tacoma:  

o EC-6.30:  Ensure industrial development advances and align with the goals 
of the Economic Green Zone, including being is sensitive to and will not 
adversely impacting the South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District and 
other critical aquifer recharge areas. 

o EC-6.54: Prioritize the development and redevelopment of South Tacoma’s 
industrial land including transportation improvements and environmental 
cleanup that enhance the area’s marketability as an Economic Green 
Zone, particularly for low- and non-polluting industrial uses positioning 
Tacoma as a regional leader in supporting industrial and 
manufacturing businesses in the emerging Green Economy. 
Redevelopment activities should focus on alleviating truck traffic in adjacent 

Page 29 of 68

99



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
neighborhoods, such as using rail to transport goods or designating a truck 
route to State Route 16 so adjacent neighborhoods are not impacted by 
truck traffic. 

☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

 In response to public comments? 
Yes - South Tacoma Neighborhood Council amendment from 2021 specifically.  

 
 

 What policies would this support? 
South Tacoma MIC sub-area plan. This would provide guidance on updates to that 
sub-area plan to implement this vision. 
It would retain the MIC land use designation, so it would align with PSRC and State 
mandates to retain industrial and manufacturing lands.  
Contributes to the city’s climate and green economy goals. 

 
 

 What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
Impact would depend on how various incentives, requirements, and policies are 
created to achieve goals of the EGZ. Existing businesses would be able to stay in place 
and would not likely have to comply with new requirements (as those are often just 
applied to new development). This could help bring in new green industry to Tacoma, 
which aligns with the city’s desire to revitalize the South Tacoma MIC. Gearing this 
towards green businesses, though, may mean it takes longer to recruit industries to 
the MIC.  
Implementing voluntary or required landscape codes for the MIC would help protect 
the public and environmental health of neighborhoods, and help reduce the impact of 
Urban Heat Island effect.   

 

Page 30 of 68

100



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel and Swinford   Date: 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
Reducing the impact of freight on neighboring commercial and residential zones. 

What the current draft does on this topic 
Many policies encourage the shift from trucks to rail for freight movement in and out 
of MICs. This amendment would more explicitly state goals to keep freight traffic out 
of neighborhoods and commercial centers. It would also create a new policy direction 
to require freight-heavy industries to invest in mitigation efforts in neighboring zones 
that are impacted by truck traffic. 

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 

1. Amend EC 6.37: Require freight-reliant businesses and industries to Mmitigate 
the impacts of freight and other transportation on communities by investing in 
mitigation efforts, such as right-of-way tree plantings and green stormwater 
infrastructure, in impacted neighborhoods. 

2. Amend EC - 39: Provide efficient, safe, and well-maintained infrastructure in 
manufacturing and industrial areas to support divert freight truck operations and 
maintain direct, reliable connections to freeways. Encourage freight-reliant 
businesses to reduce vehicle trips and transition more goods to rail while 
diverting freight traffic away from residential zones and encouraging freight-
reliant businesses to reduce vehicle trips and transition more good to rail.  

☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

 In response to public comments? 
No 

 
 

 What policies would this support? 
Would support existing Economic policies around freight, but provides more 
direction.  
Reducing semi-truck traffic also contributes to Vision 0 goals (traffic safety). 

 
 

 What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
Policy would impose costs on freight-reliant businesses to invest in mitigation efforts 
in impacted neighborhoods (for example, paying for trees to be planted in the ROW 
along their freight routes and into neighboring communities). This also places a 
greater emphasis on supporting the transition away from trucks and towards rail for 
moving freight through the city. 

 

Page 31 of 68

101



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 

 

Planning Commissioners: Krehbiel, Rash, Marlo   Date: 03/23/2025  

Element/Topic 
Management and removal of litter and invasive species. 

What the current draft does on this topic 
Litter and Invasive species removal and management is not mentioned explicitly in 
the comp plan. This amendment would add two new policies to the Environment 
Chapter that would support programs and efforts to manage and remove both 
invasive species and litter. 

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 

NEW GOAL-  All Tacomans have access to clean streets, neighborhoods and environmental 
assets. Ensure overburdened communities benefit from measures to clean up and maintain a 
cleaner Tacoma. 

NEW POLICY EN - 1.XX: Develop, fund, and implement anti-litter campaigns, programs and 
policies to reduce littering within the city. Invest in public infrastructure, such as but not limited 
to trash,  recycling and composting trash bins to reduce instances of littering. Facilitate 
coordination among Tacoma community members and agencies to keep our city clean. 

NEW POLICY EN - 1.XX: Develop, fund, and implement invasive species management and 
removal plans for all public green spaces. Ensure sites are monitored for early and frequent 
intervention.  

☐Text change    
Background/why? 

 In response to public comments? 
Yes (litter piece). No (invasive piece) 

 
 

 What policies would this support? 
Supports other Environmental policies around open space conservation and 
maintenance.  

 
Litter is often associated with unsafe environments. A clean environment adds to the 
perception of safety which is included in the Complete Neighborhood Element. 

 What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
The intent of these new policies is to encourage more resources to be allocated for 
invasive species removal and litter clean-up efforts in the city. Supporting programs 
like these will help maintain the ecological health of open spaces and make them 
more inviting/accessible to the public 

 

Page 32 of 68

102



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
Planning Commissioners: Krehbiel, Rash, Marlo  Date: 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
Stormwater Runoff 

What the current draft does on this topic 
Stormwater management is discussed throughout the chapter. This amendment 
would create a new policy that explicitly states the city will work to eliminate polluted 
stormwater runoff discharging from outfall pipes. It also creates a policy encouraging 
Tacoma to partner with neighboring municipalities to create regional stormwater 
parks. 

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 

NEW POLICY EN - 1.XX: Divert all stormwater runoff from roads and parking lots into green 
stormwater infrastructure. Eliminate discharges of untreated stormwater runoff from outfalls 
that drain directly into Puget Sound or other water bodies.  

NEW POLICY EN - 3.XX: Partner with neighboring cities and other local municipalities to site, 
design, and create regional green stormwater parks in order to treat larger volumes of 
polluted runoff while creating habitat and outdoor recreation opportunities.  

☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

 In response to public comments? 
No 

 
 

 What policies would this support? 
Water quality policies and salmon recovery efforts.  

 
 

 What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
This sets an ambitious goal of eliminating all untreated stormwater discharges from 
Tacoma’s roads. This helps to drive investments in green stormwater infrastructure to 
reduce the impact that stormwater runoff has on our water quality and sensitive 
wildlife (like salmon). This also encourages Tacoma to be a lead collaborating with 
neighboring municipalities to find areas where large stormwater parks can be located. 
These parks can help treat runoff from multiple jurisdictions, provide open space and 
recreation for the public, and provide wildlife habitat. Coordinating such efforts with 
other jurisdictions is challenging and will likely require more staff/planning time than 
other projects wholly within the city. 

 

Page 33 of 68

103



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 Planning Commissioners: Krehbiel, Rash, Marlo  Date: 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
Protecting sensitive environments from pollution.  

What the current draft does on this topic 
This amendment aims to create more protection for critical areas that are impacted 
by light pollution and impervious surfaces.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 
Amend EN 1.19 to include near-shore in list of habitats to protect from light pollution: 

 Policy EN–1.19: Minimize and manage ambient light levels to protect the integrity of 
ecological systems and public health without compromising public safety within and 
adjacent to open spaces, habitat corridors, marine and freshwater shorelines, and 
other environmentally critical areas. 

Amend Policy EN 1.33 to be more protective of open spaces:  

 Policy EN–1.33: Limit  and discourage impervious surfaces, especially within  and 
adjacent to open Space Corridors, shorelines, and designated critical areas, to 
reduce impacts on hydrologic function, air and water quality, habitat connectivity, and 
tree canopy. 

☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

 In response to public comments? 
No 

 
 

 What policies would this support? 
Supports existing environment policies around open space and conservation. 

 
 

 What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
Minor amendments to include marine and freshwater shorelines as named habitat 
types that are impacted by light pollution. Emerging studies have shown the impact of 
light in the nearshore on invertebrates, salmon, other fish, and shorebirds. Also adds 
some stronger language about discouraging impervious surfaces (in addition to 
limiting it) and extending these considerations to projects “adjacent to” (not just 
within) sensitive habitats. How “adjacent” is defined is to be determined, but this 
encourages the creation of a buffer around sensitive habitats.  

 

Page 34 of 68

104



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel      Date: 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
Polluters Pay Principle.  

What the current draft does on this topic 
The current Comp Plan doesn’t have an explicit “polluters pay” policy. This amendment would 
create a new policy for industrial and heavy-polluting businesses to invest in mitigation efforts, 
specifically in the communities impacted by/bearing the burden of pollution.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 

NEW POLICY EN - 3.XX: Develop and fund compliance and enforcement efforts to ensure 
polluting businesses and industries in Tacoma are held responsible for mitigating the impacts 
of their pollution and greenhouse gas emissions on neighboring communities, particularly 
those that are already disproportionately burdened by pollution. 

☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? 

The Sustainable Tacoma Commission also asked us in their letter to put a greater 
emphasis on enforcement and compliance from the city for greenhouse gas 
reductions, so I tried to capture that here. 

• What policies would this support? 
Climate and Environmental Justice Goals 

 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
This would require the city to invest in enforcement efforts and develop a system by 
which the city can identify polluting industries, quantify their impact on communities, 
and enforce compliance with mitigation efforts to offset those impacts. The city 
would likely also need to create a threshold for when this kicks in (a bakery with a 
delivery van isn’t polluting the community in the same way that Asarco did; where’s 
the line?). So this would likely require a significant public process to develop, but 
could be run through the Sustainability Commission.  

 

Page 35 of 68

105



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel      Date: 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
Urban Heat Island 

What the current draft does on this topic 
The Environment chapter has a section on UHI. This amendment would add three 
new policies to that section that more explicitly look at mitigating the impact of 
parking lots.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 
NEW POLICY EN - 4.XX: Require new and existing parking lots to offset their contribution to 
Urban Heat Island through tree-planting requirements that shade at least 50% of the parking 
lot. 

NEW POLICY EN - 4.XX: Identify publicly-owned parking lots, roads, and other paved 
surfaces that can be removed and converted into community green spaces.  

NEW POLICY EN - 4.XX: Discourage the development of new parking lots and the expansion 
of existing parking lots by imposing penalties and fees for parking lot owners that violate 
landscaping standards and who own rarely-used parking lots or vacant lots with excessive 
pavement. 

☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? 
Yes - we received a few comments about impervious surface and UHI 

 
 

• What policies would this support? 
Climate adaptation policies and urban canopy.  

 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
Adds additional landscaping requirements for parking lots, which reduces parking 
stalls that can be put into a lot and adds the cost of landscaping. Also would require 
the city to develop criteria to define and identify “rarely-used parking lots,” then to 
following up with owners to assess a fee (that takes staff time to develop and 
enforce). Identifying public roads/pavement to depave would also require some work 
and investment. This effort (of identifying public areas to Depave) could help populate 
the project list for the Depave program Tacoma coordinates with Pierce Conservation 
District. 

 

Page 36 of 68

106



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel      Date: 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
Sea Level Rise Adaptation 

What the current draft does on this topic 
The comp plan discusses sea level rise and needing to plan for this change. This 
amendment would specifically direct the city to discourage the use of shoreline 
armoring and other infrastructure that hardens the shoreline as a way to mitigate the 
impacts of sea level rise. Instead, it encourages the city to use restoration efforts as a 
way to adapt to rising sea levels.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 

• Add a few policies to the sea level rise section too:  
o NEW POLICY EN - 5.XX: Discourage the use of hardened shoreline armoring 

and sea walls as the primary approach to protecting infrastructure from sea 
level rise. First assess options to strategically relocate infrastructure further 
inland and restore the impacted shoreline.  

☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? 
No 

 
 

• What policies would this support? 
Climate adaptation policies 

 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
For properties being impacted by sea level rise, this policy asks that the city consider 
options to not harden shorelines further but instead to assess the feasibility of 
moving impacted infrastructure out of coastal flooding areas and invest in shoreline 
restoration in the area impacted by sea level rise. In some cases, moving the 
infrastructure would be too costly, so hardening the shoreline would be the preferred 
option. This policy states that is not our preference as a city (because of the impact 
shoreline armoring has on the marine environment) and that we want to make sure 
restoration/strategy retreat is considered. 

 

Page 37 of 68

107



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel, Marlo                 Date: 3/23/2025  

Element/Topic 
Environmental Justice  

What the current draft does on this topic 
The current environmental justice section of the Environment chapter is focused only 
on outcomes, not process. Ensuring that impacted communities who have borne or 
will bear the burden of environmental pollution/destruction are included in planning 
and decision-making efforts impacting them.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 

NEW POLICY EN - 5.XX: Create inclusive processes that allow communities who will be 
impacted by development, land use, and zoning changes to engage in decision-making and 
planning processes.  Identify impacted communities, reach out and encourage their 
participation. 

☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

 In response to public comments? 
Yes. South Tacoma Neighborhood Council and community members. 

 
 

 What policies would this support? 
Equity and environmental justice policies 
Add specific policies. 

 
 

 What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
Pros- Allowing for more direct-community participation in city decision-making 
creates community buy-in by engaging community members in the process. 
Creating more equitable processes also tend to lead to more equitable outcomes that 
better reflect community needs and address their concerns. 
Cons-  
The city will need to determine which projects communities can participate in the 
planning/decision-making. By including impacted communities, this will require the 
city to rethink and restructure how it conducts outreach, public engagement, and 
makes decisions with new development. 
Creating additional processes extends the time it takes for projects to be reviewed.  

 

Page 38 of 68

108



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

Planning Commissioners: Krehbiel, Marlo     Date: 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
Trees 

What the current draft does on this topic 
The comp plan has many policies supporting Tacoma’s tree canopy goals. This 
amendment would create two new goals, one that more explicitly supports the city’s 
30% canopy cover goal (across every neighborhood), and another that encourages the 
city to do more tree care/management in the right of way.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 

NEW POLICY GS - 1.XX: Ensure new development complies with tree planting and retention 
requirements in order to achieve a city-wide goal of 30% tree canopy coverage in each 
neighborhood. 

NEW POLICY GS - 1.XX: Increase the city's responsibility in the public right-of-way; in the 
planting and maintaining of trees along pedestrian and bike routes, as well as the 
maintenance and replacement of sidewalks. 

☐Text change    
Background/why? 

 In response to public comments? 
Yes. Trees are continually one of the hottest topics within our community. 

 
 

 What policies would this support? 
Tree canopy goals 

 
 

 What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
This emphasizes the role that new development must play in helping the city to reach 
its canopy cover goal, and emphasizes that this is a goal for each neighborhood. It also 
encourages more involvement of city urban forestry staff to take ownership of the 
planting and maintenance of trees in the public right-of-way. This could be 
implemented in a case study manner.  

 
Costs of concrete for replacement of sidewalks is a burden and barrier to urban infill 
projects, home ownership, low impact and small development. Consider ways to 
alleviate this cost burden. 

 

Page 39 of 68

109



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel      Date: 3/23/2025  

Element/Topic 
Green Space in Regional Growth Center 

What the current draft does on this topic 
The comp plan does not include any specific language about prioritizing the retention 
and growth of green spaces within regional growth centers. This amendment would 
add new policies to do this for both regional growth centers.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 

NEW POLICY GS - 7.XX: Preserve public, open, green space within the Downtown Regional 
Growth Center. Identify emerging opportunities to acquire parcels that would expand existing 
green spaces or create new ones in the Downtown area. 

NEW POLICY GS - 8.XX: Preserve public, open, green space within the Tacoma Mall 
Regional Growth Center. Identify emerging opportunities to acquire parcels that would 
expand existing green spaces or create new ones in the Tacoma Mall area. 

☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? 
No 

 
 

• What policies would this support? 
Mitigating urban heat island. Walkable and complete neighborhoods. 

 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
Land for open space in regional growth centers is limited, and the pressure to sell it 
for development is great. It’s important, though, that as more people move into these 
centers that they have quick and easy access to a green space (for health, recreation, 
climate mitigation, etc.). Retaining and acquiring green spaces in these centers will be 
challenging, and there may be very few opportunities to do so. 

 

Page 40 of 68

110



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel      Date: 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
Fossil Fuels in MICs 

What the current draft does on this topic 
The current plan does not mention fossil fuels within MICs. This amendment is 
intended to discourage new fossil-fuel industries from locating in Tacoma. It would 
not ban existing fossil fuel industries in MICs, but retaining these businesses in MICs 
would be discouraged and deprioritized. The intent is to move Tacoma further away 
from fossil fuels.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 
NEW POLICY EC-6.XX: Develop policies, regulations, and financial tools that discourage the 
production, refinement storage, and sale of fossil fuels within MICs. 
☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? 
No 

 
 

• What policies would this support? 
Climate goals 

 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
This would not ban or kick out any existing fossil fuels in either MIC, but it would send 
a signal that Tacoma’s future doesn’t include fossil fuels and we want to welcome 
new, non-fossil fuel industries to the city. 

 

Page 41 of 68

111



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel      Date: 3/23/2025  

Element/Topic 
Homelessness 

What the current draft does on this topic 
Homelessness is not mentioned much in the Housing strategy. This amendment 
would encourage the city to pursuing a “housing first” model for addressing 
homelessness and to implement our existing homelessness strategy.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 
NEW POLICY H-1.XX: Reduce housing instability and homelessness within Tacoma by 
advancing “housing-first” programs and implementing the city’s Homelessness Strategy.  
☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

• In response to public comments? 
No 

 
 

• What policies would this support? 
Homelessness strategy 

 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
Would make sure that homelessness is included in our overall housing strategy and 
emphasize the importance of investing in housing-first programs and policies.  

 

Page 42 of 68

112



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

Planning Commissioner: Krehbiel, Marlo      Date:
 3/23/2025 

Element/Topic 
Small Business Tenant Protections 

What the current draft does on this topic 
Tenant protections for small businesses are not in the current Comp Plan. There are 
policies related to supporting small businesses and keeping them in place. This 
amendment would extend Tacoma’s existing tenant protections for renters to include 
business tenants.  

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 
NEW POLICY EC-3.XX: Support small businesses by requiring landlords engaged in leasing 
commercial property to: 1) provide sufficient notice of rent increases, 2) inform tenants of their 
rights under Tacoma law, and 3) provide relocation assistance if commercial rent increases 
exceed a legally determined limit. If no limit exists, the City will explore setting one following 
comprehensive public engagement. 
☐Text change   ☐Map change 
Background/why? 

 In response to public comments? 
Yes 

 
 

 What policies would this support? 
Economic policies aimed at retaining small businesses. 

 
 

 What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
Could be a burden to commercial property landlords, and it would impose a cost to 
them for providing relocation assistance or limit their rent increases. This would help 
reduce displacement of existing small businesses due to commercial gentrification, 
particularly in areas where rents are increasing due to gentrification and increased 
density.  

 

Page 43 of 68

113



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioners:  Marlo, Krehbiel  Date: 3-19-25 

Element/Topic 

Housing Element - Social Housing 

What the current draft does on this topic 

The current draft does not include Social Housing 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

 
New Goal- Encourage mixed-income projects into the public sector to help fill the need for 
affordable housing supply. Projects that serve a range of incomes, including middle-income 
earners who are often overlooked and under considered as they do not qualify for low 
income housing. Support Social Housing Projects which are publicly financed to keep rents 
permanently affordable to all.  

New Policy- Incorporate Social Housing as one of the solutions to create more affordable 
housing opportunities. Research and define Social Housing.  

New Policy- Identify potential funding sources to support Social Housing. 

New Policy- Define and create a position for a Social Developer. 

New Policy- Ensure Social Housing Developments remain in public hands.  

New Policy- Tie Social Housing Developments to Housing Element 6 Policies. 

☐Text change   - addition 

Background/why? 

● In response to public comments? 
Yes. Strong support for Social Housing from our community members; addressed at public 
comment both in person and by letter. 
 

● What policies would this support? 

Page 44 of 68

114



One Tacoma Page 2 

Goal H-1  Housing is available and accommodates a full spectrum of needs 

Policy H-1.1 Maintain sufficient residential development capacity 

Policy H-1.2 Encourage new and innovative housing types 

Goal H-2  Access to housing is made fairer and more equitable 

Policy H-2.1 Implement barrier-free access to housing 

Goal H-3 Anti-displacement policies 

Policy H-3.1 Use a full spectrum of housing tools to address anti-displacement needs 
Policy H-3.6 Promote multifamily housing units with 2 or more bedrooms 
Goal H-4 Across Tacoma, safe and healthy housing provides access to jobs, goods and 
services that meet daily needs within a 15-minute walk 

Policy H-4.1 Meet the housing needs of under-served and underrepresented populations 
Goal H-5 All Tacomans can find suitable housing that does not incur cost burden 
Policy H-5.1 Produce income-restricted affordable housing to address gaps in housing supply 
not met by the private market 
Policy H-5.2 To eliminate housing cost burden and homelessness 
Policy H-5.4 Encourage income diversity across the city 
Policy H-5.5 Ensure that a continuum of safe and affordable housing opportunities 
Policy H-5.9 Create a local source of revenue and pursue a variety of other funding sources to 
preserve and develop housing units and various assistance programs for households whose 
needs are not met by the private market 
Goal H-6 New housing units are low emission, energy efficient, built to high-performance 
standards 

Policies H-6.1-6.8 May all be applied to requirements for Social Housing Model 

Vision 2050 

 
● What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

 
Providing another potential solution to help mitigate the housing crisis is a no-brainer. 
Looking for new forms of funding that will not adversely affect other housing solutions is 
advised. 
 

Page 45 of 68

115



One Tacoma Page 3 

 

 

Page 46 of 68

116



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Marlo     Date: 3-19-25 

Element/Topic 

Integration of Small Businesses throughout Neighborhoods in our Growth Strategy and Complete 
Neighborhood Element 

What the current draft does on this topic-  

 

The current draft leaves out small business by focusing on commercial districts and nodes within the 
growth strategy. The draft needs to include specific language to encourage and ensure that 
neighborhood small businesses will be woven into the neighborhood fabric. 

 

Policy GS–1.4: Encourage development that creates or maintains 15-minute neighborhoods 
throughout existing neighborhoods with middle housing types and smaller commercial nodes. 

Policy GS–2.3: Foster neighborhood commercial districts that offer a range of everyday services and 
retail goods, that are responsive to cultural needs and income levels of the community, and that 
reduce nearby residents’ needs to travel long distances to meet daily needs. 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: Integrate small businesses throughout Tacoma neighborhoods 

 

GS–1.4: Encourage development that creates or maintains 15-minute neighborhoods throughout 
existing neighborhoods with middle housing types, neighborhood businesses and smaller 
commercial nodes  

Policy GS–2.3: Foster neighborhood businesses and commercial districts that offer a range of 
everyday services and retail goods, that are responsive to cultural needs and income levels of the 
community, and that reduce nearby residents’ needs to travel long distances to meet daily needs. 
Engage, encourage and support community members to create small stores and shops dispersed 
through neighborhoods. 

Policy GS–2.1: Implement actions in Tacoma’s Anti-Displacement Strategy to create more homes 
and neighborhood business opportunities for more people to keep housing affordable and in good 

Page 47 of 68

117



One Tacoma Page 2 

repair, help people stay and work in their homes and their communities, and reduce barriers for 
people who often or historically have encountered them. 

Policy GS–2.3: Foster neighborhood businesses and commercial districts that offer a range of 
everyday services and retail goods, that are responsive to cultural needs and income levels of the 
community, and that reduce nearby residents’ needs to travel long distances to meet daily needs. 

☐Text change  

Background/why? 

 
● What policies would this support? 

Growth Strategy, Housing Element, Complete Neighborhoods, Vision 2050 and Home in 
Tacoma 
 

Goal GS–1: Development, growth, and infrastructure investments support Tacoma’s vision for  
equitable, walkable, connected, and complete communities. 

Policy GS–1.11: Acknowledge the historical disparity of investment, infrastructure, 

and services across Tacoma neighborhoods and prioritize investments to address 

these gaps, reduce disparities, and increase equity, especially where growth and 

change are anticipated. 

 

Policy GS–1.10: Put in place strategies to address commercial and residential 

displacement because of land use decisions. 

 

Goal GS–2: Neighborhoods across the city include a mix of housing types and integrated         
commercial activity. 

Policy GS–2.2: Support existing businesses to avoid unnecessary commercial displacement, 
especially for locally-owned, smaller scale enterprises that add to community identity and cultural 
placemaking in neighborhoods. When unavoidable, such as times of construction or creation of 
institutional sites, support these businesses for successful relocation. 

Page 48 of 68

118



One Tacoma Page 3 

GOAL CN–1: Tacoma neighborhoods provide a complete, comfortable, enjoyable experience of 
everyday life for people fall ages and abilities 

GOAL CN–3: Buildings in Tacoma Neighborhoods respond to and enhance the distinctive qualities of 
its location,while accommodating growth and change. 

GOAL CN–4: Neighborhood Public spaces are welcoming,functional, accessible, and inclusive while 
responding to local context and community goals. 

GOAL CN–5: Tacoma Neighborhoods reflect the diverse cultures and heritages that are part of the 
city and serve as a venue for community creative expression. 

GOAL CN–6: Tacoma Neighborhoods Are sustainable,resilient, and resource efficient, contributing to 
environmental health. 

 

Vision 2050:  

Support people-Policy Reference (New) Identify racial and social equity as a core objective when 
planning and implementing transportation improvements, programs, and services. 

Support the economy- MPP-T-9 Ensure mobility choices for people with special needs MPP-T-10 
Support the economy Policy Reference Recognize the critical role of safe, reliable, and efficient 
movement of people and goods 

Home in Tacoma- 
Home In Tacoma that allows more flexibility for non-residential uses within residential areas. This 
serves multiple purposes within the Home In Tacoma project.  
Support entrepreneurship by providing residents with an opportunity to use their homes to engage 
in small scale business activities.  
Reduce traffic congestion and work-related commute trips by providing opportunities for residents 
to work in their homes.  
Protect neighborhood character by providing standards that ensure residential businesses are a 
secondary use and do not significantly alter the exterior of the property or affect the residential 
character of the neighborhood.  
Encourage retention of existing structures to preserve neighborhood character. 
 
Four ways to allow non-residential within urban residential 
Residential Business 1 & 2: Replaces current “Home Occupation” use with some changes, with more 
flexibility provided through Conditional Use Permit (CUP) review. 
Live/Work: Permits Live/Work use within Urban Residential zones.  

Page 49 of 68

119



One Tacoma Page 4 

Limited Mixed-Use Residential: Permits limited commercial uses as part of a mixed-use residential 
building within UR-3 zones.  
Adaptive Reuse of Heritage Buildings: Allows limited commercial uses within “heritage buildings” (at 
least 50 years old) in Residential zones. Replaces current “Uses in Historic Structures” CUP to include 
older buildings that are not designated historic landmarks.  

 
● In response to public comments? Yes.  

● What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
It is essential that to make 15 minute neighborhoods successful we include specific language 
as small businesses are necessary. They play a crucial part through: residential infill design, 
private investment and development of properties, the ability for homeowners to either 
work on their own properties or create rental income streams from small local business 
owners, create affordable rental opportunities for small business owners, ensure job 
opportunities for neighbors to work in their own neighborhood and last but not least provide 
of range of everyday services and retail goods within walking, rolling and biking distance. 
 
This is extremely important to address equity, safety and access to opportunities, all the 
while protecting our environment. 
 
We have already done the hard work of rezoning our city to make this possible. Now, we 
need to be explicit and transparent about this push for more neighborhood owned 
businesses. 

 

 

 

Page 50 of 68

120



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Brett Marlo   Date: 3-19-25 

Element/Topic 
PROTECTED BIKE LANES 

What the current draft does on this topic 
Current draft does not speak directly to protected bike lanes. 

What the proposed change would do 
DESCRIBE: 
Include protected bike lanes into goals and policies in multiple elements.  
 
Here are examples- 
 
Transportation Element Bike Strategies  

1. Build out a connected, all ages and abilities bicycle network, including protected and 
separated bike lanes, neighborhood greenways, and shared use paths, which allows people 
to 
meet their daily needs by bike, and safely access schools, parks, jobs, businesses, mixed use 
centers health care, 
and community destinations. 
 

Complete Neighborhood Element 
Policy CN-1.8 Ensure that all Tacoma neighborhoods offer a variety of well- 
designed public and semi-public areas including sidewalks, protected bike lanes, streets, 
pathways, courtyards, plazas, and parks that promote community goals such as connectivity, 
social interaction, and active living. 
Goal CN–2: People can move within and throughout Tacoma’s neighborhoods 
with ease and efficiency.  
Policy CN–2.5: Expand or enhance street, protected bike lanes, sidewalk, and trail system to 
make connections to Downtown Tacoma and other major destinations. 
 

☐Text change - Additions 
Background/why? 

● In response to public comments? 
Yes. There are many community members who have asked for protected bike lanes. 
 

● What policies would this support? 
Tacoma’s Vision Zero Action Plan 
Complete Streets Policy 
Growth Strategy Element 

Page 51 of 68

121



One Tacoma Page 2 

Complete Neighborhood Element 
Transportation Element 
Parks and Recreation Element 
 

● What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
Definition: 
Protected bike lanes are separated from sidewalks and motor vehicles by physical features 
(curbs, permanent planters, bollards, posts, or other raised features.)  
Pros: 
Tacoma will definitely see a significant increase in the use of bicycles when protected bike 
lanes are provided as a connected network throughout the city. 
Cons: Requires planning, funding and implementation. 

 
 

Page 52 of 68

122



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Brett Marlo   Date: 3-19-25 

Element/Topic 

Public Facilities- Expand Climate Adaptation Strategies 

What the current draft does on this topic 

While the plan acknowledges climate risk, we need more clarity on policy in Public Facilities & 
Services. 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

 
New Policy- Anticipate the public facilities and service needs due to extreme climate events. 
Ensure community members have access to open and safe public facilities to escape under 
severe weather conditions and climate hazards, such as but not limited to extreme heat and 
extreme air pollution.  

☐Text change  

Background/why? 

● In response to public comments? 
Yes. Sustainable Tacoma Commission recommendations. 
 

● What policies would this support? 
GOAL PFS–1 Ensure public facilities and services for 

future development and growth equitably meteor 

exceed the levels of service standards established by 

providers. 

GOAL PFS–2 Address Past Deficiencies And Rectify Gaps in 

Page 53 of 68

123



One Tacoma Page 2 

service, particularly in underserved areas, to ensure all 

Tacomans benefit from City services. 

GOAL PFS–3 Maintain public facilities to ensure 

community members can access services that are safe 

and reliable. 

 GOAL PFS–5 Invest in public facilities and services that 

foster a just, equitable, and resilient Tacoma for all 

residents. 

 
● What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

 
Less people will die due to extreme climate conditions. 

City will need to find funds to keep determined public facilities open all week. 

 

Page 54 of 68

124



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Martenson    Date: 3/28/2025 

Element/Topic:  

      Vision       Housing       Parks + Recreation  

      Growth Strategy        Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

Offers Public Realm Activation Strategies on pdf page 74 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

This strategies list and supporting actions list is great, however, doesn’t indicate who will do 
the work beyond PW, who don’t seem inspired (inspiration is needed here).  It is critical that 
oversight of these public realm spaces be expanded beyond Public Works.  In particular there 
should be a PR action added to expand oversight and decision making power on public right 
of way beyond Public Works, potentially to Planning, Planning Commission, and Design 
Review Board. 

Background/why? 

• What policies would this support? 
 
Consistency with planning efforts to date and promises made to community. 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
 
Greater map accuracy.  Does not degrade community trust.  This change would offer greater 
and expanded accountability, where currently there exists very little.   

 

 

Page 55 of 68

125



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Martenson    Date: 3/28/2025 

Element/Topic:  

      Vision       Housing       Parks + Recreation  

      Growth Strategy        Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

Offers Tacoma’s Capital Investment Corridors map on pdf page  56.  Does not include State 
St. 

☐Text change   ☒Map change 

DESCRIBE: 

1. Numerous maps indicate State St in Central/North Tacoma as a pedestrian street, a bike 
shared use path, and other things it is not currently even close to.  The Capital Investment 
corridors map does not include State street.  Either delete State St from the other maps as a 
pedestrian/bike facility or add it to the Investment Corridors so that it can reach the vision.  
Don’t put such an extensive vision out for such a non-serving street and not identify it as an 
investment corridor.   

Background/why? 

• What policies would this support? 
 
Consistency with planning efforts to date and promises made to community. 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
 
Greater map accuracy.  Does not degrade community trust. 

 

 

Page 56 of 68

126



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Martenson    Date: 3/28/2025 

Element/Topic:  

      Vision       Housing       Parks + Recreation  

      Growth Strategy        Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

Offers Tacoma’s Frequent Transit Network Vision map on pdf page 55.  The map does not 
include or deleted the Streetcar extension from MLK to TCC 

☐Text change   ☒Map change 

DESCRIBE: 

1. Add the streetcar extension back to the map. 

Background/why? 

• What policies would this support? 
 
Consistency with planning efforts to date and promises made to community. 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
 
Greater map accuracy.  Does not degrade community trust. 

 

 

Page 57 of 68

127



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Martenson    Date: 3/28/2025 

Element/Topic:  

      Vision       Housing       Parks + Recreation  

      Growth Strategy        Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

Offers Tacoma’s Arterial Pedestrian Network Vision and Tacoma’s Residential Pedestrian 
Network Vision (pdf pages 46 & 47) 

☐Text change   ☒Map change 

DESCRIBE: 

1. Delete section of shared use path on S 14th St near Peck Field (does not exist and is not part 
of Peck Field MP, also doesn’t connect to any other SUP network) 

2. Add line for pedestrian network on S Fife St between S19th and 6th. 
3. Add line for pedestrian network on S Steel Street from S12th to I St 
4. Remove line from South State St (does not have safe crossings, compared to Fife). 
5. Remove incomplete segments of shared use paths or provide a complete vision that doesn’t 

leave isolated segments. 

Background/why? 

• What policies would this support? 
Pedestrian Element, adds to the map routes that are already pedestrian routes and removes 
ones that are not.  Supports Pedestrian Strategy #1&2. 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 
 
Greater map accuracy 

 

 

Page 58 of 68

128



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Martenson    Date: 3/28/2025 

Element/Topic:  

      Vision       Housing       Parks + Recreation  

      Growth Strategy        Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

Sets: 
Policy EN–1.10: Ensure that plans and investments maintain and improve watershed 
hydrology. Pollution reduction, impervious surface limitations, tree canopy expansion, and 
habitat restoration can improve water quality in rivers, streams, floodplains, wetlands and 
groundwater aquifers 
Policy EN–1.11: Protect the quality of groundwater used for public water supplies to ensure 
adequate sources of potable water for Tacoma and the region through consistent 
engagement and collaboration with the South Tacoma Groundwater Protection District. 
Ensure that the level of protection provided corresponds with the potential for 
contaminating the municipal water supply aquifer. 
Policy EN–1.20: Encourage the infiltration of stormwater to promote aquifer recharge and 
ensure a continuous supply while preventing further loss of groundwater. 

☒Text change   ☒Map change 

Amend policy EN-1.20 to state that “stormwater infiltrated for the purpose of aquifer recharge shall 
be clean stormwater.”  Aquifer recharge is NOT an opportunity to clean stormwater.  Currently we 
allow all kinds of bad stormwater to enter the aquifer recharge area. 

Background/why? 

Align with best science and regional practices for protecting aquifer recharge areas. 

• What policies would this support? 

All above. 

 

Page 59 of 68

129



One Tacoma Page 2 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

 

 

 

Page 60 of 68

130



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Commissioner:  Martenson    Date: 3/28/2025 

Element/Topic:  

      Vision       Housing       Parks + Recreation  

      Growth Strategy        Transportation       Public Facilities + Services 

      Complete 
Neighborhoods 

      Environment + 
Watershed Health 

      Economic Development        Historic Preservation  

      Engagement + Administration  

 

What the current draft does on this topic:  

States that Urban Forests are part of Tacoma’s environmental assets, and also defines critical 
areas without including Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas (which is how they are 
defined in this state).   

☒Text change   ☒Map change 

Add Priority Habitats from State of Washington Priority Habitat List including Garry Oak woodlands 
and Old Growth – Mature Forest to Tacoma’s critical areas..  See 
https://wdfw.wa.gov/sites/default/files/publications/00165/wdfw00165.pdf & 
https://wdfw.wa.gov/publications/00030 for additional information.   

 

Background/why? 

• What policies would this support? 

Protect critical areas, habitat, and water quality and coordinate planning with adjacent jurisdictions, 
tribes, countywide planning groups, and watershed groups (MPP-En-1, En-6, En-11-12, En-14, En-16, 
En-Action-3) 

Protect and restore native vegetation and tree canopy  (MPP-En-9, En-13) 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? 

Existing priority habitat would be protected from negative impacts.  May make some development 
where priority habitats more expensive/less feasible. 

 

Page 61 of 68

131

https://wdfw.wa.gov/sites/default/files/publications/00165/wdfw00165.pdf
https://wdfw.wa.gov/publications/00030


One Tacoma Page 2 

 

Page 62 of 68

132



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Planning Commissioner: Rash      Date: 03/26/2025  

Element/Topic 05-Housing 

 

What the current draft does on this topic: Goal H-5 relating to affordable housing   

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: 

• Amend Policy H-5.1 to prioritize serving below 60% AMI rather than at 60% AMI or below.  
o Reasoning: 60-80% AMI units are not seeing near the demand from prospective 

tenants within the region, thus we need to be looking at average AMIs below 60% 
rather than at 60%.  

• Amend Policy H-5.2 to the following: Strive to Meet this through increased resources for 
affordable housing development, zoning, and land use incentives. 

o Places greater emphasis on the dire need. We must increase the funding pool if we 
are going to have any hope at increasing the rate of affordable housing development. 
This cannot be a “nice-to-have;” it must be a call to action.  

• Create new Policy: Prioritize entitlement and permit applications for projects that offer at 
least 20% of their units at levels serving 70% AMI or below by moving applications to the 
front of the queue and dedicating staff with affordable housing development and/or 
financing expertise to expedite the review period.  

• Create new Policy: Establish new code to create a program to offer surplus property to 
affordable housing development partners (i.e., housing authorities, non-profit developers, 
and Native American housing partners) for the development of affordable housing serving 
70% AMI or below. Adopt rules and guidelines to support the selection of these partners 
based on criteria (e.g., levels of affordability served, at-risk populations served, design 
standards, incorporating transit-oriented development standards into the affordable housing 
project).  

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

Background/why? 

• Washington and Tacoma have a housing crisis. Not only are existing residents feeling housing 
pressure, but with tens of thousands of more people projected to move to Tacoma over the 
next 25 years, it is imperative that we create housing opportunities for the full spectrum of 

Page 63 of 68

133



One Tacoma Page 2 

Tacoma’s residents. This concern has been brought up time and again from our work on 
Home in Tacoma as well as on the One Tacoma Plan. And we simply cannot build enough 
affordable housing simply through tax incentives (e.g., MFTE); we must utilize every tool we 
have and even consider new ones if we are going to rise to this challenge. 
 

• What policies would this support? Goal H-5 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? Pros: Increased density in Tacoma with 
greater access to services, jobs; improved utilization of services such as transit, bike/ped 
infrastructure; reduced pressures on household budgets, homelessness; Cons: Costs for 
developing new affordable housing are expensive, thus existing resources simply cannot 
meet the level of demand; tools for funding affordable housing limited by state law  
 

 

Page 64 of 68

134



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Planning Commissioner: Rash      Date: 03/26/2025  

Element/Topic 04-Environment & Watershed Health 

 

What the current draft does on this topic: Goal EN-6 restores and protects natural resources to 
maximize net gains in ecological functions  

 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: Add a policy to the effect of: Study City stormwater systems and water quality to 
determine how to return water resources to salmon-bearing streams.  

 
 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

Background/why? 

• Stormwater conveyance systems (e.g., in Flett Creek) divert stormwater that result in low 
flows. This has a negative impact on salmon, particularly during the summer and early fall 
when juvenile salmon are in the system as well as when adults begin their return to spawn.  
 
 

• What policies would this support? EN-6 
 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? Pros: Improved salmon habitat and 
ecological conditions; Cons: If implemented, there would be capital costs for investments in 
infrastructure.  
 
 

 

Page 65 of 68

135



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Planning Commissioner: Rash      Date: 03/26/2025  

Element/Topic 04-Environment & Watershed Health 

 

What the current draft does on this topic: Goal EN-4 relates to environmental and climate hazards  

 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: Create new policy (under “Air Pollution?”) that states the following: In recognition of the 
effects of climate change on Tacoma’s urban tree canopy as well as the risk posed to neighborhoods 
during a wildfire, the Tacoma Fire Department shall identify areas with wildfire potential (e.g., large 
forested and/or vegetated areas) and create a wildfire response plan.  

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

Background/why? 

• Over the past several years, many communities across the Western US from Los Angeles to 
Malden have been severely impacted by the effects of wildfire. While Tacoma would not be 
considered the “wildland-urban interface,” there are open space areas that could catch fire 
and pose a threat to human and natural resources. Thus, being prepared and identifying 
opportunities to improve preparation (e.g., forest health treatments) are certainly relevant 
and timely.  
 
 

• What policies would this support? EN-4 
 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? Pros: Improved preparedness for wildfire 
events; Cons: None. 

 

Page 66 of 68

136



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Planning Commissioner: Rash      Date: 03/26/2025  

Element/Topic 04-Environment & Watershed Health 

 

What the current draft does on this topic: Policy EN-1.16 Protect soils, minimize soil compaction, 
support plant growth, etc.  

 

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: Amend this policy as follows: Encourage retention and use of native soils, minimizing soil 
compaction to foster tree health and plant growth and other soil life, including plant life endemic to 
Puget Sound prairies, microbes, fungi, invertebrates, and other organisms essential for nutrient 
cycling, carbon storage, and overall soil health. 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

Background/why? 

• Much of the South Puget Sound area was once a prairie that provided unique habitats to 
native wildlife as well as food sources to Indigenous tribes (e.g., camas). While much of the 
prairie is lost – and likely irretrievably damaged in Tacoma – opportunities to recreate a 
semblance of prairies (even if at very small scale) would be beneficial as outdoor classrooms, 
creating microhabitats, and diversifying the flora that can be observed in Tacoma.  
 
 

• What policies would this support? EN-1.16 
 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? Pros: Increased diversity of natural resources 
and environments that residents and visitors may encounter; cons: Likely only able to 
accomplish this on existing public lands, and it is unlikely that staff capacity and/or expertise 
exists to recreate a prairie habitat if a suitable location can be identified.   
 
 

 

Page 67 of 68

137



One Tacoma Update – Potential Changes Submittal Form 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Planning Commissioner: Rash      Date: 03/26/2025  

Element/Topic 07-Economic Development 

 

What the current draft does on this topic: Policy EC-1.13 Implements the Green Economic 
Development Strategy   

What the proposed change would do 

DESCRIBE: Add a sub-policy to the effect of: Analyze best practices in developing solar energy 
projects a) on new commercial and industrial development for sizing, cost, etc. and recommend 
code to implement requirements to including solar on these uses; and, b) above surface parking for 
sizing, cost, etc. and recommend code to implement requirements to install solar projects on these 
uses. 

☒Text change   ☐Map change 

Background/why? 

• Washington State law SB 5116 (2019) sets a goal to decarbonize the state’s energy supply by 
2045, which can only be accomplished by developing new, renewable forms of energy. To 
ensure the City is able to serve its residents and businesses with renewable energy and to 
increase our energy independence, creating standards for developing solar projects above 
other uses would help the City meet its energy goals while simultaneously protecting rural 
and resource lands from shouldering the energy development burden. 

• https://e360.yale.edu/features/putting-solar-panels-atop-parking-lots-a-green-energy-
solution 
 

• What policies would this support? EC-1, SB 5116 
 

• What would be the impact (any pros and cons)? Pros: Increased renewable energy 
production, increased density of uses within the City, increased property values; Cons: 
Increased costs of development (though this could be repaid by selling the the solar energy 
to TPU and/or to the regional grid). This is why the policy direction is to study solar on these 
uses, then develop code to adopt solar projects to right-size to the opportunity.  
 

 

Page 68 of 68

138

https://e360.yale.edu/features/putting-solar-panels-atop-parking-lots-a-green-energy-solution
https://e360.yale.edu/features/putting-solar-panels-atop-parking-lots-a-green-energy-solution

	PC Agenda (04-02-25)
	PC Minutes (09-04-24) DRAFT
	PC Minutes (09-18-24) DRAFT
	F1 Packet - 2025 Minor Amendments Debrief (04-02-25)
	F1 Memo - 2025 Minor Amendments Debrief (04-02-25)
	F1 Attach1 - 2025 Minor Amendments Response to Questions (04-02-25)
	F1 Exhibit A - Public Commments (03-19-25)

	F1 Attach2 - 2025 Minor Amendments HIT Amendments (04-02-25)

	F2 Packet - STGPD Code Update (04-02-25)
	F2 Memo - STGPD Code Update
	F2 Attach1 - State Regulations
	F2 Attach2 - Recent Outreach and Engagement
	F2 Attach3 - Next Steps
	F2 Attach4 - Technical Memo
	1.0 Introduction
	2.0 Background
	3.0 Comparison of STGPD to CARA and WHPP Regulations
	4.0 Key Technical Topics
	5.0 Summary of Recommendations
	6.0 Attachments


	F3 Packet - One Tacoma Update (04-02-25)
	F3 Memo - One Tacoma Public Update (04-02-25)
	F3 Attach1 - TMP_TranspCommission_LetterofRec_02272025
	F3 Attach2 - Amendment Forms (04-02-25)
	Commissioner Amendment Forms Cover Sheet 
	1 Karnes_GS_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	2 Karnes_CN_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	3 Karnes_PFS_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	4 Karnes_GS_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	5 Karnes_GS_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	6 Karnes_PFS_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	7 Karnes_T_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	8 Karnes_H_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	9 Karnes_ED_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	10 KrehbielSwinford_EC_OneTacoma_Potentiel Changes Form
	11 KrehbielSwinford_EC_OneTacoma_Potentiel Changes Form
	12 KrehbielRashMarlo_EN_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	13 KrehbielRashMarlo_EN_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	14 KrehbielRashMarlo_EN_Onetacoma_Potential Changes form
	15 Krehbiel_EN_OneTacoma Potential Changes Form
	16 Krehbiel_EN_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	17 Krehbiel_EN_OneTacoma Potential Changes Form 
	18 KrehbielMarlo_EN_OneTacoma Potential Changes Form
	19 KrehbielMarlo_GS_OneTacoma Potential Changes Form 
	20 Krehbiel_GS_OneTacoma Potential Changes Form
	21 Krehbiel_EC_OneTacoma Potential Changes Form
	22 Krehbiel_H_Onetacoma Potential Changes Form
	23 KrehbielMarlo_ED_OneTacoma Potential Changes Form
	24 MarloKrehbiel_H_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	25 Marlo_GS_OneTacoma_Potential Changes
	26 Marlo_CN_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	27 Marlo_PF_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	28 Martenson_T_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	29 Martenson_T_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	30 Martenson_T_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	31 Martenson_T_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	32 Martenson_EN_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	33 Martenson_EN_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	34 Rash_H_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	35 Rash_EN_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	36 Rash_EN_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form
	37 Rash_EN_OneTacoma Potential Changes Form 
	38 Rash_EC_OneTacoma_Potential Changes Form





